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52, Strandvejen 
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Website: www.ds-norden.com
E-mail: direktion@ds-norden.com
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Executive Management 
Carsten Mortensen, CEO
Michael Tønnes Jørgensen, CFO
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lars bagge Christensen, Executive Vice President
Martin badsted, Executive Vice President

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Statsaut. Revisionspartnerselskab
44, Strandvejen 
DK-2900 Hellerup

Annual General Meeting
The annual general meeting will be held on Wednesday,  
24 April 2013 at 3.00 p.m. at Audience, Radisson blu  
Falconer Hotel & Conference Center, 9, Falkoner Allé,  
DK-2000 Frederiksberg.

cOMpaNy DEtailS aND 
GROup StRuctuRE

NORDEN iN bRiEF 

Dampskibsselskabet NORDEN A/S (NORDEN) operates globally in 
dry cargo and tankers with one of the most modern and competitive 
fleets in the industry. NORDEN’s active fleet consists of a total of 
244 vessels. 

in addition, vessels from third party are operated in pools – Norient 
Product Pool, NORDEN Post-Panamax Pool and NORDEN Handy-
size Pool. 

in Dry Cargo, NORDEN is active in all major vessel types. The Com-
pany is one of the world’s largest operators in Panamax and Handy-
max, in addition to having considerable activities in the Handysize 
and Post-Panamax vessel types as well as activities in Capesize.

in Tankers, NORDEN’s activities comprise Handysize and MR prod-
uct tankers. NORDEN’s vessels are operated commercially by Nori-
ent Product Pool, which is the second largest product tanker pool 
in the world. 

NORDEN’s core fleet consists of owned vessels and vessels on 
long-term charter with purchase option. The core fleet is supple-
mented by vessels chartered on a short-term basis or for single 
voyages, and this mix allows the Company to rapidly adjust the size 
and costs of the fleet to changing market conditions. Purchase and 
extension options on many chartered vessels increase flexibility of 
the fleet and also contribute to the value creation.

With offices in Denmark, Singapore, China, india, the uSA and 
brazil, a network of port captains as well as site offices at shipyards 
in Japan, China and Korea, NORDEN seeks to keep close contact 
with costumers and business contacts. The Company has 274 em-
ployees on shore and 884 on board owned vessels. in addition, 
Norient Product Pool has 44 employees at its offices in Denmark, 
Cyprus, Singapore, the uSA and brazil.

NORDEN was founded and listed in 1871 and is one of the old-
est listed shipping companies in the world. Management focus is 
long-term and rooted in the Company’s vision, mission and values. 
The goal is for NORDEN to continuously develop for the benefit of 
its stakeholders and to achieve high, stable earnings. The share is 
listed on NASDAQ OMX Copenhagen A/S, and the Company has 
approximately 16,300 registered shareholders. 
 
Numbers are stated at 31 December 2012.

A ACM Shipbroking company.

B  Baltic Clean Tanker Index (BCTI) index of 
the product tanker rate development on 
selected routes for Handysize, MR and 
lR1.

 Baltic Dry Index (BDI) index of the dry 
cargo rate development on selected routes 
for Handysize, Handymax, Panamax and 
Capesize.

 Bareboat charter Agreement to charter 
only the vessel.

 Bloomberg Provider of financial news and 
data.

 Bunker Fuel used by the vessel.

 Bunker hedging Forward agreement to 
purchase or sell bunker oil at a predeter-
mined price.

C Capesize bulk carrier of more than 
120,000 dwt. capacity.

 Carbon Disclosure Project Organisation 
registering company data, particularly on 
CO2.

 Cargo contract See COA.

 Charter party lease or freight agreement 
between shipowner and charterer for a long 
period of time or for a single voyage.

 Clarksons Shipbroking company.

 CO2 Carbon dioxide.

 COA (Contract of Affreightment/cargo con-
tract) Agreement to transport one or more 
cargoes at a predetermined price per ton.

 Commercial management Agreement on 
operating a vessel for the account and 
risk of the shipowner.

 Consultas Shipping system used by the 
Technical Department in connection with 
maintenance of the vessels, purchase, 
voyage reporting, etc. 

 Contract of Affreightment See COA.

 Core fleet Owned vessels and vessels on 
long-term charters with purchase option.

 Coverage Percentage indicating the part of 
ship days which has secured employment

 CSR (Corporate Social Responsibility) 
Companies’ social responsibility. 

D Dry cargo vessel (bulk carrier) Vessel used 
for bulk transport of grain, coal, ore, sugar 
and cement, etc.

 Dwt. Deadweight ton. A measure of a ves-
sel’s carrying capacity.

E EBIT Earnings before interest and Tax.

 EBITDA Earnings before interest, Tax, 
Depreciation and Amortisation.

tEcHNical tERMS aND aBBREviatiONS

 EEOI (Energy Efficiency Operational 
Indicator) Calculation and analysis system 
used when measuring CO2 emissions from 
the vessels.

F  FFA (Forward Freight Agreement) Forward 
agreement to purchase or sell the trans-
port of cargo for a particular type of vessel 
and route at a predetermined price.

 Forward rate Market expectations for 
future rate levels.

H  Handymax bulk carrier of 40,000-65,000 
dwt. capacity.

 Handysize bulk carrier of 25,000-
40,000 dwt. capacity or product tanker of 
27,000-42,000 dwt. capacity.

I IAS international Accounting Standards.

 IEA international Energy Agency.

 IFRS international Financial Reporting 
Standards.

 IMF international Monetary Fund.

 IMO international Maritime Organisation – 
shipping organisation under the uN.

 IMOS Shipping system which supports 
chartering, operations and accounting 
related functions for NORDEN and Nori-
ent Product Pool’s fleet of dry cargo and 
product tanker vessels.

L  Liner shipping Voyages with fixed routes.

 Long-term charter Agreement to charter a 
vessel for a period of more than 3 years.

 LR1 (long range) tanker Product tanker of 
60,000-85,000 dwt. capacity.

 LR2 (long range) tanker Product tanker of 
70,000-100,000 dwt. capacity.

M MACN Maritime Anti-Corruption Network.

 MARPOL iMO’s international regulations 
for the prevention of pollution by garbage 
from ships.

 MR (medium range) tanker Product tanker 
of 42,000-60,000 dwt. capacity.

 MSI Maritime Strategies international ltd.

O  OECD Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development.

P Panamax bulk carrier of 65,000-85,000 
dwt. capacity – largest vessel type to pass 
the Panama Canal.

 Pool group of vessels with different own-
ers but commercially operated together.

 Port State Control The countries’ right to 
technically inspect foreign vessels.

 Post-Panamax bulk carrier of 85,000-
120,000 dwt. capacity. 

 Product tank Transport of refined oil prod-
ucts such as fuel oil, gas oil, gasoline, 
naphtha and jet fuel.

 Profit from operator activities Added value 
compared to earnings through employ-
ment at forward rates at the beginning of 
the year. 

 Purchase option A right, but not an obli-
gation, to purchase a vessel at an agreed 
price.

R  ROE Return on equity.

 ROIC Return on invested capital.

 R.S. Platou Shipbroking company.

S  Ship days Total number of days with avail-
able vessel capacity. 

 Short-term charter Agreement to charter a 
vessel for a period of less than 3 years.

 SOx The sulphur dioxides SO and SO2.

 Spot market Market in which vessels are 
contracted for a single voyage for immedi-
ate delivery.

 SSY Shipbroking company.

T Tanker Vessel transporting liquid cargo 
such as crude oil and refined oil products.

 T/C (time charter) lease of a vessel 
whereby the vessel is hired out for a short 
or long period.

 T/C (time charter) equivalent Freight 
revenues minus bunker consumption and 
port charges. 

 Technical management Agreement to 
manage a vessel’s technical operations 
and crew for the account and risk of the 
shipowner.

 Ton-mile A measure of demand for capac-
ity. Calculated as the amount of freight 
times the transport distance in nautical 
miles.

 Tramp shipping Voyages without fixed 
routes – NORDEN’s business area.

U UN Global Compact The uN’s social 
charter for enterprises, etc.

 USDA united States Department of Agri-
culture.

V Vetting An audit of the safety and  
performance status of a tanker  
vessel made by all oil majors prior  
to entry into a charter party.

Design and graphic production: Meyer & bukdahl as

Vision

The preferred partner in global tramp shipping. 
unique people. 
Open minded team spirit. 
Number one. 

Mission 

Our business is global tramp shipping. We seek excellence through 
a dedicated team effort from competent and motivated people. 
With ambition, reliability, flexibility and empathy, we 
•	focus	on	customers	who	benefit	from	our	constant	commitment	

to being an independent long-term partner
•	continue	our	 long	history	of	building	valued	relationships	with	

shipowners and shipyards. 

We will maintain a large modern fleet of owned and chartered ton-
nage, and – in a volatile market – we manage risks to constantly be 
able to develop our business and create shareholder value. 

Values 

Flexibility
Adapt and find better solutions. 

Reliability
Honest, good intentions and no cheating. 

Empathy
Respect diversity in people and opinions.

Ambition
Think ambition into every activity.

viSiON, MiSSiON aND valuES

Norient Cyprus ltd.

Cyprus 50%

NORDEN Tankers & bulkers 
india Private ltd.

india 100%

Norient Product Pool ApS

Denmark 50%

NORDEN Rep. Office

China

NORDEN Shipping  
(Singapore) Pte. ltd.

Singapore 100%

NORD SuMMiT Pte. ltd

Singapore 50%

NORDEN Tankers &  
bulkers (uSA) inc.

uSA 100%

ANl MARiTiME  
Services Pte. ltd.

Singapore 50%

NORDEN Tankers &  
bulkers do brazil ltda.

brazil 100%

Normit Shipping S.A.
(Dormant)

Panama 51%

Svalbard Maritime  
Services AS

Norway 100%

Polar Navigation Pte. ltd.

Singapore 50%

gROuP STRuCTuRE
Dampskibsselskabet NORDEN A/S

Capesize

Number of vessels 4 

Owned vessels 3

Chartered vessels with purchase option 1

Chartered vessels without purchase option 0

Year of construction, core fleet 2001-2007

Average age, core fleet 8.3 years

Length 289 metres

Width 45 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 171,199-180,310 tons

Main cargoes iron ore and coal

Customers Steelworks, mining companies  
and power stations

Global fleet – number of vessels 1,403

Average age of the global fleet 8 years

Post-Panamax

Number of vessels 8

Owned vessels 4

Chartered vessels with purchase option 4

Chartered vessels without purchase option 0

Year of construction, core fleet 2010-2012

Average age, core fleet 1.9 years

Length 240-250 metres

Width 43 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 110,925-119,504 tons

Main cargoes iron ore and coal

Customers Steelworks, mining companies  
and power stations

Global fleet – number of vessels 456

Average age of the global fleet 4.4 years

Panamax

Number of vessels 61.5

Owned vessels 3

Chartered vessels with purchase option 12

Chartered vessels without purchase option 46.5

Year of construction, core fleet 2002-2012

Average age, core fleet 5 years

Length 218-229 metres

Width 32 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 75,318-83,684 tons 

Main cargoes iron ore, coal, grain, bauxite,  
cement and slags

Customers Steelworks, mining companies,  
power stations, producers of cement,  

grain traders and trading houses

Global fleet – number of vessels 1,867

Average age of the global fleet 9.5 years

Handymax

Number of vessels 91

Owned vessels 4

Chartered vessels with purchase option 17 

Chartered vessels without purchase option 70

Year of construction, core fleet 2000-2012

Average age, core fleet 3.2 years

Length 190-200 metres

Width 32 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 53,482-61,654 tons

Main cargoes iron ore, coal, grain, cement,  
sugar and fertiliser

Customers Steelworks, mining companies, energy  
companies, grain traders, trading houses,  
producers of cement, sugar and fertiliser

Global fleet – number of vessels 2,608

Average age of the global fleet 9.7 years

Handysize

Number of vessels 37.5

Owned vessels 11

Chartered vessels with purchase option 10

Chartered vessels without purchase option 16.5

Year of construction, core fleet 2010-2012

Average age, core fleet 1.6 years

Length  169-186 metres

Width 27-30 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 28,204-38,204 tons

Main cargoes iron ore, coal, grain, steel, cement,  
sugar and fertiliser

Customers Steelworks, mining companies, energy  
companies, grain traders, trading houses,  
producers of cement, sugar and fertiliser

Global fleet – number of vessels 2,534

Average age of the global fleet 13.5 years

Dry cargo

Handysize

Number of vessels 17.5

Owned vessels 11

Chartered vessels with purchase option 0

Chartered vessels without purchase option 6.5

Year of construction, core fleet 2005-2009

Average age, core fleet 5.4 years

Length 176-183 metres

Width 27-31 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 37,159-40,000 tons

Main cargoes Refined oil products such as fuel oil,  
gas oil, gasoline, naphtha and jet fuel  

Customers Oil majors and oil traders

Global fleet – number of vessels 567

Average age of the global fleet 11.5 years

MR

Numbers of vessels 24.5

Owned vessels 5

Chartered vessels with purchase option 9

Chartered vessels without purchase option 10.5

Year of construction, core fleet 2007-2012

Average age, core fleet 3 years

Length 180-183 metres

Width  32 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 45,997-50,500 tons

Main cargoes Refined oil products such as fuel oil,  
gas oil, gasoline, naphtha and jet fuel 

Customers Oil majors and oil traders

Global fleet – number of vessels 1,026

Average age of the global fleet 7.5 years

tankers

Notes:

•	 The	fleet	list	is	per	31	December	
2012.

•	 Global	fleet	data/Dry	Cargo:	 
R.S. Platou.

•	 Global	fleet	data/Tankers:	SSY.

•	 The	list	does	not	include	vessels	
from the pool partner interorient 
Navigation Company ltd. in the 
common pools within Dry Cargo and 
Tankers – the Post-Panamax Pool, the 
Handysize Pool and Norient Product 
Pool.
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NORDEN iN bRiEF 

Dampskibsselskabet NORDEN A/S (NORDEN) operates globally in 
dry cargo and tankers with one of the most modern and competitive 
fleets in the industry. NORDEN’s active fleet consists of a total of 
244 vessels. 

in addition, vessels from third party are operated in pools – Norient 
Product Pool, NORDEN Post-Panamax Pool and NORDEN Handy-
size Pool. 

in Dry Cargo, NORDEN is active in all major vessel types. The Com-
pany is one of the world’s largest operators in Panamax and Handy-
max, in addition to having considerable activities in the Handysize 
and Post-Panamax vessel types as well as activities in Capesize.

in Tankers, NORDEN’s activities comprise Handysize and MR prod-
uct tankers. NORDEN’s vessels are operated commercially by Nori-
ent Product Pool, which is the second largest product tanker pool 
in the world. 

NORDEN’s core fleet consists of owned vessels and vessels on 
long-term charter with purchase option. The core fleet is supple-
mented by vessels chartered on a short-term basis or for single 
voyages, and this mix allows the Company to rapidly adjust the size 
and costs of the fleet to changing market conditions. Purchase and 
extension options on many chartered vessels increase flexibility of 
the fleet and also contribute to the value creation.

With offices in Denmark, Singapore, China, india, the uSA and 
brazil, a network of port captains as well as site offices at shipyards 
in Japan, China and Korea, NORDEN seeks to keep close contact 
with costumers and business contacts. The Company has 274 em-
ployees on shore and 884 on board owned vessels. in addition, 
Norient Product Pool has 44 employees at its offices in Denmark, 
Cyprus, Singapore, the uSA and brazil.

NORDEN was founded and listed in 1871 and is one of the old-
est listed shipping companies in the world. Management focus is 
long-term and rooted in the Company’s vision, mission and values. 
The goal is for NORDEN to continuously develop for the benefit of 
its stakeholders and to achieve high, stable earnings. The share is 
listed on NASDAQ OMX Copenhagen A/S, and the Company has 
approximately 16,300 registered shareholders. 
 
Numbers are stated at 31 December 2012.
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Key figures for the quarters
 

  Q4 Q1  Q2  Q3  Q4  
 USD million  2011 2012 2012 2012 2012
Profit before depreciation,  
etc. (EBITDA)  62.3  49.6   31.3  22.7  44.3

Profits from the sale of vessels, etc. 0.2 0.2   -0.3   -1.4    -22.4

Depreciation and write-downs -23.5 -325.2  -21.7   -21.3  -20.3

Profit from operations (EBIT) 38.5 -274.9   9.6  -0.6   0.5

Profit for the period  29.7 -255.9   -31.8   16.1   -7.2

Cash flows from  
operating activities  -22.1  40.4   31.8   29.1   20.8

HIGHLIGHTS 2012-13
2012: Target reached in a challenging 
market
NORDEN’s operating earnings (EBITDA) 
for 2012 amounted to USD 148 million. 
This is 21% down from 2011, but in the 
high end of the expectations (USD 110-
150 million). The earnings were made in 
a challenging market, which, as expected, 
offered low freight rates, high fuel costs 
and many new vessels at sea.

Dry Cargo generated an EBITDA of USD 
131 million, which is 24% down from last 
year but higher than the expectations an-
nounced for 2012 (USD 105-125 million). 
Market rates (Baltic Dry Index) were 41% 
lower on average than in 2011 primarily 
due to the record-high number of new-
building deliveries. However, Dry Cargo 
was able to generate daily earnings con-
siderably above the market, and despite 
the declining market, the Dry Cargo De-
partment achieved USD 22 million in profit 
from operator activities during the year.

The tanker market started the year posi-
tively but was affected by weak demand 
and, consequently, low rates in the sec-
ond and third quarters. At the end of the 
year, the rates improved, which the Tanker 
Department was well positioned to benefit 
from, and Tankers thus ended the year 
with an EBITDA of USD 28 million. The re-
sults are in line with 2011 and above the 
latest announced expectations for the year 
(USD 15-25 million). Similar to previous 
years, daily earnings in Tankers were above 
comparable market rates.

Vessel prices continued decreasing, and at 
the end of the first quarter 2012, the Com-
pany assessed that there was a need for 

writing down the book value of the vessels 
by USD 300 million. After additional ordi-
nary depreciation of USD 89 million and 
loss on vessel sales of USD 24 million, EBIT 
amounted to a negative USD 265 million.

Cash flows from operating activities were 
USD 122 million (USD 120 million). Thus, 
the Company managed to generate posi-
tive cash flows even in a challenging year.

Following previous years with substan-
tial investments in especially new tanker 
vessels, NORDEN adopted a wait-and-see 
attitude in a decreasing market in 2012. 
Focus has been on fuel optimisation of the 
fleet by selling modern vessels of an older 
design and replacing these with new and 
more fuel efficient vessels. Cash flows from 
vessel sales and fleet investments amounted 
to USD 6 million net.

The Board of Directors has decided to 
initiate a share buy-back programme over 
the next 4 quarters of up to USD 30 mil-
lion and proposes a dividend of DKK 3 per 
share corresponding to USD 22 million, 
excluding treasury shares.

Outlook for 2013
The Company still focuses on the stra tegy 
plan Long-term Growth in Challenging 
Times. 

Continued challenging markets are ex-
pected in 2013. However, demand is ex-
pected to show good growth rates in both 
segments, and in Tankers, this develop-
ment is expected to support a gradual im-
provement of freight rates. In Dry Cargo, 
however, demand growth is only expected 
to be large enough to counterbalance fleet 

growth and thus stabilise freight rates at a 
low level.

Dry Cargo entered 2013 with high cover-
age of 76% for the year and has therefore 
secured employment at levels significantly 
above the spot rates in a market where 
these are likely to be on level with 2012. 
NORDEN will take advantage of the cur-
rent weak market by investing in the fu-
ture. Prices on new dry cargo vessels 
are at a level which makes it interesting 
for NORDEN to invest, and based on its 
strong financial position, the Company will 
expand the core fleet in Dry Cargo and 
make it more fuel efficient. 

Within Tankers, the market is expected to 
gradually improve during 2013, and with 
coverage of 27% at the beginning of the 
year, NORDEN is positioned to benefit 
from a rising market. The Company has 
continued optimising the Tanker fleet, i.a. 
by investing in fuel efficient vessels for 
delivery in the first half-year of 2013 and 
will focus on generating a return on invest-
ments already made and further optimis-
ing the fleet.

Q4 2012:  
BETTER THAN EXPECTED

NORDEN concluded a challenging 2012 
with a fourth quarter, which was the sec-
ond best of the year earnings-wise. Op-
erating earnings (EBITDA) amounted to 
USD 44.3 million (USD 62.3 million in 
the fourth quarter of 2011).

The operating profit (EBIT) amounted 
to USD 0.5 million (USD 38.5 million). 
In spite of loss on the sale of vessels of 
USD 22.4 million (profit of USD 0.2 mil-
lion) and depreciation of USD 20.3 mil-
lion (USD 23.5 million), lower costs and 
non-recurring income meant that results 
for the period amounted to a loss of USD 
7.2 million (profit of USD 29.7 million).

Dry Cargo entered the quarter with cover-
age of 109% and was thus well protected 
in a market, which also towards year-end 
was characterised by low rates. EBITDA 
in Dry Cargo amounted to USD 35 million 
(USD 60 million).

In the beginning of the quarter, cover-
age in Tankers was 31%, and Tankers 
was therefore well positioned to benefit 
from the improving market. On this back-
ground, Tankers generated an EBITDA of 
USD 12 million (USD 4 million).
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The ratios were computed in accordance with “recommendations and Financial ratios 2010” issued by the Danish Association of Financial Analysts. However, “Profits from 
the sale of vessels, etc.” is not included in EBITDA. Please see definitions in the section “Definitions of key figures and financial ratios”. The figures are adjusted for the 
Company’s holding of treasury shares.

1) Excluding purchase options on vessels.
2) The payout ratio was computed based on proposed dividends for the year, including extraordinary dividends paid during the year.

AMOUNTS IN USD MILLION 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

INCOME STATEMENT
Revenue  2,131.4 2,272.8 2,189.6 1,756.0 4,363.7
Costs  -1,983.5 -2,086.4 -1,950.0 -1,630.3 -3,858.0
Profit before depreciation, etc. (EBITDA)  147.9 186.4 239.6 125.6 505.7
Profits from the sale of vessels, etc.  -23.9 -0.2 28.1 69.6 290.0
Depreciation  -88.5 -81.2 -49.5 -39.5 -31.6
Profit from operations before write-downs   34.6 104.5 222.5 156.7 772.6
Write-downs  -300.0 0 0 0 0
Profit from operations (EBIT)  -265.4 104.5 222.5 156.7 772.6
Fair value adjustment of certain hedging instruments  -10.1 -14.9 30.8 62.2 -81.1
Net financials  1.7 3.7 -2.5 5.6 29.1
Profit before tax  -273.9 93.3 250.8 224.5 720.5
Profit for the year  -278.8 87.8 244.8 217.2 707.8
Profit for the year for the NORDEN shareholders  -278.8 87.8 244.8 217.2 707.8
      
STATEMENT Of fINANCIAL POSITION      
Non-current assets  1,149.8 1,634.4 1,373.1 1,027.8 922.5
Total assets  2,033.4 2,350.3 2,250.5 2,031.7 2,041.7
Equity (including minority interests)  1,687.2 1,994.4 1,998.1 1,805.0 1,700.4
Liabilities  346.2 355.8 252.4 226.7 341.3
      
Invested capital  1,314.2 1,752.3 1,443.8 1,133.2 940.4
Net interest-bearing assets  373.0 242.1 554.3 671.8 759.9
Cash and securities  528.6 407.2 612.7 735.4 828.7
      
CASH fLOwS      
From operating activities  122.1 120.1 298.4 160.2 540.9
From investing activities  7.0 -355.2 -380.1 -80.0 -56.7
     – hereof investments in property, plant and equipment  -165.8 -357.7 -565.7 -305.2 -424.9
From financing activities  -37.9 18.4 -65.5 -112.6 -364.9
Change in cash and cash equivalents for the year  91.2 -216.7 -147.2 -32.4 119.3
      
fINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING RATIOS      
Share-related key figures and financial ratios:      
No. of shares of DKK 1 each (excluding treasury shares)  41,277,839 41,213,922 42,075,180 42,043,505 42,387,394
Earnings per share (EPS) (DKK)  -6.8 (-39) 2.1 (11) 5.8 (33) 5.2 (28) 16.7 (85)
Diluted earnings per share (diluted EPS) (DKK)  -6.8 (-39) 2.1 (11) 5.8 (33) 5.2 (28) 16.7 (85)
Dividend per share, DKK  3 4 8 7 13
Book value per share (DKK)  40.9 (231) 48.4 (278) 47.5 (267) 42.9 (223) 40.1 (212)
Share price at year-end, DKK  163.1 134.5 202.5 209.5 183.0
Price/book value  0.7 0.5 0.8 0.9 0.9
Net Asset Value (NAV) per share 1) (DKK)  37.6 (213) 43.1 (248) 47.4 (266) 40.5 (210) 43.0 (227)
      
Other key figures and financial ratios:      
EBITDA ratio   6.9% 8.2% 10.9% 7.2% 11.6%
ROIC  2.3% 6.5% 17.3% 15.1% 89.5%
ROE  -15.1% 4.4% 12.9% 12.4% 47.0%
Payout ratio (excluding treasury shares) 2)  Neg. 35.0% 24.4% 25.3% 14.1%
Equity ratio  83.0% 84.9% 88.8% 88.8% 83.3%
Total no. of ship days for the Group  84,028 78,526 66,044 55,951 77,448
USD rate at year-end  565.91 574.56 561.33 519.01 528.49
Average USD rate  579.72 536.22 562.57 535.45 509.86
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Status of strategy plan 2011-13
NORDEN is well on its way in meeting the 
targets in the strategy plan 2011-13 Long-
term Growth in Challenging Times. The ba-
sic targets in the strategy plan include:
•	 Strengthen	 the	 position	 as	 preferred	

partner for cargo contracts in Dry Cargo.
•	 Double	 the	number	of	owned	product	

tankers at attractive low acquisition 
prices.

•	 Create	added	value	to	the	shareholders	
through active operator business and 
cost focus.

OVERALL GROUP TARGETS 2011-13

The overall objective of the strategy period 
is to deliver a better shareholder return 
than that of comparable shipping compa-
nies. In 2011, NORDEN performed bet-
ter than the peer group, and with a total 
shareholder return of 25.2% (based on 
share price development and dividend), 
NORDEN was also in 2012 significantly 
above the average return of a negative 
1.4% generated by 7 peer companies.

Tight cost control
In anticipation of difficult market conditions, 
NORDEN had decided on ensuring tight 
cost control both on shore and at sea. Both 

were realised in 2012. In spite of growth in 
the number of ship days of 7%, adminis-
trative expenses on shore were reduced 
compared with 2011. On board the vessels, 
focus has also been on costs, and ongoing 
budget follow-ups as well as streamlining of 
purchases have resulted in savings.

In 2013, NORDEN will continue tight cost 
control both on shore and at sea.

financial resources
NORDEN continuously works on main-
taining financial resources allowing the 
Company to stand up to hard times, act 
independently and take advantage of the 
opportunities in a cyclical market even in 
times when external bank financing is dif-
ficult to obtain.

In the short term, the Company’s large 
holding of cash and securities may reduce 
the shareholders’ return, but it provides the 
best opportunities of generating an attrac-
tive risk-adjusted return in the long term. 

At the end of 2012, the Company had 
cash and securities of USD 529 million 
and undrawn credit facilities of USD 161 
million. With these financial resources, 
NORDEN can carry through both already 

known investments as well as the planned 
new investment programme for 2013 with-
out additional external financing.

TARGETS fOR DRY CARGO 2011-13

Growth in cargo volumes
The ambition in Dry Cargo is to ensure 
profitable growth in cargo volumes. The 
target is 15% in both annual growth in re-
alised volumes and annual growth in con-
tractually secured cargo volumes.

In 2012, NORDEN’s transported cargo vol-
umes in Dry Cargo increased by 6%, and 
following massive growth in 2011, realised 
growth in cargo volumes for the 2 years 
collectively thus amounts to 22% p.a. The 
target for the contractually secured cargo 
volumes was, however, not reached as an-
nual growth in these volumes was 6% for 
the first 2 years. The decreasing freight 
rate development has resulted in signifi-
cant price pressure also on multi-year car-
go contracts, and therefore, the Company 
has weighted the target of volume growth 
against counterparty risk and profitability 
and has decided to give profitability prior-
ity. In this connection, the Company has 
deselected some contracts. Development 
of customer relations and multi-year cargo 

Targets and focus areas for the strategy period 2011-13  

DRY CARGO TANKERS jOINT OVERALL 
TARGETS

growth in cargoes  
carried of 15% p.a.

growth in owned fleet 
to 25+ units

Tight cost control  
on shore and at sea

Higher shareholder 
return than peers

growth in contractually 
secured cargo volumes 
of 15% p.a.

Daily earnings above 
market rates

Increased eco/fuel  
efficiency focus on  
all vessels

global leader in  
tramp shipping

Joint ventures and  
strategic alliances

High standards for 
quality, safety, etc.

Flexible financial 
resources to pursue 
opportunities

Added value creation  
as operator 

Increasing EBIT in 
strategy period

•	 Positioning	to	gradually	improving	markets	 •	 Focus	on	fuel	efficiency

STRATEGY UPDATE
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contracts remains an important focus area 
in Dry Cargo, but it has to be with reason-
able profitability.

Added value as operator
As part of the dry cargo business, focus 
is on added value creation from operator 
activities, e.g. by optimisation of logistics 
and fuel consumption in the cargo con-
tracts. In 2012, Dry Cargo created added 
value of USD 22 million, which is in line 
with 2011. The added value is calculated 
as the difference between actual earnings 

and earnings which NORDEN would have 
generated if open days had been em-
ployed at the forward rates prevailing at 
the beginning of the year.

Investments in Dry Cargo – increased 
exposure
The Dry Cargo gross core fleet consisting 
of owned and long-term chartered vessels 
with purchase option – active or for future 
delivery – is basically unchanged with an 
increase from 80 to 81 vessels in the past 
2 years in accordance with the Company’s 
wait-and-see attitude towards the dry car-
go market. In the course of 2013, NOR-
DEN wishes to increase exposure again 
to an expected improving market. This is 
to take place primarily by investing in dry 
cargo vessels with focus on fuel efficient 
newbuildings or subsidiarily good second-
hand vessels at attractive prices.

TARGETS fOR TANKERS 2011-13 

Daily earnings above market rates
Since 2001, apart from 1 year, the com-
mercial activities in the Tanker Depart-
ment's 2 primary vessel types, MR and 
Handysize, have generated better earn-
ings than the 1-year T/C rates. For 2001-
2011, NORDEN’s earnings within the MR 
vessel type have thus been 11% above 
the 1-year T/C rates on average. In 2012, 
Norient Product Pool, NPP, became the 
world’s second largest product tanker pool 
in MR and Handysize, and NORDEN’s 
earnings were 3% and 8%, respectively, 
above the 1-year T/C rates. Compared to 
the more volatile spot market, NORDEN’s 
earnings were even better.

25+ owned vessels 
Since 2009, the Company has increased 
its fleet of owned product tankers from 11 
to 22. In the strategy period, focus has 
primarily been on investments in fuel ef-
ficient tonnage, and the Company has 
4 MR vessels for delivery in 2013 and 2 
Handysize vessels in 2014. Towards the 
end of 2012, the Company agreed to sell 
3 product tankers and expects to reinvest 
in 3-4 newbuildings within the same vessel 
type but with better fuel efficiency in the 
course of 2013.

NORDEN is thus close to reaching the tar-
get of owning at least 25 product tankers.
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It has not been attractive for NORDEN to enter 
into a sufficiently large number of future contracts 
in order to still reach the target of an annual in-
crease of 15%. Following a satisfactory 2011 
when the target was reached, contracted volumes 
decreased in 2012. Instead, the Company has pri-
oritised profitability.

Transported volumes, Dry Cargo 
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In the strategy period, NORDEN has been able to 
increase cargo volumes by 22% p.a., which sur-
passes the target of 15% per year. The increase 
was largest in 2011 and decreased in 2012.

High quality
The Company’s target of fleet growth is 
accompanied by ongoing efforts to en-
sure quality in the form of safety and the 
working environment being among the 
best in the business. Though results from 
Port State Controls and vettings in 2012 
have developed somewhat negatively, 
they are still at satisfactory levels in rela-
tion to the Company’s overall goal to be 
among the best. 

2013: POSITIONING fOR BETTER 
MARKETS

The Company’s strategic focus is based on 
assumptions about future macro and mar-
ket conditions. It is NORDEN’s view that 
the worst pressure from high fleet growth 
has passed within both segments, but the 
dry cargo market still depends on large 
scrapping volumes for yet a period in or-
der to ensure manageable net fleet growth. 
With continued positive development in 
demand, a gradual improvement of the 
freight markets can therefore be expected. 

In the coming years, the most significant 
uncertainty factors other than the general 
macroeconomic development are expect-
ed to be global yard capacity, access to 
capital as well as global commodity supply. 
Global yard capacity and access to capital 
will be crucial to the addition of tonnage in 
both of the Company's segments. There is 
still plenty of yard capacity for interested 
buyers, but it is assessed that the shortage 
of financing will limit the number of new-
building orders, which will substantiate the 
expectation of an improved market.
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Since 2009, the number of owned product tankers 
has doubled from 11 to 22.
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In both segments, continued positive de-
velopment in demand is expected, driven 
by growth in global commodity supply 
where especially growth in iron ore and oil 
production will be decisive. In 2012, sev-
eral of the world’s 5 largest iron ore pro-
ducers reduced their expansion plans, but 
even these reduced plans indicate rela-
tively high capacity growth of 8-10% per 
year for the next 2-3 years (source: infor-
mation from mining companies' websites), 
and continued high ore prices will support 
this development.

In the coming years, growth in transported 
oil products is expected to continue devel-
oping at a reasonable level due to the start-
up of new, large refineries in the Middle 
East, Asia and – as something new – the 
USA (Port Arthur) as well as increasing 
import demand in emerging countries. 

Unlike recent years, growth in the OECD 
countries is not expected to have signifi-
cant short-term influence on the product 
tanker market, which is increasingly driven 
by the economic growth in Africa, Latin 
America and Asia.

Dry Cargo – new investments 
2013 is expected to be yet another difficult 
year market-wise in Dry Cargo. NORDEN 
starts the year with high coverage and will 
take advantage of its financial capacity to 
primarily order fuel efficient newbuildings 
and long-term charters with purchase op-
tion at attractive price levels.

There will still be focus on strengthening 
customer relations and increasing cargo 
volumes to the extent that this can be done 
at profitable levels.

Tankers – focus on profitable operations 
After a number of years with significant 
investments in the owned Tanker fleet, 
the Company will chiefly focus on optimis-
ing the fleet without expanding it further 
in 2013. The optimisation will be realised 
through fuel efficiency and continuous 
modernisation of the fleet. As part of this, 
the 3 sold vessels will be replaced by 3-4 
fuel efficient newbuildings. Improvement 
of the freight market has taken a bit longer 
than expected, and the Company will fo-
cus on delivering a return on the vessel 
acquisitions of recent years before making 
further investments.

Technological advances within 
alternatives to coal and oil

Economic transition 
in China

Fuel efficient  
vessels

outsourcing of  
refinery sector

global yard capacity

global commodity 
supply

Access to capital

Uncertainty factors in 3 horizons 

 2013    2015    2020

Global yard capacity
High yard capacity may still influence supply in both of NORDEN’s 
markets. In the short term, however, NORDEN expects that the yard 
industry will be in a phase where it may be considerably reduced.

Access to capital
The supply of loan capital to the shipping industry is expected to be a 
significantly constraining factor in the short and medium term as the 
global shipping banks are attempting to reduce their exposure to the 
industry. At the same time, financing has become more expensive. 

Global commodity supply
A possible constraining factor will be whether the supply of commodi-
ties from mines and oil fields can follow demand. The supply from 
especially iron ore mines is, however, expected to increase signifi-
cantly during the next 3-5 years.

fuel efficient vessels 
New fuel efficient vessels will be considerably more competitive even 
compared with new vessel designs from 2009/10, which is expected 
to contribute to significantly increased scrapping during the next 3-5 
years. 

Outsourcing of refinery sector
Large, efficient refineries are starting up in the Middle East and Asia, 
whereas old refineries in the OECD countries are expected to close 
down. This will have a clearly positive effect on the transportation 
of refined oil products. Access to inexpensive local shale oil in the 
USA is, however, expected to protect US refineries and even support 
growth in export.

Economic transition in China 
China is in the process of an economic transition towards service 
trades and more consumption-related growth. As part of this transition, 
increasing salaries and a strengthened RMB/USD rate are expected, 
which could result in lower growth in the economy, but also increase 
the volume of imported commodities at the expense of local mining.

Technological advances within alternatives to coal and oil
Renewable sources of energy are expected only to constitute an 
actual significant challenge for the demand for transport of coal 
and oil in the long term. In the short term, shale gas and general 
energy efficiency improvements represent a greater risk, whereas the 
tendency of reductions in nuclear power may support the demand for 
coal and oil.

A number of uncertainties are expected to have an impact on NORDEN’s market conditions in the short, medium and long term. The purpose of the 
strategy plan 2011-13 is to position NORDEN according to these uncertainties. This entails optimising earnings under difficult market conditions and 
taking advantage of the attractive market prices on vessels and purchase options in order to secure long-term profitable growth.
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OUTLOOK FOR 2013
•	 Lower	operating	earnings	in	challenging	markets	 •	 High	coverage	in	Dry	Cargo	
and	high	spot	exposure	in	Tankers	 •	 Increased	investments	with	focus	on	Dry	
Cargo

In 2013, NORDEN expects somewhat 
lower operating earnings (EBITDA) than 
in 2012. The decrease is primarily due to 
expected lower earnings in the Dry Cargo 
Department where lower rates affect both 
covered and open ship days. On the other 
hand, earnings on open ship days in Tank-
ers are expected to be higher than in 2012. 

Expected total EBITDA is USD 15-45 mil-
lion (USD 148 million in 2012). Cash flows 
from operating activities are expected to 
reach the same level.

In Dry Cargo, focus will be on taking ad-
vantage of the attractive low vessel prices 
by investing in newbuildings and long-
term charters. In Tankers, the target is first 
and foremost to achieve profitable opera-
tions of the current fleet rather than make 
new investments. 

The Company expects profits from the sale 
of vessels of USD 3 million based on ex-
isting agreements on sale of 2 MR prod-
uct tankers. Acquiring and selling vessels 
remains an integrated part of NORDEN's 
business, and NORDEN will therefore also 
in 2013 consider further acquisition and 
sale based on price, timing, capacity re-
quirements and opportunities for fleet op-
timisation.

In 2012, NORDEN took delivery of 15.5 
vessels, and in 2013, delivery of 7 new-
buildings is scheduled – 5 owned and 2 
long-term charters. Based on the current 
owned fleet, depreciation is expected to 
amount to approximately USD 80-85 mil-
lion against USD 89 million in 2012. NOR-
DEN's depreciation period of 20 years 
for vessels is unchanged. The estimates 
do not include additional write-downs on 
owned vessels.

The cash flow effect from known invest-
ments (CAPEX) is expected to be USD 70-
80 million net, which essentially includes 

known vessel sales and known newbuild-
ing and docking investments. 

Economic outlook
The IMF's expectations for global growth 
in 2013 were lowered three times in 2012, 
and in the forecast from January this year, 
the IMF expects that the global economy 
will grow by 3.5% in 2013 against 3.2% in 
2012. A continued focus on fiscal consoli-
dation and structural reforms, which will 
only have a positive effect in the long term, 
are expected to have a negative effect on 
the economies in the Eurozone in 2013. 
The growth rate in the Eurozone in 2013 is 
estimated at close to zero, which is, how-
ever, an improvement compared to 2012. 
Growth in the USA of 2% is expected to 
be in line with or slightly lower than 2012 
provided, however, that negotiations on 
federal budgets in the spring do not result 
in significant fiscal tightenings. 

Despite derived effects from low growth 
in the USA and Europe, economies in the 
emerging markets are expected to grow 
by 5.5% in 2013 against 5.1% in 2012. 
China and India, which are important driv-
ing forces in both the dry cargo and prod-
uct tanker markets, are expected to see 
growth rates of 8.2% and 5.9%, respec-
tively, against 7.8% and 4.5% in 2012. 
The economies in Latin America will also 
grow faster in 2013 than in 2012.  

The IMF expects that the volume in global 
trade will increase by 3.8% in 2013, which 
is significantly above the 2.8% in 2012, 

but still somewhat below the 20-year ave-
rage of 6.1%.  

Despite the IMF's relatively low growth es-
timates, they are based on assumptions 
that fiscal solutions will be found both in 
the USA and Europe, which will further 
improve the economic climate in both 
regions. The uncertainty of the estimates 
and the risk of yet another reduction of the 
global growth expectations are therefore 
still significant.

For market specific outlook, see the sec-
tions on Dry Cargo and Tankers.

Outlook for Dry Cargo
At the beginning of the year, NORDEN had 
35,046 ship days at its disposal, of which 
76% was covered at average earnings of 
USD 12,263 per day. Coverage is 112% 
and 98%, respectively, in NORDEN's most 
significant vessel types, Panamax and 
Handymax, which in total account for 80% 
of the ship days at the Company's dispos-
al. Coverage is lower in the vessel types 
Capesize, Post-Panamax and Handysize 
as there have generally been fewer attrac-
tive coverage opportunities. Capacity and 
coverage will be adjusted on an ongoing 
basis in accordance with market condi-
tions. 

The dry cargo market particularly weak-
ened towards the end of 2012 partly due 
to seasonal low volumes and partly due to 
a continued high number of deliveries to 
the global fleet. At the beginning of Febru-

Outlook for 2013 
 
USD million  Dry Cargo Tankers group

EBITDA  ~ 0 25-45 15-45

Profits from the sale of vessels    3

CAPEX    70-80

The outlook reflects that a challenging dry cargo market is expected in 2013 as well. Lower rates affect 
both covered and open ship days. On the other hand, Tankers is expected to generate an EBITDA on par   
with or slightly above the 2012 results. 
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ary, the Baltic Dry Index was again at a his-
torically low level. Rates in the large vessel 
types in particular have been affected by 
the weak market, whereas Handymax and 
Handysize have done relatively better.

NORDEN's high coverage in 2013 provides 
some protection in a difficult market where 
spot rates will continue to be at a low level. 
The Dry Cargo Department is expected to 
break even operationally (EBITDA) against 
USD 131 million in 2012. The decrease in 
earnings is a result of lower freight rates 
both on covered capacity and open ship 
days. The estimate is based on the capac-
ity at NORDEN's disposal at mid-February, 
and it is assumed that open ship days can 
be employed at average rates correspond-
ing to the forward rates in each vessel type 
at mid-February. 

The most significant uncertainties are 
linked to the freight rate level and counter-
parties' ability to pay:

•	 The	 outlook	 is	 based	 on	 the	 forward	
curve at mid-February. If freight rates 
drop by 10%, Dry Cargo's expected 
EBITDA would, all other things being 
equal, be reduced by USD 9 million, 
and conversely, an increase in rates 
of 10% would, all other things being 
equal, increase Dry Cargo's expected 
EBITDA by USD 12 million.

•	 Based	 on	 a	 continued	 weak	 freight	
market, it can be expected that a num-

ber of shipowners or operators will get 
into financial difficulties. The Dry Cargo 
Department's strong focus on solid 
customers among commodity and min-
ing companies, power plants and major 
industrial groups has led to a generally 
high quality of the Company's counter-
parties. However, it cannot be ruled out 
that a few counterparties will fail to fulfil 
agreements. 

Outlook for Tankers
In Tankers, NORDEN has decided to 
maintain high exposure to the market, 
which is expected to improve gradually. 
At the beginning of the year, Tankers had 
13,121 ship days at its disposal, of which 
27% was covered at average T/C earnings 
of USD 13,533 per ship day. 

Capacity and coverage will be adjusted 
on an ongoing basis in accordance with 
market conditions. The total activity level – 
measured in ship days – is expected to be 
on par with 2012. 

The relatively good tanker market at the 
end of 2012 has continued into the begin-
ning of 2013, but is likely to weaken a bit 
during spring. However, NORDEN still ex-
pects the product tanker market to contin-
ue the gradual improvement from recent 
years in 2013 as the increased volumes in 
the global refinery sector contribute to a 
positive development in tonnage demand.

Due to higher spot rates and lower fleet 
costs, the Tanker Department's operat-
ing earnings (EBITDA) are expected to 
be USD 25-45 million against USD 28 
million in 2012. The estimate is based on 
the capacity at NORDEN's disposal at mid-
February and is i.a. subject to the following 
assumptions:  

•	 That	open	ship	days	can	be	employed	
at average rates in line with or slightly 
above the 1-year T/C rate at mid-Febru-
ary, i.e. gross USD 13,800 per day in MR 
and USD 13,100 per day in Handysize.  

	•	 That	agreements	to	charter	out	vessels	
are fulfilled and that counterparty risks 
in general will not constitute a problem 
owing to Norient Product Pool's focus 
on solid oil companies and internation-
al oil traders. 

The increase in Dry Cargo's capacity is mainly due 
to short-term chartered vessels. 

Development in Dry Cargo's capacity

 Known capacity at the beginning of the year 
 Adaption of capacity during the year
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Coverage of 76% provides protection against low 
dry cargo rates. Tankers' coverage of 27% makes 
it possible to take advantage of increasing rates.

Coverage in Dry Cargo and Tankers

 Dry Cargo, beginning of year 
 Tankers, beginning of year  
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According to the forecast from the IMF, China is 
expected to continue to be a growth engine in the 
coming years.

Development in Tankers' capacity

 Known capacity at the beginning of the year 
 Adaption of capacity during the year
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In the period 2009-12, the Tanker Department 
has increased business by 56%. 
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The outlook is based on the forward curve 
at mid-February. If freight rates drop by 
10%, Tankers' expected EBITDA would, 
all other things being equal, be reduced 
by USD 10 million, and conversely, an 
increase in rates of 10% would, all other 
things being equal, increase Tankers' ex-
pected EBITDA by USD 13 million.

At mid-February, Dry Cargo's capacity for 
the rest of the year was 32,703 ship days, 
of which 78% was covered. Correspond-
ingly, Tankers had 12,212 ship days at 
its disposal for the rest of the year at mid-
February, of which 27% was covered.  

forward-looking statements 
This annual report contains forward-looking statements 
reflecting management’s present judgment of future events 
and financial results.

Statements relating to 2013 and the years ahead are inher-
ently subject to uncertainty, and NORDEN’s realised results 
may therefore differ from the projections.

Factors that may cause NORDEN’s realised results to differ 
from the projections in this annual report include, but are not 
limited to: changes in macroeconomic and political conditions 
– particularly in the Company's principal markets; changes 
to NORDEN’s rate assumptions and budgeted operating ex-
penses; volatility in freight rates and tonnage prices; regula-
tory changes; counterparty risk; any disruptions to traffic and 
operations as a result of external events, etc.

NORDEN has positioned itself according to the expectations of another challenging year. This goes especially for dry cargo, which will 
be affected by overcapacity in the form of too many vessels at sea in 2013 as well. The tanker market is expected to improve gradually. 

The IMF expects 
that the volume 
in global trade will 
increase by 3.8% in 
2013.

Events after the reporting date 
No significant events have occurred be-
tween the reporting date and the publi-
cation of this annual report that have not 
already been included and adequately 
disclosed in the annual report and that 
materially affect the Company’s results of 
operations or financial position.
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Capacity and coverage at 31 December 2012

Tankers 2013 2014 2015 2013 2014 2015

Owned vessels Ship days

Mr 2,165 2,555 2,555

Handysize 3,961 4,632 4,745

Total 6,126 7,187 7,300

Chartered vessels  Costs of T/C capacity (USD per day)

Mr 6,070 4,565 2,965 14,383 14,796 15,754

Handysize 925 0 0 10,908 0 0

Total 6,995 4,565 2,965 13,924 14,796 15,754

  Costs of gross capacity (USD per day)*

Total capacity 13,121 11,752 10,265 10,567 9,811 9,277

Coverage  revenue from coverage (USD per day)

Mr 2,253 444 46 13,781 13,221 12,927

Handysize 1,351 248 42 13,119 12,552 12,293

Total 3,604 692 88 13,533 12,981 12,623

Coverage in %
Mr 27% 6% 1%

Handysize 28% 5% 1%

Total 27% 6% 1%

Capacity and coverage at 31 December 2012

Dry Cargo 2013 2014 2015 2013 2014 2015

Owned vessels Ship days

Capesize 1,095 1,095 1,095

Post-Panamax 1,460 1,460 1,460

Panamax 1,095 1,142 1,460

Handymax 1,460 1,460 1,460

Handysize 4,253 4,380 4,380

Total 9,363 9,537 9,855

Chartered vessels  Costs of T/C capacity (USD per day)

Capesize 365 365 365 18,549 18,500 18,500

Post-Panamax 1,460 1,460 1,460 18,693 18,650 18,650

Panamax 8,733 5,018 4,266 10,688 14,068 15,892

Handymax 9,241 6,098 5,449 12,439 12,611 12,945

Handysize 5,884 4,828 3,865 14,160 13,554 12,508

Total 25,683 17,769 15,405 12,680 13,896 14,324

  Costs of gross capacity (USD per day)*

Total capacity 35,046 27,306 25,260 10,661 10,828 10,723

Coverage  revenue from coverage (USD per day)

Capesize 1,249 0 0 26,681 0 0

Post-Panamax 266 0 0 6,008 0 0

Panamax 10,993 5,234 3,381 12,330 14,939 17,098

Handymax 10,483 3,247 1,582 11,526 13,911 15,116

Handysize 3,672 1,500 1,116 9,712 12,115 13,140

Total 26,663 9,981 6,079 12,263 14,180 15,856

Coverage in %
Capesize 86% 0% 0%

Post-Panamax 9% 0% 0%

Panamax 112% 85% 59%

Handymax 98% 43% 23%

Handysize 36% 16% 14%

Total 76% 37% 24%

To increase the transparency of the chartered 
fleet, the table now exhibits time charter 
capacity separately. 
Capacity and coverage for the years after 
2015 can be found on www.ds-norden.com/
investor/reportspresentations/ 
reportsandwebcasts/.

*  Including cash running costs of 
owned vessels.

*  Including cash running costs of 
owned vessels.
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FLEET DEVELOPMENT

fleet renewal
In 2012, the Company continued to pur-
sue the strategic target of owning and op-
erating an increasingly more fuel efficient 
fleet. The existing fleet is optimised or sold 
off in case of sufficiently attractive offers in 
the market where the proceeds from the 
sale are invested in new and more fuel ef-
ficient tonnage. 

The replacement of modern existing ves-
sels with newbuildings is deemed to be 
attractive as NORDEN gets a newer and 
significantly more fuel efficient vessel in 
exchange for a very modest additional in-
vestment and, at the same time, reduces 
the Company’s exposure towards the next 
1-2 years where there is still a risk of a 
challenging market.

The gross core fleet consisting of owned 
and chartered vessels with purchase op-
tion – both current and for future delivery 
– counted 112 vessels at the end of 2012, 
which is a decrease of 3 vessels since the 
beginning of the year. The decrease is i.a. 
due to the fact that NORDEN redelivered 5 
long-term chartered vessels with purchase 
option during the year because of expiry of 
the contract. In addition to this, the Com-
pany was active both with new orders and 
sale of vessels but with an overall neutral 
effect on the gross core fleet. Thus, NOR-
DEN had an addition of a total of 10 ves-
sels – 3 owned newbuilding orders and 7 
long-term chartered vessels with purchase 
option – while the Company entered into 
agreements on the sale of 10 vessels, of 
which 8 vessels were delivered to the new 
owners at the end of the year, and 2 ves-
sels were delivered in the beginning of 
2013.

New contracts
A newbuilding order was added to the 
Dry Cargo fleet in 2012 in the form of a 
Japanese built Panamax ice-class vessel, 
which is significantly more fuel efficient 
and emits less CO2 than comparable exist-
ing vessels. The vessel is secured employ-
ment for 5 years at reasonable rates from 
the delivery in 2014. The Company has 
also taken avantage of the low newbuilding 
prices in Tankers. The Company has con-
tracted 2 Chinese built, fuel efficient prod-
uct tankers of the Handysize type, which 
is the vessel type in the global tanker fleet 
with the greatest scrapping potential and 
the smallest order book. 

Furthermore, NORDEN has ordered 2 
Panamax newbuildings (1 owned and 1 
long-term charter with purchase option) in 
the first two months of the year. 

In total, the Company now has 18 eco ves-
sels in the gross core fleet.

More vessels at sea
Despite vessel sales and redelivery of 
chartered vessels with purchase option, 

•	 Fleet	renewal	with	eco	focus	 •	 Utilisation	of	low	newbuilding	prices	 •	 Active	
fleet increased to 244 vessels

NORDEN's fleet at 31 December 2012

Vessels in operation   2012 2011 
owned vessels   41.0 A 43.5
Chartered vessels with purchase option  53.0 48.0

Active core fleet   94.0 91.5
Chartered vessels without purchase option  150.0 144.0

Active fleet   244.0 235.5
   

Vessels to be delivered   
owned vessels   8.0 10.5
Chartered vessels with purchase option  10.0 13.0

Total for delivery to core fleet   18.0 23.5
Vessels chartered for more than 3 years  
without purchase option   0.5 2.0

Total for delivery to active fleet   18.5 25.5
   

Total gross fleet   262.5 261.0
Total chartered with purchase option   63.0 61.0

Total gross core fleet   112.0 115.0

A of which 2 units sold.
note: Vessels which are jointly owned or chartered directly by a pool are adjusted based on ownership 
share and pool percentage, respectively.

The count methodology has been changed compared to last year so that partly owned vessels are adju-
sted based on ownership share. This relates to 2 owned vessels and 4 chartered vessels with purchase 
option. These are all 50% owned and therefore count as 3 vessels instead of 6.

Development in NORDEN's core fleet 2012
 
  Dry Cargo Tankers Total
Core fleet, beginning 2012  84.0 31.0 115.0
Purchase of secondhand tonnage  0.0 0.0 0.0
Contracted newbuildings  1.0 2.0 3.0
Contracted long-term charters with  
purchase option  6.0 1.0 7.0
redelivered long-term charters with  
purchase option  -3.0 -2.0 -5.0
Sale and delivery of owned vessels  -7.0 -1.0 -8.0
Core fleet, year-end 2012  81.0 31.0 112.0

note: The table shows the development in norDEn's total core fleet, which includes active vessels as 
well as vessels to be delivered.
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the active part of the core fleet increased 
as a result of delivery of 5.5 newbuildings 
and 10 chartered vessels with purchase 
option. At the end of the year, the active 
core fleet thus comprised 94 vessels. In 
addition to the core fleet, NORDEN had a 
flexible portfolio of 150 chartered vessels 
at its disposal, and consequently, NOR-
DEN's total active fleet counted 244 ves-
sels at the end of the year.

Expected deliveries to NORDEN's core fleet at 31 December 2012

 2013 2014 2015 Total

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Dry Cargo 

Panamax      (1.0)      (1.0)  (4.0) 1.0          7.0

Handymax            (2.0)          (1.0)   3.0

Handysize   1.0 (1.0)                     2.0

Tankers 
Mr  2.0  2.0                      4.0

Handysize         1.0  1.0              2.0

Total 2.0 4.0 1.0 0.0 1.0 4.0 4.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 18.0

note: Figures in brackets are deliveries of chartered vessels with purchase option, whereas deliveries from the Company's newbuilding programme are stated 
without brackets. Figures are adjusted for ownership share. Totals have been calculated for the core fleet as a whole.

         

Deliveries in 2013
NORDEN's future deliveries to the core 
fleet amounted to 18 vessels at the end of 
the year of which 12 are dry cargo vessels 
and 6 are product tankers. 7 of these ves-
sels will be delivered in 2013 – 3 dry cargo 
vessels in the Handysize and Panamax 
class and 4 MR product tankers built at 
the Korean yard STX. The remaining ves-
sels in the order book will be delivered in 
the course of 2014-15 (see below table). 

On the inside of the 
cover, a graphic over-
view of NORDEN's 
active fleet is avail-
able.

Fuel efficiency is a crucial factor in the optimisation of NORDEN's fleet. New vessel designs can reduce fuel consumption significantly  
and thus contribute to reducing both costs and CO2 emissions. The picture shows a computer animation of the water’s movements – 
streamlines – along the hull of a modern vessel.
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Development in vessel prices 
As a result of lower freight rates, the exten-
sive addition of new tonnage and lack of 
financing, the market prices for newbuild-
ings and secondhand vessels in the dry car-
go market decreased throughout the year. 
Newbuilding prices in NORDEN's vessel 
types decreased by 5-15%, and there was 
also a downward trend in the secondhand 
market. A 5-year old Panamax vessel was 
e.g. 32% cheaper at the end of the year 
than at the beginning of the year, while the 
price for a 5-year old Handysize vessel was 
26% lower (source: Clarksons).

In the product tanker market, the de-
crease in prices was slightly smaller. The 
price for a 5-year old MR product tanker 
thus dropped by 18% (source: Baltic Ex-
change), while newbuilding prices were at 
a stable level throughout the year.

write-downs in the first quarter
Due to the continued drop in vessel prices, 
management estimated that there was 
a need for write-downs of a total of USD 

300 million at the end of the first quarter. 
At the end of the first quarter, the market 
value was USD 361 million below the car-
rying amounts and costs of newbuildings, 
and NORDEN therefore performed a rou-
tine impairment test in accordance with 
IAS 36 and following the same principles 
and methods as previously, however, with a 
more careful assumption of future rates on 
open ship days.

The impairment test was performed by 
comparing the carrying amounts with 
the value in use of the 3 cash-generating 
units (CGUs) in the fleet – i.e. Dry Cargo, 
Tankers and a joint venture. Value in use 
is calculated as the present value of total 
expected cash flows over the remaining 
useful lives of the vessels, including time 
charter fleet, coverage and estimated rates 
for uncovered capacity.

The write-downs totalling USD 300 million 
were distributed with USD 250 million in Dry 
Cargo, USD 40 million in Tankers and USD 
10 million in a joint venture. The write-downs 

have no effect on EBITDA, cash flows or 
loan agreements, and NORDEN continues 
to be in a very strong financial position. 

Market values of USD 1.2 billion   
Based on assessments from 3 independ-
ent brokers, the market value of NOR-
DEN's 41 owned vessels and 8 newbuild-
ing orders was estimated at USD 1,162 
million at year-end, which is USD 136 mil-
lion below the carrying amounts and costs. 
This corresponds to a negative DKK 18 per 
share. 

Calculated without vessels in joint ventures 
and sold assets, the market value in Dry 
Cargo and Tankers is USD 61 million and 
USD 77 million, respectively, below the 
carrying amounts and costs. As it appears 
from the table below, the negative market 
values in Dry Cargo are primarily placed 
in Post-Panamax and Handysize where 
NORDEN contracted the largest number 
of new vessels in 2006-08 when new-
building prices were significantly higher 
than today. 

FLEET VALUES 
•	 Fleet	market	value	estimated	at	USD	1.2	billion	 •	 Carrying	amounts	written	
down	by	USD	300	million	 •	 Purchase	and	extension	options	estimated	at	USD	
100 million

fleet values at 31 December 2012

USD million Owned (active and newbuildings)
   Broker Broker
  Carrying estimated  estimated 
  amount/ value of  value of 
Dry Cargo number cost owned vessels* charter party Added value

Capesize  3.0  80  69 13  2 

Post-Panamax  4.0  133  102   -31 

Panamax  4.0  83  75  31  23 

Handymax  4.0  90  85   -5 

Handysize  12.0  285  224  10  -51 

Tankers 
Mr  9.0  310 267  -43

Handysize  13.0  317 286  -31

Total  49.0  1,298 1,108 54 -136
 

       Sensitivity
Net Asset Value at 31 December 2012    USD million DKK per share +10% -10%
Equity excl. minority interests     1,687 231 231 231

Added value owned vessels     -136 -18 -2 -34

Net Asset Value     1,551 213 229 197

* Including joint ventures and assets held for sale but excluding charter party, if any.
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Assumptions for calculated value of purchase and extension options at year-end 2012
 
 Vessel prices and T/C rates Assumed volatility
 5-year   
 second- 5-year  Ship values
 hand prices T/C rate Freight rates (5-year second- 
 (USD million) (USD/day) (1-year T/C) hand prices)

Dry Cargo 
Capesize 30.3 15,667 87% 20%

Post-Panamax* 26.7 11,333 52% 20%

Panamax 18.6 11,333 52% 20%

Handymax 18.9 10,417 43% 20%

Handysize 15.3 8,550 27% 17%

Tankers 
Mr 21.1 15,250 13% 11%

note: The determination of the theoretical value of the purchase and extension options is subject to 
uncertainty, the value being dependent on the future development in freight rates and ship values as 
well as deviations in other assumptions.

*  The Post-Panamax price is a re-sale price for a newbuilding with prompt delivery. The volatilities for 
the vessel type are assumed equal to the volatilities for Panamax as there is limited data available for 
Post-Panamax.

As the market value was also below the 
carrying amounts and costs at year-end, 
NORDEN has performed a routine impair-
ment test following usual principles. On this 
background, no further indication of impair-
ment of the value of the Company's owned 
vessels and newbuildings was found. See 
also the Financial review (page 42) and the 
section “Impairment test” in note 1 to the fi-
nancial statements (page 54) where signifi-
cant accounting estimates are explained. 

Net Asset Value
At year-end, NORDEN's Net Asset Value 
(NAV) was estimated at DKK 213 per share 
against DKK 248 per share at the end of 
2011. This corresponds to a decrease of 
14%. NAV comprises book equity of DKK 
231 per share and negative DKK 18 per 
share relating to negative added value of 
owned vessels. 

This year, the Company has decided not 
to calculate a theoretical NAV but instead 
publish more detailed information on the 
Company's chartered fleet and coverage. 
A complete overview of days, rates and 
coverage for chartered vessels as well 
as coverage distributed on year and ves-
sel type can be found at www.ds-norden.
com/investor/reportspresentations/report-
sandwebcasts/.  

In addition, the part of the vessels' market 
value which is constituted by the attached 
charter parties is specified in the top right 
table. As a supplement to NAV, the Com-
pany will continue publishing the estimated 
value of the option element in NORDEN's 
charter parties with purchase and exten-
sion option. 

Purchase and extension options
The Company's purchase and extension 
options are still estimated to represent 

value despite low period rates in the time 
charter market. And when markets im-
prove, these flexible contracts are expect-
ed to provide NORDEN with an advanta-
geous exposure to the market. 

NORDEN has not exercised any purchase 
options in 2012, but has increased the 

NORDEN’s valuation of purchase and extension 
options follows standard pricing of American 
options, which simulates future scenarios for 
T/C rates and vessel prices under assumptions 
of price volatility and correlation between the 
change in T/C rates and the change in vessel 
prices. In each segment, the volatility in vessel 
prices and the correlation between vessel prices 
and T/C rates are assumed to be constant over 
time and are estimated based on historical data. 
The volatility in T/C rates is assumed to vary over 
time and differs for each segment. The 1-year 

T/C volatility for Dry Cargo is determined as the 
implicit volatility in options on FFA contracts. For 
Tankers, the 1-year T/C volatility is calculated 
based on historical data. The 20-year T/C volatil-
ity is equal to the vessel price volatility, whereas 
the other points are determined by interpolation.

An important input to the model is the T/C rate 
curve for each vessel type. The curve consists 
of the following elements: expected market rates 
for the first 5 years and a long-term T/C rate (20 
years), calculated as the implicit rate used to 

equate the discounted value of future cash flows 
with the market price for a secondhand 5-year 
old vessel. Between year 5 and year 20, the T/C 
curve is determined by interpolation. In addi-
tion, market prices are used for interest rates, 
exchange rates and running costs. On the basis 
of the future scenarios for T/C rates and vessel 
prices, the optimum value of the purchase and 
extension option for each vessel is determined. 
Purchase options under which the price for the 
vessel is stated in JPY are translated at the for-
ward JPY/USD rate before the pricing.

Calculation of the value of options

Value of purchase and extention options at 31 december 2012
     
   number of Value* 
  Average dwt. contracts  (USD million)

Dry Cargo 
Capesize  180,230 1.0 2

Post-Panamax  114,987 4.0 1

Panamax  79,106 18.0 28

Handymax  56,750 20.0 56

Handysize  32,054 11.0 7

Tankers 
Mr  47,485 9.0 6

Total   63.0 100

* The values solely concern purchase and extension options, but not the firm charter party period.

number of charter parties with purchase 
and extension option from 61 to 63 in con-
nection with new long-term charters. The 
value of the options in the contracts was 
estimated at USD 100 million or USD 1.6 
million per contract at the end of the year. 
The method of calculating the value of the 
options is unchanged (see box below). 
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FLEET COSTS

Operation of owned vessels
Without compromising quality, safety or 
environment, NORDEN continues to have 
a sharp focus on the costs which NORDEN 
is able to influence. In the past year, the 
running costs of the fleet have been un-
der pressure due to continued additional 
expenses for anti-piracy initiatives and in-
creasing expenses for crew health insur-
ances. 

On the other hand, ongoing budget follow-
ups and streamlining of the purchase of 
stores and spares have resulted in savings. 
For example, for the second consecutive 
year, the purchase of lubricating oil has 
been made more efficient and has led to 
savings ensuring that this significant ex-
pense is 4% below budget. 

Build-up of experience
To maintain a high, uniform level of qual-
ity in the Tanker fleet, NORDEN is now 
in charge of the operation of all product 

tankers. As part of the preparations for the 
delivery of 4 product tankers from the STX 
yard and a wish for generally increased 
flexibility in crewing and lower costs, the 
Company has hired 39 Indian officers. The 
phase-in of the many officers has proceed-
ed satisfactorily, and the Company is ready 
to receive and operate the vessels when 
they are delivered during the first half-year 
of 2013. 

In the Dry Cargo fleet, the Company has 
successfully continued the cooperation 
with external managers, who manage 14 
vessels with the same standards and qual-
ity requirements as on the vessels man-
aged by NORDEN. External management 
provides flexibility, and the benchmark-
ing, which is made on an ongoing basis, 
ensures that NORDEN's own operation is 
carried out at a competitive cost level.

Chartered fleet
Parallel with improving efficiency on 
owned vessels, NORDEN continuously 
seeks to reduce the costs of chartered 
tonnage either by replacing short-term 
chartered tonnage as far as possible with 
vessels with a lower charter hire or by re-
negotiating charter parties upon expiry. 

fuel efficiency
The most significant expense in connec-
tion with the operation of the fleet is fuel 
(bunker). Thus, increased fuel efficiency 
does not only decrease the impact on the 
environment, but also contributes positive-
ly to the bottom line. 

NORDEN focuses on fuel efficiency, and 
since 2007, the Company has success-
fully followed a climate action plan. This 
plan includes i.a. continued roll-out of high 
performance paint, which reduces the 
vessels' propulsion resistance, frequency 
controlled cooling pumps, which ensures 
more economical operation, and not least 
instruction of the officers on correct, fuel 
saving sailing – right steaming.

At the same time, IT systems and measur-
ing tools such as flow meters and torque 
meters allow the Company to directly 
monitor effect and consumption on ves-
sels equipped with these tools – regardless 
of where the vessels are positioned. Atten-
tion to consumption is thus increased, and 
valuable experience is gathered.

Initiatives in 2013
Focus on the running costs of NORDEN's 
fleet will be maintained in 2013 respect-
ing the fact that it is important to maintain 
and strive for high standards within Tank-
ers and to an increasing extent also within 
Dry Cargo. The Company will continue the 
implementation of fuel efficient initiatives 
and has established a position with focus 
on supporting these efforts through analy-
ses, new initiatives and follow-up on ongo-
ing activities.

Average cash costs of the known fleet are 
budgeted at USD 10,661 per day in Dry 
Cargo and USD 10,567 per day in Tankers 
in 2013. The figures comprise charter hire 
for chartered vessels, and for owned ves-
sels, cash costs for operation and manning 
of the vessels, excluding bunker, docking 
and port calls. In Tankers, costs for all ves-
sel types are lower than the 1-year T/C 
rates, whereas in Dry Cargo, this is only the 
case within Capesize (sources: ACM and 
Clarksons). To this should be noted that 
the other vessel types in Dry Cargo, except 
from Post-Panamax, are also employed 
at rates significantly above the 1-year T/C 
rates.

•	 Continued	strict	cost	control	 •	 Successful	phase-in	of	Indian	officers	 •	 Focus	
on fuel efficiency

NORDEN continues to focus on costs. 
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Strong capital structure 
With a strong financial position and solid 
financial resources, NORDEN is well posi-
tioned to take advantage of opportunities 
also in challenging markets. At year-end, 
NORDEN had cash and securities totalling 
USD 529 million and undrawn credit facili-
ties of USD 161 million.  

Cash amounts to USD 454 million (USD 
336 million), and to this should be add-
ed NORDEN's share of cash and cash 
equivalents in joint ventures amounting 
to USD 9 million (USD 6 million). Pursu-
ant to NORDEN’s banking policy, cash is 
mainly placed as short-term deposits with 
a duration of up to 1 year in major Scandi-
navian banks which are rated A or higher. 
Furthermore, NORDEN has securities of 
USD 75 million (USD 71 million) placed 
in short-term corporate bonds which are 
rated BBB or higher.

The increase in total cash is mainly a result 
of solid cash flows from operations of USD 
122 million, while the net effect of vessel 
sales and newbuilding investments has 
been positive with USD 13 million. To this 
should be added dividend payment to the 
shareholders of USD 29 million. Financial 
resources have been improved by cash 
and securities, which now exceed interest-
bearing debt by USD 373 million at year-
end, equalling DKK 51 per share.

During 2012, NORDEN entered into a 
new, long-term credit facility totalling USD 
36 million with a Nordic bank. At the same 
time and as planned, USD 25 million has 
been drawn from the credit facility which 
was entered into with the Japanese export 
guarantee fund NEXI and a Japanese bank 
in 2012. Hereafter, undrawn credit facili-
ties total USD 161 million. If the facilities 
are fully drawn, debt will only correspond 
to 29% of the market value of the fleet.

Interest-bearing debt decreased from USD 
165 million to USD 156 million as the 
Company drew USD 25 million on an ex-
isting credit facility and, at the same time, 

repaid USD 34 million on previously ob-
tained loans.

Drop in net commitments 
The adjusted net interest-bearing assets 
amounted to USD 362 million (USD 240 
million) at year-end. Including operating 
lease liabilities, future payments on new-
buildings and contractually secured cash 
flows, the Company's total net commit-
ments were USD 443 million (USD 627 
million) at year-end. Compared to 2011, 
net commitments have decreased by USD 
184 million. The decrease is a result of an 
increase in cash, lower future operating 
lease liabilities and a drop in net invest-
ments in vessels.

Gearing refers to the ratio of the Company’s 
net commitments to book equity. With the 
decreasing net commitments, NORDEN’s 
gearing has dropped to 0.26 at the end of 
2012 from 0.31 at the end of 2011. Gross 
gearing refers to the ratio of the Company’s 
net commitments before deduction of con-
tractually secured cash flows to equity. Even 
when applying the gross gearing measure, 
which is more limiting, NORDEN’s gearing 
is below 1. 

Initiatives in 2013
NORDEN has known liabilities in relation 
to the newbuilding programme totalling 
USD 95 million net, which essentially fall 
due in 2013. The amount only includes 
payments on contracts which had been 
signed at year-end. Further purchase, 

sales or contracting agreements could af-
fect the total amount of investments. 

In addition, the Board of Directors pro-
poses that NORDEN distributes USD 22 
million in dividends and carries out share 
buy-backs of up to USD 30 million.

NORDEN will draw the remaining USD 25 
million regarding the existing Japanese 
credit facility in 2013, whereas the new 
facility entered into with a Nordic bank in 
2012 is expected to be utilised from 2014. 
NORDEN’s expectations for 2013 of taking 
advantage of the low vessel prices to invest 
in newbuildings and long-term charters 
may result in further incurrence of debt 
possibly in the form of bond issues. Con-
sidering payment of dividends and share 
buy-backs, the recent decrease in NOR-
DEN's gearing is therefore expected to be 
temporary.

FINANCIAL POSITION 
•	 Cash	and	securities	of	USD	529	million	 •	 Drop	in	net	commitments	 •	 Known	
newbuilding liabilities of USD 95 million net

Net commitments (at year-end), present values, USD million

  2012 2011 2010
Adjusted net interest-bearing assets*  362 240 542

T/C liabilities**  -1,646  -1,748   -1,925 

Payments on newbuildings  
less proceeds from vessel sales**  -95 -197 -329

Contractually secured inflows of earnings**  
(T/Cs and CoAs)  936  1,078   1,377 

Net commitments  -443 -627 -335

* Adjusted for prepayments on vessel purchases and currency swaps
** Present values
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MARKET 
•	 Strong	demand	growth

•	 Record	high	number	of	deliveries	to	the	global	fleet

•	 Scrapping	at	historically	high	level

NORDEN
•	 Higher	earnings	than	expected

•	 Daily	earnings	considerably	above	market	rates

•	 Ready	for	new	investments

DRY CARGO 
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NORDEN’s results
In 2012, NORDEN’s Dry Cargo Depart-
ment generated operating earnings before 
depreciation and profits from the sale of 
vessels (EBITDA) of USD 131 million, 
which is higher than the expectations from 
the third quarter of USD 105-125 million. 
All in all, operating earnings were 24% 
lower than the previous year as a conse-
quence of a difficult market where market 
rates (Baltic Dry Index) were 41% lower on 
average than in 2011.

EBIT constituted a loss of USD 207 million 
in 2012, which is USD 334 million lower 
than in 2011. The decrease is primarily 
due to write-downs of USD 260 million in 
the first quarter, lower operating earnings 
and a loss of USD 24 million on vessel sales 
in the fourth quarter. Profit from operations 
before write-downs was consequently USD 
74 million lower than in 2011.

As in 2011, NORDEN’s daily earnings 
were considerably higher than both the 
spot and the 1-year market. Overall, earn-
ings were 54% higher than the spot mar-
ket and 33% higher than the 1-year T/C 
rates. Particularly NORDEN’s two primary 
vessel types, Handymax and Panamax, 
earned higher rates, 31% and 40% higher 
than the 1-year T/C rates, respectively 
(source: Clarksons). The favourable earn-
ings are primarily a result of high rates on 
cargo contracts made in previous years as 
well as profitable operator activities. For 
example, the Post-Panamax vessels ge-
nerated higher earnings in the spot market 
than the average spot rates for Capesize 
and Panamax through efficient operator 
activites.  

NORDEN’s business
The volume of global seaborne dry cargo 
transports increased by 5.5% in 2012. 

Key figures and financial ratios  

USD million  2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
revenue  1,731 1,936 1,946 1,516 4,002

EBITDA  131 171 249 139 455

Profits from the sale  
of vessels, etc.  -25 0 28 70 247

EBIT  -207 127 260 188 687

non-current assets  606 1,010 850 646 566

EBITDA margin, %  8% 9% 13% 9% 11%

EBIT margin, %   -12% 7% 13% 12% 17%

Avg. number of employees  535 466 325 329 372

Total number of ship days  68,430 64,851 54,661 45,945 68,172

Development in 1-year T/C rates

 Capesize  Panamax 
 Handymax  Handysize
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After a massive drop immediately after the begin-
ning of the financial crisis, rates have stabilised 
at low levels. 

NORDEN T/C compared to 1-year T/C
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NORDEN beat the 1-year T/C rates by an average 
of 33% in a weak market. 

Employment and rates, Dry Cargo, 2012
 
       1-year T/C  norDEn vs.  
Vessel type  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2012 (USD per day)* 1-year T/C

Capesize
 Ship days 364  364  368  339  1,435  

13,685  +121%
 T/C (USD per day) 34,597  29,898  26,491  30,186  30,284

Post-Panamax
 Ship days 606  646  736  717  2,705  

9,929  -21%
 T/C (USD per day) 9,565  10,255  5,746  6,256  7,813   

Panamax
 Ship days 6,158  6,727  6,025  6,136  25,046  

9,706  +40%
 T/C (USD per day) 15,123  12,808  12,460  13,848  13,548   

Handymax
 Ship days 7,016  6,580  8,226  7,671  29,493  

10,130  +31%
 T/C (USD per day) 13,916  12,777  13,466  12,730  13,228   

Handysize
 Ship days 2,239  2,285  2,525  2,702  9,751  

8,234  +17%
 T/C (USD per day) 9,580  10,881  10,315  8,128  9,673   

Total**
 Ship days 16,383  16,602  17,880  17,565  68,430  

9,771  +33%
 T/C (USD per day) 14,076  12,806  12,632  12,485  12,982   

* Source: Clarksons  ** Weighted average
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Thus, with an increase in volume of 6%, 
NORDEN has in 2012 maintained its posi-
tion in the market and added a consider-
able number of new customers.

NORDEN’s two primary commodities are 
coal and grain, which are both less sensi-
tive to market fluctuations than the aver-
age dry cargo commodity. Out of a total 

Geographic distribution of imports, 2012
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China and India remain the largest single desti-
nations for NORDEN's cargoes, but the Company 
also has a strong position in the Western European 
market.

The less cyclical commodities coal and grain are 
still NORDEN's primary commodities with 40% 
and 18%, respectively.

The Post-Panamax 
vessels are designed 
to pass the widened 
Panama Canal when 
it opens in 2015.

transported volume of 64 million tons (ex-
cluding cargo on vessels chartered out), 
coal and grain constituted 40% and 18%, 
respectively, of NORDEN’s transported 
cargo.

Compared to the market where 80% of 
the dry cargo commodities are imported 
by the East, NORDEN has a more even 
geographical spread in that almost 25% 
of NORDEN’s transported volume was 
carried to Western Europe. The spread 
is to a great extent a result of NORDEN’s 
5-year contract to carry coal from Svalbard 

to Northern Europe as well as Indonesian 
and Russian coal to Southern and North-
ern Europe, respectively. In 2012, NOR-
DEN also entered into a large contract to 
carry biomass/wood products from the 
USA to Western Europe.

China and India remained the largest sin-
gle destinations for NORDEN’s cargoes. In 
total, NORDEN delivered 17 million tons 
to China and India in 2012 of which the 
largest share was discharged in China. It 
is primarily NORDEN’s large vessel types, 
which call at these countries with coal and 
iron ore from Australia as well as coal from 
Indonesia. In addition, NORDEN trans-
ports large volumes of grain from South 
America to Asia.

During the recent year, NORDEN has ex-
perienced an increasing interest for its 
Post-Panamax vessels, which fill a gap 
in the market between the Panamax and 
Capesize vessel types. On average, more 
than 100,000 tons of cargo are loaded 
on these vessels, and thus Post-Panamax 
vessels compete with – the smaller – Pan-
amax vessels under poor market condi-
tions and with – the larger – Capesize ves-
sels under good market conditions. One 
of the advantages of the new design is 
the low draught, which enables transport 
on e.g. the Mississippi River like a regu-
lar Panamax vessel, but with 50% more 
cargo. In addition, Post-Panamax is built 
to take advantage of the widened Panama 
Canal when it opens in 2015.

Market development in 2012
As in previous years, the dry cargo market 
was characterised by high demand, which 
was, however, more than counterbalanced 
by an extensive addition of new vessels. 
For the year as a whole, the Baltic Dry In-
dex was 41% lower than in 2011 prima-
rily pulled down by the large vessel types 
(source: Baltic Exchange).

The total volume of commodities trans-
ported by sea increased by 5.5% in 2012, 
which is 0.8% below the level for 2011. 
Factors such as waiting days in ports, Chi-
nese coastal trade and inefficient trading 
patterns added to growth in total demand 
for dry cargo tonnage of approximately 7% 
compared to 9.6% last year (source: R.S. 
Platou).
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NORDEN focuses on increasing future cargo volumes at profitable levels and has entered into agreements, 
which extend until 2026.
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Also in 2012, China was the primary 
driving force behind the increased cargo 
volumes. China’s import grew by approxi-
mately 135 million tons corresponding to 
an increase of 12.7% compared to last 
year. Especially coal and the group of other 
minor dry cargo commodities contributed 
to growth with percentage increases of 
28% and 12%, respectively (source: Chi-
na Customs General Administration). 

With 745 million tons in 2012, iron ore 
remains China’s most imported commod-
ity. Compared to 2011, Chinese iron ore 
imports grew by 9% despite a slowdown 
in the steel production. The market was, 
however, under pressure due to the fact 
that the increased imported volume main-
ly came from nearby Australia instead of 
Brazil, which experienced a decrease in 
the level of exports.

Imports of coal to both India and Japan 
increased in 2012. The Indian increase 
forms the basis of a long-term consump-
tion pattern, whereas the Japanese in-
crease is short-lived and primarily due to 
increased imports of thermal coal as the 
shutdown of most nuclear power stations 
after Fukushima necessitated increased 
use of coal for power supply in 2011.

Like previous years, the market was again 
affected by supply disruptions. For exam-
ple, at the beginning of the year, Brazil was 
exposed to severe rainfalls, which nega-
tively affected iron ore exports, whereas 
the USA experienced periods of drought 
in the middle of the year, which hit the 
corn production particularly hard causing 
a drop in the production of 13% compared 
to 2011 (source: USDA). Also Indonesia, 
which is a considerable exporter of com-
modities to China, reduced its volumes in 
2012 as a consequence of an export ban 
on unprocessed commodities (except from 
coal). This reduced the export volumes of 
both nickel ore and bauxite in particular.

2012 offered a record high number of 
deliveries to the global dry cargo fleet of 
approximately 60 million dwt. in the first 
half-year. In contrast, deliveries dropped 
to a considerably lower level in the second 
half-year, and thus in the fourth quarter, 
only approximately 14 million dwt. were 
delivered, which is the lowest level since 
the fourth quarter of 2009. In total, a little 
more than 98 million dwt. were delivered 
to the dry cargo fleet in 2012.

Despite the record high number of new-
building deliveries, two factors in particu-
lar contributed to reducing the effective 
supply growth: scrapping and reduction 
of speed. Scrapping was at a historically 
high level, and in total, 33.7 million dwt. 
were scrapped in 2012, of which Cape-
size constituted the main part. Overall, this 
resulted in a total net fleet growth rate of 
10.3%, which, however, covers large dif-
ferences between the individual vessel 
types. Thus, fleet growth is still most sig-
nificant in the large vessel types, whereas 
especially Handysize, which is NORDEN's   
most numerous vessel type, stands out 
with a net fleet growth rate of only 1.1% 
(source: Clarksons).

Due to high oil prices and low freight rates, 
many vessels sail at reduced speed. Slow 
steaming has contributed to reducing 
overcapacity and increasing earnings in 
a weak market. Overall, effective growth 
in supply was, however, somewhat higher 
than an otherwise reasonable growth rate 
in demand of 7%, and rates were thus be-
low the average for 2011.

Vessel prices were also affected by the 
lower rates and the high overcapacity. 
Prices for 5-year old tonnage continued 
the downward trend from 2011 and ended 
at an approximately 25% lower level across 
all vessel types. Prices on newbuildings 
also decreased, but only by approximately 
8.5% (source: Clarksons).
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Global seaborne dry cargo transport 

A good increase of 5.5% could not counterbalance 
the addition of new vessels, and rates thus came 
under pressure.
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Scrapping as percentage of global fleet

Scrapping rose to 5.3%, and with a total of 33.7 
million dwt., 2012 set a new record for scrapping.

Planned vs. actual deliveries 
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The year offered a record high number of deliveries to the global fleet, but towards the end of the year, 
deliveries dropped significantly as only every second planned delivery was actually launched.
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Market development in 2013
Just as 2012, 2013 is expected to be a 
very challenging year as a consequence of 
overcapacity in the market. However, the 
overcapacity is not expected to increase 
further during 2013 since growth in sup-
ply and demand will start to balance.

R.S. Platou thus expects tonnage demand 
growth of approximately 7.3%, which 
is 0.3 percentage points higher than in 

Also in 2013, the dry cargo market will see a good increase in demand, but the supply of vessels is too large for this increase to reflect 
in generally increasing rates. 

Since 1998, China's 
import of iron ore has 
grown from 52 million 
tons to 745 million 
tons in 2012. 

2012. As previously, growth is expected 
to be driven primarily by China’s import of 
commodities as well as longer distances 
and waiting time.

The order book for 2013 constitutes 101.2 
million dwt. in total, which indicates that 
the world fleet will increase by 14.9% 
(source: Clarksons). However, it is expect-

Despite a decrease in China's steel production, the import of iron ore increased by 9%, and China was thus 
also the primary driving force behind the increased cargo volumes in 2012.

Development in China's dry cargo imports
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ed that a large part will not be delivered just 
as scrapping is expected to continue at a 
high level. Provided that between 20-30% 
of the reported orders are not delivered in 
2013 and that scrapping constitutes be-
tween 5-6% of the global fleet, net growth 
of the global fleet will amount to 4-7%, 
which is in line with tonnage demand.

Long-term market development
Over time, the market is expected to be-
come attractive again. Following a year 
with balanced supply and demand growth, 
low fleet growth combined with stable 
demand growth during 2014-15 and on-
wards is expected. As a result, the overca-
pacity is expected to be reduced already 
from the beginning of 2014.

In coming years, global growth is expected 
to be driven by emerging markets with a 
great focus on commodity-intensive indus-
tries, infrastructure and energy. In addi-
tion, the major mining companies within 
coal and iron ore are focusing on capacity 
expansions, which will allow for consider-
able volume growth. Despite the fact that 
the major iron ore producers have post-
poned parts of the capacity expansions, 
future growth rates continue to look posi-
tive. By the end of 2014, the export capac-
ity for coal is expected to increase by al-
most 140 million tons. The main part of the 
capacity expansion will be for the benefit of 
non-OECD countries, which are expected 
to have a total coal demand increase of 
3.9% per year over the next 5 years. Es-
pecially India is expected to experience a 
large increase in demand of more than 6% 
per year (source: IEA).

The existing order book in dry cargo for 
2014 and onwards is small, while the 
number of new orders is limited primarily 
due to reduced financing opportunities.

NORDEN’s positioning
In recent years, NORDEN has positioned 
itself for a particularly challenging dry 
cargo market with a large addition of new 
vessels and lower demand growth. Conse-
quently, at the end of 2012, 76% of NOR-
DEN’s capacity for 2013 was covered. The 
coverage is distributed on 192 counterpar-
ties, of which the top 20 accounts for 59% 
of the total coverage. These 20 enterprises 
primarily include mining and commodity 
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The approximately 8,000 open ship days in 2013 
are primarily within the Handysize vessel type. 
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In recent years, NORDEN has adopted a wait-and-see attitude towards investments in new dry cargo 
vessels, but prices are now at a level which makes it attractive to invest in newbuildings and long-term 
charters with purchase option. 

Vessel prices were under pressure throughout the 
year, and e.g. the value of a 5-year old Panamax 
vessel dropped by 32% during 2012.  
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companies, energy companies and indus-
trial groups, while 4 counterparties are 
shipping companies. See also the section 
“Credit risks” on page 62.

After a number of challenging years with 
decreasing rates and falling vessel prices, 
during which NORDEN has simultane-
ously focused on increasing the cargo 
base and optimising the operator activi-
ties, NORDEN is now in a position where 
investments in the core fleet are assessed 

to be attractive. The reasons for this are 
the expectation of a gradually improved 
balance between supply and demand and 
the fact that newbuilding prices are close 
to the shipyards’ marginal costs.
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TANKERS

MARKET
•	 Growth	in	oil	demand	primarily	driven	by	Asia

•	 Significant	changes	in	transport	patterns

•	 Moderate	fleet	growth

NORDEN
•	 Norient	Product	Pool	is	now	the	world’s	second	largest	

product tanker pool

•	 Daily	earnings	above	market	rates

•	 Mainly	exposed	towards	improving	spot	market
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Key figures and financial ratios

USD million  2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
revenue  400 336 243 240 362

EBITDA  28 26 0 -4 67

Profits from the sale  
of vessels, etc.  2 0 0 0 36

EBIT  -44 -8 -25 -18 97

non-current assets  490 570 469 327 300

EBITDA margin, %  7% 8% 0% -2% 19%

EBIT margin, %   -11% -2% -10% -8% 27%

Avg. number of employees  449 401 323 241 170

number of ship days  15,598 13,675 11,383 10,006 9,276

Employment and rates, Tankers, 2012
 
       1-year T/C  norDEn vs.  
Vessel type  Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2012 (USD per day)* 1-year T/C

Lr1
 Ship days 182  182  183  101  648   

12,995  -7%
 T/C (USD per day) 11,935  14,901  8,472  14,179  12,137 

Mr
 Ship days 1,982  1,900  2,147  2,252  8,281   

13,514  +3%
 T/C (USD per day) 15,477  13,019  12,084  15,060  13,920    

Handysize
 Ship days 1,700  1,718  1,689  1,562  6,669   

12,317  +8%
 T/C (USD per day) 14,741  12,264  11,768  14,503  13,294    

Total**
 Ship days 3,864  3,800  4,019  3,915  15,598   

12,981  +5%
 T/C (USD per day) 14,986  12,768  11,787  14,816  13,579    

* Source: Clarksons  ** Weighted average

NORDEN T/C compared to 1-year T/C
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NORDEN's earnings were above the 1-year T/C 
rates again in 2012.

Development in 1-year T/C rates
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Also in 2012, the 1-year T/C rates were below USD 
15,000 per day.

NORDEN’s results
NORDEN’s Tanker Department generated 
operating earnings (EBITDA) of USD 28 
million in 2012, which is better than the 
updated expectations level from Novem-
ber of USD 15-25 million and within the 
expectations announced at the beginning 
of the year. EBITDA is thus in line with the 
previous year.

EBIT constituted a loss of USD 44 mil-
lion in 2012, USD 36 million lower than in 
2011. The decrease is primarily due to the 
writing down of book fleet values by USD 
40 million in the first quarter. Profit from 
operations before write-downs was USD 4 
million higher than in 2011.

Similar to previous years, the Tanker De-
partment entered the year with a relatively 
low coverage of 22% in expectation of a 
better market in 2012. The first and last 
quarters of the year developed as ex-
pected, but the market was very weak 
mid-year, and overall, the Baltic Clean 
Tanker Index was 11% lower than last 
year. Consequently, NORDEN’s earnings 

were also lower than in 2011, but still re-
mained higher than the 1-year T/C rates in 
NORDEN’s 2 primary tanker vessel types, 
Handysize and MR.

NORDEN’s business
NORDEN continues to employ its product 
tankers in the pool partnership, Norient 
Product Pool, which is the second larg-
est product tanker pool in the world. At 
year-end, Norient Product Pool employed 
80 vessels, of which 25 were part of NOR-
DEN’s core fleet.

As part of the strategy of renewing the fleet 
with focus on fuel efficiency, NORDEN or-
dered 2 Handysize newbuildings during 
the year for delivery in 2014 and sold 3 
MR vessels, of which 2 were delivered in 
the beginning of 2013.

Norient Product Pool transports both clean 
petroleum products (CPP), which include 
products such as gasoline, diesel, naph-
tha, jet fuel, etc., and dirty petroleum 
products (DPP), which is primarily fuel oil.

In 2012, cargo volumes in Norient Product 
Pool increased by 32% to a total of 27.8 
million tons distributed with approximately 
two thirds CPP and one third DPP. Fuel 
oil remains the largest cargo category ac-
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Capacity utilisation in Norient Product Pool (excl. vessels chartered out)
 
 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Ship days, laden 9,982 9,648 9,705 12,376 14,839

Ship days, ballast 2,054 2,020 2,570 2,795 3,699

Total number of ship days 12,036 11,668 12,275 15,171 18,538
Capacity utilisation 83% 83% 79% 82% 80%

NPP transports, 2012
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US trade in refined oil products
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In 2012, the USA 
became a net ex-
porter of refined oil 
products.

The high oil prices have made it attractive to extract oil from shale, which has led to growth in the refinery 
sector. On this basis, the USA has become a net exporter of refined oil products.

counting for 32% of all cargo. The main 
part of the fuel oil was transported from the 
Baltic Sea and the Black Sea to Northern 
and Southern Europe, respectively.

Gasoline, diesel/gas oil and naphtha, 
which in total accounted for 56% of all 
cargo, followed fuel oil as the largest prod-
uct types transported by Norient Product 
Pool in 2012. The main part was transport-
ed on the traditional routes such as diesel 
from North America to South America and 
Europe and gasoline from Europe to North 

America. Europe and North America thus 
remain the largest markets for Norient 
Product Pool.

Market development in 2012
In 2012, global oil demand was negatively 
affected by the macroeconomic slowdown, 
and thus, the market only increased by 1.0 
million barrels per day, much less than the 
expected 1.3 million barrels per day fore-
casted by the IEA in December 2011.

Similar to last year, the main driving force 
of growth in oil demand was the non-OECD 
countries led by Asia with an average 
growth rate of 3.6%. On the other hand in 
the OECD countries, demand fell by 0.9% 
on average corresponding to 0.4 million 
barrels per day (source: IEA). Despite 
the fact that global oil demand only in-
creased by 1.1%, product tanker demand 
increased by 4.3% in 2012 as larger vol-
umes were transported across greater dis-
tances (ton/mile) e.g. on the routes from 
the US Gulf to Europe and on intra-region-
al Far East routes (source: Clarksons).

During the year, growth in US shale oil 
production impacted the Atlantic market 
significantly. On one hand, the added sup-
ply of shale oil resulted in larger export 
volumes of refined products from the US 
Gulf to Latin America and Europe. Con-
sequently, the USA went from being a 
net importer to a net exporter of refined 
oil products in 2012. On the other hand, 
the added supply of low-sulphur crude 
oil made it profitable for refineries on the 
US East Coast and in Europe to continue 
operations locally, and thus, the expected 
refinery capacity reductions did not mate-
rialise. Consequently, the expected surge 
in refined product imports into these re-
gions did not take place either.

After three years of increasing MR spot 
rates, the rates decreased in 2012. Up 
until the end of the third quarter, MR spot 
rates were thus 17.4% lower than in the 
same period in 2011. However, in the 
wake of several supply disruptions, such 
as hurricane Sandy and the refinery fire 
in Venezuela, MR rates improved signifi-
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The market value of the Tanker fleet was USD 553 
million at the end of 2012.
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While newbuilding prices were relatively stable, 
secondhand prices of an MR vessel dropped by 
approximately 18% during the year.  

4 MR product tankers built at the STX yard in South Korea will be delivered during 2013. The vessels are significantly more fuel ef-
ficient than vessels built just a few years ago.

cantly in the fourth quarter. Overall, MR 
rates were 7.9% below the level in 2011 
(source: Baltic Exchange).

Supply growth continued to be moderate 
in NORDEN’s two primary tanker vessel 
types. A total of 2.7 million dwt. were deliv-
ered to the global fleet, equivalent to a net 
fleet growth of 2.4%, distributed with 4.0% 
in MR and a reduction of 1.3% in Handy-
size. Total product tanker fleet growth was 
approximately 2.9%, where especially 
LR2 contributed with many deliveries and 
limited scrapping. NORDEN is not active 
within LR2.

Due to low freight rates and limited ac-
cess to vessel financing, new contracting 
has been limited. As a result, the MR and 
Handysize order books constituted 14% of 

the total fleet at year-end, or a total of 195 
vessels, of which the majority were MRs 
(source: SSY).

Market prices on newbuildings were fairly 
stable over the year with an MR priced at 
approximately USD 32-35 million. In May, 
there was a slight surge in prices as market 
optimism returned and several newbuild-
ings were contracted. The market, howev-
er, soon returned to the lower levels, and 
this trend continued throughout the year 
(source: Clarksons). On the other hand, 
secondhand prices were under pressure 
and decreased continuously throughout 
the year. Overall, the price of a 5-year old 
MR vessel dropped by approximately 18% 
during the year (source: Baltic Exchange). 
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An increasing amount of the oil products con-
sumed globally is transported at sea, and in the 
period 2012-17, oil demand is expected to grow 
by 1.3% on average per year.

The map shows the tendencies from 2012-16 in relation to the main oil product trading routes. The red arrow indicates an expected decrease in trans-
ported volumes in the period, whereas the green arrow indicates an increase. 

Overall, increased trade in oil products across regions is expected, but some regions are expected to see a sustained drop in the import of oil products. 
This is the case for e.g. the USA, where the refinery industry is blossoming as a result of easier access to large quantities of crude oil. Several regions 
are expected to increase both imports and exports, which will strengthen demand for product tanker tonnage. This will especially be the case for Europe, 
which will be in need of diesel imports, whereas the gasoline production from local refineries must be sold on the export markets. In addition, due to its 
high quality demands, Europe is better off importing its oil products from regions with a more advanced refinery sector. Regions such as Latin America 
and Asia are expected to increase imports as a result of increasing consumption of oil products, while Australia’s imports will increase due to future 
refinery shutdowns.

Changed trading patterns lead to increased transport with oil products

 North America  South America  Europe  Former USSR  
 Rest of Africa  Asia  Oceania  Middle East and North Africa

The expected gradual improvement in product tanker rates did not materialise in 2012. A contributory 
factor was that global oil consumption grew slower than expected. The graph shows how the IEA expected 
an increase of 1.3 million barrels per day in December 2011, whereas the result ended at 1.0 million.

Market development in 2013
Following a very challenging 2012, the 
market in 2013 is expected to gradually 
improve.

Global oil demand is expected to increase 
by approximately 1.0%, which is in line 

with 2012. The primary driving forces are 
Asia and the Middle East, whereas the 
OECD countries, Europe in particular, are 
expected to experience a continued drop 
in oil demand. This development implies 
that consumption in the non-OECD coun-
tries is expected to surpass that of the 

OECD countries already by the second half 
of 2013. Combined with increasing com-
petition from new, advanced refineries in 
Asia and the Middle East, this is expected 
to put renewed pressure on the profitability 
of old refineries, e.g. in Europe, Japan and 
Australia, which will result in more shut-
downs.
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According to the 
forecasts, 2013 will 
be the year where 
the non-OECD coun-
tries' oil consumption 
surpasses the OECD 
countries'. 

As stated, significant contribution to the 
increase in global oil demand is expected 
to come from Asia, which is expected to 
experience a considerable increase in the 
regional sea-based trade in oil products 
in spite of expansions of the local refinery 
capacity. To this can be added that due to 
delayed local refinery expansions, the ex-
pected demand growth in South America 
will require imports from other regions. Not 
least from the USA where the Port Arthur 
refinery is expected to be back in opera-
tion following some starting-up difficulties 
in 2012.

The low spot rates in 2012 have implied 
that several ship owners and operators 
have problems financing operations, and 
combined with the limited access to exter-
nal bank financing, newbuilding contract-
ing will continue at a low level. Fleet growth 
in 2013 is expected to remain at a low level 
of approximately 4% in total for Handysize 
and MR (source: SSY).

Long-term market development
Overall, oil demand is expected to increase 
by 1.3% per year in the period 2012-17. 
This growth will primarily be driven by 
Asia and the Middle East with increases 
of 2.0% and 3.5%, respectively, per year 
from 2012-17. During the same period, 
Europe will experience a drop in demand 
of 0.6% per year (source: IEA).

Significant expansions of the refinery ca-
pacity in Asia and the Middle East, e.g. 
with the start-up of the export-oriented 
Saudi refineries Jubail and Yanbu, are 
expected to have great influence on the 
product tanker market. Partly, they will 
lead to increasing exports of refined oil 
products to the Asian countries and Eu-

rope, and partly, they are likely to outcom-
pete old and less advanced refineries.

Japan and Australia have already taken 
the consequence of this development and 
decided to shut down several refineries 
within a number of years. The same is ex-
pected to take place in parts of the Euro-
pean refinery sector. Overall, this will lead 
to increasing imports and thus increasing 
demand for product tanker tonnage.

NORDEN’s positioning
Throughout recent years, NORDEN and 
Norient Product Pool have positioned 
themselves to be the preferred partner for 
global and regional oil companies and oil 
traders.

To achieve this position, NORDEN has 
developed critical mass within Handysize 
and MR through the pool partnership, No-
rient Product Pool, to ensure the flexibility 
and capacity required to service the oil 
companies.

NORDEN prioritises to comply with the 
increasing number of standards and rules 
required from the tanker industry by the 
oil companies, and at the end of the year, 
NORDEN is approved for time charter by 
all oil majors.

Norient Product Pool has ongoing focus 
on risk management and is continuously 
searching the market for long-term con-
tracts but remains mainly exposed to the 
spot market with the expectation of an in-
creasing freight market. At the beginning 
of the year, Norient Product Pool had cov-
erage of 27% and target coverage for the 
whole year of 35%.
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Highly educated and motivated employ-
ees, ongoing competency development 
and efficient systems are vital for the Com-
pany’s success. In spite of an increasing 
number of employees and activities, the 
administrative expenses have decreased. 
The decrease is due to both a favourable 
dollar rate and a sharp cost focus.

During the year, the number of NORDEN 
employees on shore increased from 259 to 
274, while Norient Product Pool employed 
44 people at the end of the year against 
47 people in 2011. The increase in NOR-
DEN’s workforce on shore corresponds to 
5.8%, which should be seen in proportion 
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to an increase in activities in the number 
of ship days of 7%. 

The retention rate has been stable at ap-
proximately 90%, and also in 2012, the 
Company was able to recruit new and 
qualified employees. Not least within char-
tering, the Company has experienced grow-
ing interest from experienced charterers to 
work at NORDEN. 

As part of the efforts to operate an even 
more fuel efficient fleet, a new position at 
the head office in Hellerup has been cre-
ated with focus on this.

Trainees graduated and employed
9 shipping trainees and 1 IT trainee gradu-
ated in the summer and have subsequent-
ly all been employed on a permanent basis 
with the Company. 10 other young people 
have started on NORDEN’s trainee pro-
gramme – 6 at the head office in Hellerup, 
1 in the USA (Annapolis), 2 in Singapore 
and 1 in China (Shanghai). The recruit-
ment campaign for 2013 is again aimed at 
attracting more female applicants in order 
to ensure more female employees at NOR-
DEN. This way, a basis for a more equal 
distribution between genders is created, 
which may also apply to the Company’s 
management levels in the long term.

Development at sea
At the end of the year, the Company had 
884 employees at sea against 793 in 
2011. 122 of these were directly employed 
by the Company (Danish officers and ca-
dets), while the remaining were vessel-
employed  on a non-permanent basis. The 
increase in the number of employees at 
sea reflects i.a. that the Company has built 
up a large and flexible pool of experienced 
officers, who can manage the operation of 
the Company’s vessels. 39 new vessel-em-
ployed officers are thus Indian, who have 
joined the Company as part of the prepara-
tions to take delivery of 4 product tankers 

as well as a wish for increased flexibility in 
crewing and lower costs.

In addition to the employees on board, 
there are pools of seamen in India and 
the Philippines, who only sign on to NOR-
DEN’s vessels. According to local collec-
tive agreements, they only receive a ser-
vice contract when they sign on a vessel. 
These pools are managed by dedicated 
NORDEN teams at recruitment offices in 
Manila and Mumbai.

In-house management of wages  
accounts
During the year, the office in Manila was 
expanded by 2 employees, who under 
management from the head office in 
Hellerup are responsible for payment of 
wages to all employees on board NOR-
DEN vessels – a task which was previously 
handled by external bureaus. In addition 
to quicker and more accurate payments, 
in-house management of these accounts 
has led to annual savings.

Educational involvement
In 2012, NORDEN hired 13 apprentices 
from Svendborg International Maritime 
Academy (SIMAC), Marstal Navigations-
skole (MARNAV) and Danish schools of 
marine engineering as well as 10 appren-
tices from Holy Cross of Davao College in 
Manila. Thus at year-end, NORDEN had 
37 apprentices from Danish institutions 
and 50 Philippine apprentices enrolled in 
education as part of the efforts to attain 
qualified employees for the growing fleet.

Apprentice programmes and scholarships 
together with health care insurance, addi-
tional training, bonus and wellbeing offers 
are some of the means which NORDEN 
uses to attract and retain officers from the 
Philippines where the maritime job mar-
ket remains under pressure. For instance, 
NORDEN has continued sponsoring the 
apprentices at Holy Cross of Davao Col-
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ORGANISATION, COMPETENCES 
AND SYSTEMS
•	 More	employees	–	lower	administrative	expenses	 •	 New	shipping	system	rolled	
out
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lege, who upon graduation are expected to 
sign on to the Company’s vessels. In 2012, 
the retention rate for sea-based staff was 
stable at approximately 81%.

COMPETENCES

More officer seminars
The Company is currently rolling out the 
competency system NORDEN Officer Ca-
reer Program (NOCaP), which draws up a 
development plan for each fleet officer’s 
competences and outlines uniform cri-
teria for each position. Thus, it becomes 
simpler to train newly employed officers, 
to offer existing officers career develop-
ment and to document progress. Relevant 
parts of NOCaP have been integrated in 
Safety Management System, and NOCaP 
is expected fully rolled out in the course 
of 2013.

The number of officer seminars at which 
the fleet officers are gathered physically for 
further training and competency develop-
ment has gone up. During the year, 3 of-
ficer seminars were held in Denmark, 2 in 
the Philippines and 1 in India.

On shore, the Company continued courses 
in negotiation technique to support busi-
ness, just as competency development of 
all employees was promoted by mid-year 
evaluations and appraisals in 2012.

SYSTEMS

New shipping system
On the systems side, 2012 was charac-
terised by the introduction and roll-out of 
the new shipping system IMOS, Integrated 
Maritime Operations System. IMOS sup-
ports all processes in connection with 
chartering and operation of the vessels, 
delivers data for invoicing of voyages and 
settlements as well as collects business 
critical information on i.a. capacity and 
coverage.

The roll-out of IMOS took place gradually 
and was planned so that the nuisances 
connected with a change of the primary 
business system could be minimised. 
Following a short period where the busi-
ness ran parallel on IMOS and NORDEN’s 
former shipping system, the Company 
has now completely transferred to IMOS, 

which is expected to make work more ef-
ficient.

New fleet management system
Simultaneously with IMOS, the Company 
has prepared for the introduction of the 
fleet management system Consultas, 
which collects all data on planned mainte-
nance, vetting, inspections, performance 
and purchase. Today, this data is reported 
in different systems.

The consolidation into one system will pro-
vide a better overview of fleet performance, 
and it will be easier for both vessels and 
the Technical Department to report data 
and follow up on this in a system in which 
data is automatically synchronised be-
tween vessels and land. Consultas is ex-
pected to be rolled out and implemented  
in the course of 2013.

On board NORDEN’s owned vessels, in-
vestments in better internet and telephone 
connections have been made with a view 
to improving the crews’ possibilities of 
communicating with family and friends. 

Furthermore, the Company has launched 
a mobile version of the website during the 
year.

Initiatives in 2013
The challenging market conditions put 
great demands on the abilities and com-

petences of the employees. Therefore, the 
Company will put renewed focus on per-
formance throughout 2013 to ensure that 
all employees have the opportunity to real-
ise their full potential.

2013 will also imply continued sharp fo-
cus on costs, and only a small number of 
new appointments is expected, and these 
will be directly related to business growth. 
Again, NORDEN aims at hiring 8-10 train-
ees, of which 1 will be a finance trainee. 
The final number will be determined in 
April. 

Internal communication is expected to be 
supported and strengthened by a new in-
tranet, which will smoothen and streamline 
knowledge sharing across departments.

At sea, the organisation will be expanded 
as the fleet grows, and NORDEN gets more 
vessels under technical management.

NORDEN targets to 
recruit more women 
for the trainee pro-
gramme. 

NORDEN has built up a large and flexible pool of experienced officers, who can manage 
the operation of the Company's vessels.
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REMUNERATION 
Remuneration policy
Remuneration at NORDEN is determined 
based on a remuneration policy present-
ed at and adopted by the general meet-
ing. The policy, which can be read on the 
website, aims for NORDEN to attract and 
retain qualified managers and employees, 
thus securing the basis for long-term value 
creation for the shareholders.

Elements of the remuneration policy in-
clude: competitive base salary and pen-
sion scheme, cash bonuses, share options 
and the possibility of employee shares. 
The share-based programmes are particu-
larly designed to promote the long-term 
conduct of managers and employees and 
ensure the community of interests be-
tween shareholders and employees.

The Board of Directors decides on the 
implementation of the remuneration pol-
icy upon recommendation from a remu-
neration committee under the Board of 
Directors, which in cooperation with the 
Executive Management ensures that re-
muneration matches NORDEN's needs, 
results and challenges. Again in 2012, the 
challenge has been to ensure that NOR-
DEN's remuneration enables the Company 
to recruit and retain competent managers 
and employees, but at the same time, it is 
important that NORDEN maintains a com-
petitive level of costs – not least in times 
with challenging market conditions.

Implementation of policy 
In January 2012, the Company granted all 
employees with at least one year’s seniority 
161 shares each. A change in legislation 
has eliminated the possibility of granting 
employees shares which are tax-free for 
the recipients. Therefore, this was as for 
now the last time NORDEN could make 
employees co-owners of the Company in 
this way.
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 No. of No. of Exercise Executive Manage- 
Year of grant people options period ment’s portion
2013 62 400,000 2016-19 41%*

2012 68 350,000 2015-18 23%

2011 65 350,000 2014-17 23%

2010 59 350,000 2013-16 25%

2009 59 379,185 2012-15 27%

* In 2012, the Executive Management was extended from 2 to 5 members.

In March 2012, the Board of Directors 
granted 350,000 share options to selected 
managers and employees. In determin-
ing the exercise price, a 20% margin was 
added to the market price at the grant date 
so that the employees only profit once the 
shareholders have received a 20% return. 
The theoretical market value of the options 
has been calculated at USD 2.4 million 
according to the Black-Scholes model. 
Senior Management is required to reinvest 
25% of any gain on their options in NOR-
DEN shares and to keep these shares for 
2 years.

On land, fixed salaries were raised by ap-
proximately 2-3% at the head office and 
4-5% at the overseas offices of which sev-
eral are placed in countries with higher 
inflation and wage drift. At sea, wages and 
salaries for Danish officers rose by ap-
proximately 1.2% whereas the wage drift 
for Philippine and Indian officers was 3%. 
The total payroll cost on land and at sea 
was also affected by new recruitments.

Adjustment of remuneration policy
At the general meeting in April, the Com-
pany will present a proposal for an ad-
justed remuneration policy offering more 
flexibility with regard to bonus allotment 
for employees who are not part of the 
Executive Management and the Board of 
Directors.

Though it is not a legal requirement or 
included in the recommendations on 
corporate governance, NORDEN’s cur-
rent remuneration policy also covers em-
ployees who are not part of the Executive 
Management and the Board of Directors. 
This implies that it is not possible to re-
ward employees who have performed par-
ticularly well in their department in spite of 
difficult conditions if the Company’s total 
results are neutral or negative. This was 

never the intention, and it is considered 
to be contrary to the purpose of attracting 
and retaining qualified employees. There-
fore, the Company will present a proposal 
for an adjusted remuneration policy at the 
general meeting.

If the shareholders adopt the new remu-
neration policy, bonus will be granted to a 
number of employees who have performed 
particularly well. The bonus allotment will 
continue to reflect the wish for restraint in 
difficult markets, and both the level of in-
dividual bonuses as well as the number of 
receiving employees will be lowered signif-
icantly. Subject to adoption at the general 
meeting, a total of USD 1.2 million will be 
granted in individual bonuses against USD 
2.6 million in 2011. The cost is fully rec-
ognised in the income statement for 2012. 
No one in the Executive Management will 
be awarded a bonus on this basis.

Initiatives in 2013
In March 2013, the Board of Directors will 
grant 400,000 share options to the Execu-
tive Management and selected managers 
and employees. In determining the exer-
cise price, a 10% margin is added to the 
market price at the grant date so that the 
employees only profit once the sharehold-
ers have received a 10% return. The terms 
are otherwise unchanged. The theoretical 
market value of the options has been cal-
culated at USD 1.6 million according to 
the Black-Scholes model.

To keep costs low in difficult markets, 
modest regulations of fixed salaries for 
employees on land and at sea have been 
made at the same level as that of 2012.
Possible bonus allotment will be deter-
mined at the end of the year. Bonus and 
remuneration for the Executive Manage-
ment is described on page 36.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Principles
NORDEN’s vision, mission and values are 
the cornerstone of the Company’s man-
agement. The management focus is long-
term, and the goal is for the Company to 
develop for the benefit of its stakeholders 
and – also in volatile markets – to achieve 
reasonable and fairly predictable earnings 
within the risk framework set out by the 
Board of Directors (i.a. see note 2 to the 
financial statements).

NORDEN has a two-tier management 
structure consisting of a Board of Direc-
tors and an Executive Management. There 
is no duality between the two bodies. The 
majority of the members of the Board of 
Directors are elected by the shareholders 
at the general meeting, the rest is elected 
by the employees. The general meeting is 
the supreme authority, and resolutions are 
adopted by simple majority of votes, un-
less otherwise provided by legislation or by 
NORDEN’s articles of association.

The Board of Directors determines strat-
egies, policies, goals and budgets. In ad-
dition, it sets out the risk management 
framework and supervises the work, 
procedures, etc. carried out by the daily 
management. The Board of Directors has 
the authority to distribute extraordinary 
dividends and a 1-year authority to author-

ise the Company’s acquisition of treasury 
shares. The Board of Directors is, howev-
er, not authorised to increase NORDEN’s 
share capital.

The Board of Directors appoints the Execu-
tive Management and sets out its responsi-
bilities and conditions. The Executive Man-
agement is responsible for the daily man-
agement, organisation and development of 
NORDEN, for managing assets, liabilities 
and equity, accounting and reporting, and 
it also prepares and implements the strat-
egies. The ongoing contact between the 
Board of Directors and the Executive Man-
agement is chiefly handled by the Chair-
man and the CEO. In addition, the Execu-
tive Management participates in the board 
meetings, just as other selected executives 
participate in the strategy meetings.

The work of the Board of Directors
In 2012, the Board of Directors held 14 
meetings – 9 physical meetings and 5 tel-
econferences. Attendance was 97% for 
the shareholder-elected board members 
while the figure was 69% for the employ-
ee-elected board members. To this should 
be added that the figure for the employee-
elected board members includes seafaring 
staff, who might be at sea during meetings 
and therefore is unable to attend. 

The Board of Directors sets out a work 
schedule to ensure that all relevant issues 
are discussed during the year and that im-
portant policies, rules of procedure, inter-
nal rules, etc. are discussed at least once 
a year. The strategy and budget process is 
first discussed at a seminar in October/No-
vember, while final adoption takes place at 
a meeting in December.

4 of the meetings in 2012 included the 
tasks which the Board of Directors under-
takes as audit committee. These responsi-
bilities include supervision of control and 
risk management systems, audits, financial 
reporting, etc. Its terms of reference are 
available on the website. The audit commit-
tee has placed special focus on discussing 
impairment test and write-downs as well 
as counterparty and credit risks. An expla-
nation of control and risk management in 
connection with the financial reporting can 
be seen at www.ds-norden.com/investor/
corporategovernance/riskmanagement. 

The remuneration committee under the 
Board of Directors held 3 meetings. The 
members of the committee are Mogens 
Hugo (Chairman), Karsten Knudsen and 
Arvid Grundekjøn, and their responsibility 
is to oversee the implementation of NOR-
DEN’s remuneration policy. Its terms of 
reference are available on the website.

Annual calendar of the Board of Directors and the audit committee

·  Review of the auditor’s records  
and draft of annual report

·  Market
·  Results
·  Share option programmes
· Preparation for annual general meeting

· Auditor’s independence
·  Appointment of auditor

·  Strategy follow-up 
·  Market
·  Results
·  Insurance policy
·  Bank policy

·  Audit plan for the year, incl. special focus 
areas

·  Strategy follow-up 
·  Market
·  Results
·  Rules of procedure
· Internal rules
· Financial calendar
· Board calendar

·  Special issues

·  Market
·  Results
·  Framework for next year's remuneration
·  Items for discussion: 
  Share option programmes 
  Corporate Governance 
  

·  Reporting – ongoing audit

· final strategy
·  Budget
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During 2012, the Board of Directors has 
built on the recommendations which ap-
peared from the evaluation of its work, 
composition and interaction with the Exec-
utive Management, which was conducted  
in 2011 with impartial consultancy sup-
port. The evaluation found that the coop-
eration and interaction within the Board of 
Directors and with the Executive Manage-
ment is very satisfactory.

Composition of the Board of Directors 
In 2012, the composition of the Board of 
Directors was changed. In March, em-
ployee election for the Board of Directors 
was held and resulted in re-election of 
Benn Pyrmont Johansen and new election 
of Ole Clausen and Jacob Koch Nielsen. 
In addition, the Board of Directors was ex-
tended by one person at the general meet-
ing as Klaus Nyborg was elected as part of 
the planned gradual generational change, 
while Mogens Hugo and Arvid Grundekjøn 
were re-elected for the Board of Directors. 
The Board of Directors thus has 9 mem-
bers – 6 elected by the shareholders and 3 
elected by the employees.

In order for the Board of Directors to be 
able to both perform its managerial and 
strategic tasks and act as a good sparring 
partner to the Executive Management, the 
following skills are deemed particularly 
relevant: insight into shipping (specifi-
cally within dry cargo and tankers), gen-
eral management, strategic development, 
risk management, investment, finance/
accounting as well as international expe-
rience. The current Board of Directors is 
considered to possess these skills. In the 
generational change of the Board of Direc-
tors, special emphasis is placed on ship-
ping knowledge and international manage-
ment experience.

Board remuneration 
Each member receives a base fee, and the 
Chairman and Vice Chairman receives a 
supplement fee. Due to the extension of 
the Board of Directors, the total annual re-
muneration for the 9 board members has 
increased by approximately 9% to DKK 
5,750,000 or a total of just above USD 1 
million. 

Corporate governance 
The Board of Directors has revisited the 
discussion of the recommendations from 
the Danish Committee on Corporate Gov-
ernance (www.corporategovernance.dk) 
and systematically responds to all recom-
mendations at www.ds-norden.com/public/
dokumenter/StatutoryStatementCorporate-
Governance2012.pdf. NORDEN complies 
with the vast majority of the recommenda-
tions, but has chosen a different and for 
the Company more suitable practice in 
some areas.

•	 It	is	recommended	that	companies	set	
measurable objectives for diversity at 
management level. NORDEN has not 
introduced quotas in terms of gender, 
nationality, age or the like as the can-
didate deemed best qualified for the 
specific function will be chosen in each 
case. This in itself will create diversity.

•	 According	to	the	recommendations,	all	
board members elected by the share-
holders should stand for re-election 
every year, but at NORDEN, the 2 
board members with the longest term 
retire every year. This model ensures 
continuity.

•	 The	entire	Board	of	Directors	makes	up	
the audit committee because matters 
such as financial conditions, risks, ac-
counting policies, audit and accounting 
estimates are of such importance that 
they must be discussed by the entire 
Board. In addition, the Board is of a 
size which warrants discussions of 
these matters to be efficient. Since the 
audit committee is made up by the en-
tire Board of Directors, the Chairman of 
the Board is also Chairman of the audit 
committee although this is not in com-
pliance with the recommendations.

•	 Currently,	 NORDEN	 does	 not	 have	 a	
nomination committee even though 
this is in the recommendations. The 
Chairman of the Board ensures that 
ongoing discussions are held and deci-
sions are made by the entire Board.

•	 According	 to	 the	 recommendations,	
performance criteria should be estab-
lished for the variable remuneration of 
the Executive Management. The work 
and performance of the Executive Man-
agement are assessed on an ongoing 
basis and always in connection with the 
annual negotiation with regard to remu-
neration of the Executive Management. 
A continuous dialogue on priorities, 
performance and results is deemed 
more important than mechanical yearly 
criteria. NORDEN does, however, have 
fixed criteria for the CEO. 

•	 Severance	 payments	 to	 the	 Executive	
Management constitute 1 year’s salary, 
but in case of a merger/takeover, etc., 
an additional severance payment of 2 
years’ salary is provided. The recom-
mendations prescribe a maximum of 2 
years’ salary. 

•	 NORDEN	discloses	the	total	amount	of	
remuneration for the Executive Man-
agement and the Board of Directors, 
not the remuneration of each member. 
The important thing is for the share-
holders to be able to consider the total 
amount of remuneration and its rea-
sonableness.

Initiatives in 2013
The Board of Directors has planned 11 
meetings, 4 of which are teleconferences 
in connection with the annual and in-
terim reports. To this should be added 4 
planned chairmanship meetings as well as 
meetings in the remuneration committee. 
As previously, the Board of Directors will 
discuss strategy and budget at 2 meetings 
at the end of the year.

In the first quarter, the Board of Directors 
will set target figures for the share of the un-
derrepresented gender on the Board and 
formulate a policy to increase the share of 
the underrepresented gender on the other 
management levels of the Company.

At the general meeting, it will be proposed 
that Alison J. F. Riegels and Karsten Knud-
sen be re-elected to the Board of Direc-
tors.

The voter turnout at 
the employee election 
in March 2012 was 
81.7% for onshore 
staff and 69.8% for 
sea-based staff.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
1 Mogens Hugo 
 Managing Director, born in 1943, 69 years. 
 Board member and Chairman since 1995. 

Most recently re-elected in 2012. Term ex-
pires in 2015. Other directorships: Nordea-
Fonden (CB), Nordea Bankfonden (CB), 
Capidea Management ApS (CB), Aagaard 
Kranz & Ziegler Holding A/S (CB), Dan 
Technologies A/S (CB), Fonden Tietgenkol-
legiet (CB), H.C. Ørsteds Fond (BM), Twins 
ApS (BM), Ejendomsselskabet BROGADE 
19 (MD) and HUGO INVEST 2 ApS (MD). 
Relevant skills: experience in operational 
and strategic management of listed inter-
national groups, strategic development, fi-
nance, risk management and considerable 
shipping knowledge.

2 Alison j. f. Riegels 
 Managing Director, born in 1947, 65 years. 
 Board member and Vice Chairman since 

1985. Most recently re-elected in 2010. 
Term expires in 2013. Other directorships: 
A/S Motortramp (MD, BM), Stensbygaard 
Holding A/S (MD, BM), Aktieselskabet af 
18. maj 1956 (BM), Ejendomsselskabet 
Amaliegade 49 A/S (BM) and A/S Damp-
skibsselskabet Orients Fond (BM). Rel-
evant skills: general management and 
considerable shipping knowledge from her 
long-standing engagement in NORDEN 
and other companies.

3 Erling Højsgaard
 Managing Director, born in 1945, 67 years. 
 Board member since 1989. Most recently 

re-elected in 2011. Term expires in 2014*. 
Other directorships: Continental Shipping 
ApS (CB), Navision Shipping Company A/S 
(CB), Dubai Commercial Investment A/S 
(CB), A/S Motortramp (VCB), K/S Danskib 
46 (BM), A/S Dampskibsselskabet Orients 
Fond (BM), Marinvest ApS (MD), Højs-
gaards Rederi ApS (MD) and Højsgaards 
Rederi II ApS (MD). Relevant skills: general 
management and long-standing experi-
ence in shipping, especially dry cargo, 
from management of own companies and 
his position as member of i.a. NORDEN’s 
Board of Directors.

4 Karsten Knudsen 
 Group Managing Director, born in 1953, 59 

years. 
 Board member since 2008. Most recently 

re-elected in 2011. Term expires in 2013. 
Other directorships: Nykredit Bank A/S 
(CB), Ejendomsselskabet Kalvebod A/S 
(CB), Nykredit Realkredit A/S (MD) and 
Nykredit Holding A/S (MD). Relevant skills: 
general management and strategy, broad 
financial experience, comprising account-
ing, investment banking and management 
of financial risks, including credit risks.

5 Arvid Grundekjøn 
 Mayor, Managing Director, born in 1955, 

57 years. 
 Board member since 2009. Most recently 

re-elected in 2012. Term expires in 2014. 
Other directorships: Creati Estate AS (CB), 
Sigma Fondene AS (CB), Cardid AS (MD, 
CB), Agrundco AS (MD, CB) and Citi Bank 
(Nordic Advisory BM). Relevant skills: gen-
eral management, strategic and operation-
al management of international shipping 
groups, strategy, financial and legal issues.

6 Klaus Nyborg 
 Managing director, born in 1963, 49 years.
 Board member since 2012. Term ex-

pires in 2015. Other directorships: Omni 
Fondsmæglerselskab A/S (CB), Green Mo-
bility A/S (CB), A/S United Shipping & Trad-
ing Company incl. 9 subsidiaries (VCB), 
Sixt A/S (BM), Karen og Poul F. Hansens 
Familiefond (BM) and Ipsa Capital, Sin-
gapore (MD). Relevant skills: experience 
in management of global, listed shipping 
companies, strategy, investment, sale and 
purchase, financial issues and risk man-
agement.

7 Benn Pyrmont johansen
 Captain, born in 1974, 38 years.
 Board member since 2008. Most recently 

re-elected in 2012. Term expires in 2015. 
Elected by the employees.

8 Ole Clausen 
 Senior Claims Manager, born in 1956, 56 

years.
 Board member since 2012. Term expires 

in 2015. Elected by the employees.

9 jacob Koch Nielsen 
 Operations Manager, born in 1979, 33 

years.
 Board member since 2012. Term expires 

in 2015. Elected by the employees.

CB: Chairman of the Board. VCB: Vice Chair-
man of the Board. BM: Board Member. MD: 
Managing Director. Age, directorships and 
shareholdings are stated at 31 December 
2012. The directorships do not include posi-
tions within the NORDEN Group.

* As the term expires for more than 2 board members 

in 2013, it has been determined by lot that Erling 

Højsgaard will not be up for re-election until 2014. 

Shareholdings of the Board of Directors
 
No. of shares  At 31/12  Changes in 
   2012 2012
Mogens Hugo 11,000 -

Alison J. F. riegels 3,100 -

Erling Højsgaard 45,770 -

Karsten Knudsen 800 -

Arvid grundekjøn 5,000 -

Klaus nyborg 1,700 +1,700

Benn Pyrmont Johansen 603 +161

ole Clausen 723 +161

Jacob Koch nielsen 723 +161

Total  69,419
 
In addition to the shares held personally by Ali-
son J. F. riegels and Erling Højsgaard or through 
their related parties, both are associated with A/S 
Motortramp, which holds 11,851,240 shares in 
norDEn.
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MANAGEMENT GROUP 
In May, Executive Vice President Peter Nor-
borg resigned from his position at his own re-
quest, and the Executive Management was in 
this connection extended and strengthened. 
This was done partly by the appointment of 
Ejner Bonderup as new head of the Dry Cargo 
Department and partly by the appointment of 
Lars Bagge Christensen and Martin Badsted 
to the Executive Management as at 1 July 
2012. 

After the extension, the Executive Manage-
ment consists of Carsten Mortensen, Presi-
dent and CEO, Michael Tønnes Jørgensen, 
Executive Vice President and CFO, Ejner 
Bonderup, head of the Dry Cargo Department 
and Executive Vice President, Lars Bagge 
Christensen, head of the Tanker Department 
and Executive Vice President, and Martin 
Badsted, head of the Corporate Secretariat 
and Executive Vice President. 

The Executive Management and the Compa-
ny's 4 Senior Vice Presidents form the Senior 
Management. The Senior Management was 
expanded at the end of the year as Vice Presi-
dent Mikkel Fruergaard was appointed Senior 
Vice President in December. 

Next management level is the Group Manage-
ment, which includes Senior Management 
and the Company's 8 Vice Presidents. Group 
Senior Vice President and head of NORDEN 
Shipping (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Peter Borup re-
signed from his position in 2012. Jakob Berg-
holdt, Director Accounts & Finance, NORDEN 
Shipping (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., replaced Peter 
Borup and was appointed Group Vice Presi-
dent in December 2012. 

Terms and remuneration 
The Executive Management's remuneration 
consists of a combination of fixed salary, vari-
able bonuses and share-based payment (op-
tions and employee shares). The members 
of the Executive Management have the usual 

benefits such as company car, but no pension 
plan paid by the Company. 

Expensed remuneration (including bonuses, 
options and employee shares) of the Executive 
Management totalled USD 3 million in 2012 
against USD 3 million in 2011. As a result of 
the extension of the Executive Management, 
the fixed salary for the 5 members totalled 
USD 2.8 million in 2012.

Carsten Mortensen had a bonus agreement 
for 2012, under which a bonus would be 
payable corresponding to 1% of the share of 
NORDEN’s operating profit (EBIT) which was 
above 4% of the Company’s market capitali-
sation (excluding treasury shares) at the be-
ginning of the year, limited, however, to DKK 
10 million. According to the agreement, 50% 
of the earned bonus would be payable when 
an audited annual report was available, and 
25% in each of the two following years subject 
to Carsten Mortensen’s continued employ-
ment with the Company. The agreement has 
not triggered a bonus for Carsten Mortensen 
for 2012, and the other members of the Ex-
ecutive Management have neither received 
a discretionary bonus for 2012. In addition, 
Carsten Mortensen had a conditional reten-
tion agreement, which could have triggered 
USD 0.3 million in 2012. Due to the results of 
the year, the amount was not paid to Carsten 
Mortensen, and the agreement has been dis-
continued.

Share-based remuneration to the Executive 
Management for 2012 was primarily com-
posed of options with a value of USD 0.7 mil-
lion (USD 0.7 million in 2011). At the grant 
date, the theoretical value of the options cor-
responded to 18% of the fixed salary of the 
Executive Management whereas the limit ac-
cording to NORDEN’s remuneration policy is 
150%. The value of granted employee shares 
in 2012 was DKK 22,770 for each member.

Termination and retention
The collective terms for the Executive Man-
agement and executives, including remunera-
tion and termination and retention schemes, 
serve to motivate and retain NORDEN's 
management group. In connection with the 
extension of the Executive Management, the 
newly-appointed members of the Executive 
Management were included in termination 
and retention terms, which essentially cor-
respond to the terms of the former Executive 
Management. 

The Executive Management's term of notice 
vis-à-vis the Company is 6 months, while 
NORDEN's term of notice vis-à-vis the mem-
bers of the Executive Management is 12 
months. NORDEN's terms of notice vis-à-vis 
the Senior Management (excluding the Ex-
ecutive Management) are 5-9 months, while 
the executives’ terms of notice vis-à-vis the 
Company are 1-4 months.

If members of the Executive Management step 
down following a change of control (merger, 
takeover, etc.), they will receive a special sev-
erance payment in addition to their normal 
salary in the notice period. This severance 
payment equals between 12 and 24 months’ 
salary. For parts of the Senior Management, 
there are similar change of control rights in 
the form of severance payment equalling 12 
months' salary in addition to their normal sal-
ary in the notice period. 

Options granted in 2013

Carsten Mortensen 70,562

Michael Tønnes Jørgensen 26,398

Ejner Bonderup 28,225

Lars Bagge Christensen 20,753

Martin Badsted 16,603

Senior Management, other 44,787

other executives and employees 192,672

The Senior Management is subject to a duty of notification, and pursuant to section 28A of the Danish Securities Act, norDEn shall report transactions in 
the Company’s shares conducted by the members of the Senior Management and their closely related parties.

Senior Management's shareholdings

 Shares Share options
 At Change in At Granted in Granted in Granted in Granted in 
 31/12/2012 2012   31/12/2012 2012 2011 2010 2009
Carsten Mortensen 49,763 +6,561 234,177 57,376 53,582 57,213 66,006

Michael Tønnes Jørgensen 853 +311 118,376 24,328 26,214 31,831 36,003

Ejner Bonderup - - - - - - -

Lars Bagge Christensen 2,843 +161 76,430 16,249 17,167 19,972 23,042

Martin Badsted 1,723 +161 45,626 10,282 10,764 11,859 12,721

Lars Lundegaard 723 +161 48,893 10,466 11,169 12,857 14,401

Kristian Wærness 4,223 +161 45,266 10,034 10,600 11,671 12,961

Vibeke Schneidermann 723 +161 37,599 8,262 8,790 9,986 10,561

Mikkel Fruergaard 723 +161 25,549 8,304 7,860 4,525 4,860

Total 61,574 +7,838 631,916 145,301 146,146 159,914 180,555
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Senior Management
1 Carsten Mortensen, President and CEO. 

Born in 1966. Employed in NORDEN since 
1997. Trained in shipping, holds a graduate 
diploma in International Business and has 
completed executive training programmes 
at INSEAD and Wharton Business School. 
Directorships: the Danish Shipowners’ As-
sociation (CB), A/S Dampskibsselskabet 
Orients Fond (BM), Tietgen Fonden (BM) 
and CAMO Shipping ApS (MD).

2 Michael Tønnes jørgensen, Executive 
Vice President and CFO. Born in 1966. 
Employed in NORDEN since 2009. 
Trained in shipping, holds a graduate 
diploma in Financial and Management 
Accounting and an M.Sc. in accounting. 
Has completed executive training pro-
grammes at INSEAD and IMD and holds 
an Executive MBA from IMD.

3 Ejner Bonderup, Executive Vice President 
and head of the Dry Cargo Department. 
Born in 1966. Employed in NORDEN since 
2012. Trained in shipping, holds an Acad-
emy Profession Degree in Financial Man-
agement from Niels Brock Copenhagen 
Business College and has completed ex-
ecutive training programmes at IESE Busi-
ness School and IMD. Directorships: Arås 
ApS (MD). 

4 Lars Bagge Christensen, Executive Vice 
President and head of the Tanker De-
partment. Born in 1963. Employed in 
NORDEN since 1993. Trained in ship-
ping and has completed executive train-
ing programmes at INSEAD and Wharton 
Business School. Directorships: the Busi-
ness Committee of the Danish Shipown-
ers’ Association (CB), North of England 
P&I Association (VCB) and INTERTANKO 
Council (BM).

5 Martin Badsted, Executive Vice President 
and head of the Corporate Secretariat and 
IR. Born in 1973. Employed in NORDEN 
since 2005. Holds an M.Sc. in international 
business.

6 Lars Lundegaard, Senior Vice President 
and head of the Technical Department. 
Born in 1957. Employed in NORDEN 
since 2002. Holds a master’s certificate 
and an MBA from Henley. Directorships: 
INTERTANKO's Council (BM), INTER-
TANKO’s technical committee (VCB), 
SeaMall ApS (BM) and the Negotiation 
Committee of the Danish Shipowners’ As-
sociation.

7 Kristian wærness, Senior Vice President 
and head of the Finance and Accounting 
Department. Born in 1968. Employed in 
NORDEN since 2002. Holds an M.Sc. in 
accounting.

8 Vibeke Schneidermann, Senior Vice 
President and head of Human Resourc-
es. Born in 1962. Employed in NORDEN 
since 2005. Holds a graduate diploma in 
Organisation and Management. Director-
ships: the Relief Foundation of the Danish 
Shipowners’ Association and the Founda-
tion for the Benefit of Mariners and the 
Maritime Industry.

9 Mikkel fruergaard, Senior Vice Presi-
dent and head of the Panamax charter-
ing section. Born in 1978. Employed in 
NORDEN since 2004. Trained in shipping 
and has completed executive training 
programmes at IMD.

CB: Chairman of the Board. VCB: Vice Chair-
man of the Board. BM: Board Member. MD: 
Managing Director. Directorships, etc. are 
stated at 31 December 2012 and do not in-
clude positions within the NORDEN Group.

Vice Presidents 
jakob Bergholdt, CEO at NORDEN Shipping 
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
Michael Boetius, head of NORDEN’s Post-
Panamax Pool and the Capesize chartering 
section. 
jens Christensen, head of the Dry Cargo  
operations section. 
Christian Danmark, finance manager. 
Christian Ingerslev, head of NORDEN’s 
Handysize Pool.  
Thomas jarde, head of the Handymax char-
tering section. 
Morten Ligaard, head of the Legal Depart-
ment. 
Henrik Lykkegaard Madsen, head of the  
Projects Department. 

Senior employees in Norient Product Pool
Søren Huscher, CEO.
jens Christophersen, Vice President.

Any bonuses to selected executives are typi-
cally payable in instalments subject to contin-
ued employment with and future earnings of 
the Company. Where relevant, NORDEN also 
grants bonuses, which are subject only to con-
tinued employment. 

Selected members of the Executive Manage-
ment and Senior Management have agree-
ments on stay-on bonuses, which may entail 
payment of a total of USD 0.4 million in 2014 
and USD 0.5 million in 2015. 

The Executive Management, parts of the Sen-
ior Management and selected Vice Presidents 
are subject to non-competition clauses of 
6-12 months. The Company will pay out com-
pensation corresponding to the full base sal-
ary of the person in question, in some cases 
with certain supplements, during the period in 
which the clauses apply.

Initiatives in 2013
In March 2013, NORDEN has granted the Ex-
ecutive Management 162,541 share options 
with a theoretical value of USD 0.7 million. 
The Executive Management’s share of the to-
tal option programme amounts to 41%.

The performance and results of the members of 
the Executive Management are assessed in the 
first quarter, and any adjustment of salary will 
take effect from 1 April. 
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SHAREHOLDER ISSUES 
Trading volume
The share's trading volume decreased by 
55% relative to 2011 to an average of DKK 
10.2 million per day. On average, 66,018 
shares were traded on a daily basis. 

At the end of 2012, NORDEN was the 
26th most traded share on NASDAQ OMX 
Copenhagen A/S based on the trading vol-
ume in the previous month.

Investor Relations 
It is NORDEN's goal that the share price re-
flects the Company's actual and expected 
ability to create value for its shareholders. 
NORDEN regularly provides relevant in-
formation on strategy, operations, results, 
expectations, markets and other matters 
affecting the assessment of the expected 
value creation in the Company.

In January 2012, NORDEN received the 
Information Prize from the Danish Society 
of Financial Analysts, and in connection 
with the award of the Annual Report Award 
2012 from the Confederation of Danish 
Industry and the Institute of State Author-
ized Public Accountants in Denmark in 
September, NORDEN received the special 
prize in the category “the Future“ for the 
Company's segment information and de-
scription of the company's business areas.

In June, a well-attended Capital Markets 
Day was held where the Company pro-
vided insight into a number of operational 

elements in the business model as well as 
additional perspectives on the strategic 
targets. Content and presentations from 
the Capital Markets Day are available on 
the Company's website. 

NORDEN strives to maintain an open, ex-
ternal communication, and in the course 
of the year, NORDEN has had an ongoing 
dialogue with analysts and investors and 
participated in a number of investor con-
ferences and seminars. The share contin-
ues to be monitored by 13 share analysts, 
and coverage remains largest in Denmark 
and Norway. 

In 2012, the Company issued 18 company 
announcements, 4 of which concerned 
insiders' transactions with the NORDEN 
share. 

financial calendar for 2013 

6 March Annual report 2012

13 March  Final deadline for any 
shareholder proposals to 
the agenda for the annual 
general meeting

24 April  Annual general meeting

1 May Payment of dividends

15 May   Interim report for the first 
quarter of 2013

14 August  Interim report for the first 
half of 2013

13 november  Interim report for the third 
quarter of 2013

Return to the shareholders 
The overall strategic goal of the strat-
egy plan Long-term Growth in Challeng-
ing Times is for NORDEN to ensure its 
shareholders a higher return over the 
3-year strategy period 2011-13 than that 
of comparable shipping companies. The 
Total Shareholder Return is measured by 
the total value of dividend payments, buy-
back of treasury shares and share price 
increases. In 2012, the return amounted 
to 25.2% and was thus significantly above 
the negative return of 1.4%, which was 
the weighted average of the return gener-
ated by a group of 7 comparable dry cargo 
and product tanker companies. This year, 
NORDEN has chosen another and smaller 
peer group compared to last year. This is 
due to the fact that NORDEN wishes to 
ensure comparability in relation to both fi-
nancial and business related conditions. If 
the change had not been made, the peer 
group would have generated a negative re-
turn of 29% in 2012. 

The share price development contributed 
substantially to the shareholder return in 
2012. In January, the share price was at 
DKK 134.50, and it closed at DKK 163.10 
at year-end. 

In April, the general meeting adopted a 
dividend of DKK 4 per share, correspond-
ing to approximately 35% of the net profit 
for 2011. The Board of Directors regularly 
assesses how cash flows are best distribut-
ed between the Company and sharehold-
ers. This assessment is based on actual 
and expected earnings, cash, market out-
look, risks, investment opportunities and 
liabilities on and off the balance sheet. 

Master data 

Share capital DKK 43 million

number of shares 43,000,000 of DKK 1

Classes of shares 1

Voting and owner- 
ship restrictions none

Stock exchange nASDAQ oMX  
 Copenhagen A/S

Ticker symbol DnorD

ISIn code DK00600083210

Bloomberg code DnorD.DC

reuters code DnorD.Co 
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Total Shareholder Return 3 years (1/1 2010 = 100)

 norDEn  Peers

The Total Shareholder return of the peer group is calculated based on 4 dry cargo companies (Pacific 
Basin, golden ocean, Diana Shipping and Safe Bulkers) and 3 product tanker companies (Scorpio, 
Teekay Tankers and d’Amico), the average return of which is weighted on a 60/40 basis in favour of the 
dry cargo companies.
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Composition of shareholders

 A/S Motortramp, Stensved, Denmark 
 PoLySHIPPIng AS, Kristiansand, norway 
 norDEn (treasury shares) 
 other top 20 shareholders 
 other registered 
 non-registered 

8.7%

27.6%

11.3%

4.0%
21.9%

26.5%

Capital and shareholders 
The share capital is DKK 43 million. All 
shares remain listed, and no changes have 
been made to their rights and transferability.

The number of registered shareholders 
decreased by approximately 7% during 
the year to a total of 16,297 registered 
shareholders at year-end, in aggregate 
owning 91.4% of the share capital (89.2% 
in 2011). 

2 shareholders have announced that they 
own 5% or more of the Company's shares. 
They are A/S Motortramp and POLYSHIP-
PING AS. The 2 shareholders have en-
tered into a shareholder agreement, which 
was most recently updated in 2010 (see 
company announcement no. 10/2010). 

The third largest shareholder is NORDEN 
with 1,722,161 treasury shares used 
mainly to cover share option programmes. 
The holding of treasury shares decreased 
from 4.2% to 4.0% in connection with the 
distribution of employee shares. 

Other large shareholders are especially in-
vestors from Denmark, Norway, the USA 
and Great Britain. During the year, the in-
ternational ownership share has increased 
from 35% to 40%, and at year-end, the 
Company had 693 registered sharehold-
ers outside Denmark. 

Initiatives in 2013 
The Board of Directors recommends for 
approval by the annual general meeting 
that NORDEN for 2012 pays a dividend of 
DKK 3 per share, or an expected distribu-

tion of DKK 124 million (excluding treas-
ury shares). The dividend corresponds to 
a dividend yield of 2% based on the share 
price at the end of 2012.

As mentioned in the sections “Highlights 
2012-13“ and “Financial position“, NOR-
DEN will initiate a share buy-back in 2013 
at a value of up to USD 30 million. 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

DKK

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Dividend per share

The Board of Directors proposes that a dividend of DKK 3 per share be paid out corresponding to a total of USD 22 million. Further-
more, the Board of Directors has decided to initiate a share buy-back programme, which will entail the buy-back of NORDEN shares 
at a value of up to USD 30 million over the next four quarters. 

Every quarter, CEO 
Carsten Mortensen 
presents the latest 
results in a 5-minute 
long film on NOR-
DEN's website. 
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 

This section provides a brief overview of 
NORDEN’s focus areas within Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR). The Com-
pany's statutory CSR statement in ac-
cordance with section 99 of the Danish 
Financial Statements Act can be found in 
NORDEN's Corporate Social Responsibility 
Report 2012 – On the right course, which 
functions as the Company's Communica-
tion on Progress (COP) report. The report 
provides a more detailed outline of the 
Company’s CSR efforts, results and future 
targets and is available at www.ds-norden.
com/profile/csr/csrreports/.

CSR strategy
NORDEN focuses on the areas within CSR 
which are directly connected with the 
business. In 2012, the Company adopted 
a CSR strategy under the headline On the 
right course, which sets a clear course for 
CSR in NORDEN in the period 2013-15. 
The strategy supports the Company’s busi-
ness strategy and identifies 7 focus areas:

•	 CO2 efficiency
•	 Vessel	safety
•	 Employee	conditions
•	 Transparency

•	 Anti-corruption
•	 Environmental	management
•	 Responsible	supply	chain	management

CO2 efficiency
NORDEN wishes to reduce CO2 emissions 
as reduction not only benefits the environ-
ment but is also directly connected with 
the vessels’ fuel consumption and thus 
fuel costs. NORDEN aims to reduce CO2 
emissions from owned vessels, exclud-
ing vessels on contract to third parties, by 
25% by 2020 compared to the 2007 level. 
This target is level with the target set by 
the Danish Shipowners’ Association. To 
reach this target, the Company focuses 
on three areas: technical improvements 
such as implementing the 10 initiatives 
in NORDEN's climate action plan, speed 
optimisation such as right steaming, which 
implies that speed is adjusted to external 
conditions and time of call and continued 
operation of a new, modern and fuel effi-
cient fleet by investing in new fuel efficient 
vessels and optimising existing vessels. 

The reductions have been calculated ac-
cording to the Cargo Energy Efficiency 
Operational Indicator (Cargo EEOI) of the 

International Maritime Organisation (IMO) 
under the UN, which makes it possible to 
compare the yearly CO2 reduction regard-
less of changes in fleet size. It is defined 
as the amount of CO2, which is emitted 
per each ton of cargo being transported 1 
nautical mile1. NORDEN uses Cargo EEOI 
as this focuses on laden voyages and ex-
cludes voyages in ballast.

Since 2007, the Cargo EEOI has decreased 
as NORDEN has reduced CO2 emissions 
from owned tankers, excluding vessels on 
contract to third parties, by 14.2%. In the 
same period, CO2 emissions from owned 
and operated tankers, excluding vessels 
on contract to third parties, have been 
reduced by 11.3%. CO2 emissions from 
owned dry cargo vessels, excluding ves-
sels on contract to third parties, have been 
reduced by 18.3%, whereas CO2 emis-
sions from owned and operated dry cargo 
vessels, excluding vessels on contract to 
third parties, have been reduced by 4.4%. 
NORDEN’s owned vessels are more fuel 
efficient than some of the chartered ves-
sels i.a. due to the Company’s climate 
initiatives, which explains the difference in 
the above dry cargo data. 

•	 Development	of	CSR	strategy	and	Employee	Code	of	Conduct	 •	 Updated	 
anti-corruption policy

0%                                  18.3%            25%

0%                  98%

0%                 100%

0%                 100%

reduce Co2 emissions by 25% from 2007 to 2020 from 
owned dry cargo vessels, excluding vessels on contract to 
third parties (Cargo EEoI)

reduce Co2 emissions by 25% from 2007 to 2020 from 
owned tanker vessels, excluding vessels on contract to third 
parties (Cargo EEoI)

Pass all Port State Controls (PSC) without detentions in 
2012

Zero incidents of piracy on owned vessels in 2012

reduction of weighted average sulphur content in total 
bunker purchased of 2.45% in 2012

0%     14.2%                 25%

1  norDEn only calculates EEoI for voyages where norDEn controls the operation of the vessel. Time charter voyages are excluded from EEoI as norDEn 
does not control the operation of the vessel and therefore has no influence on various parameters affecting EEoI, including cargo utilisation and speed orders. 
See norDEn’s CSr report for further information.   
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY 
Vessel safety
In 2012, NORDEN continued its vetting 
efforts and had an average of 5.33 vetting 
remarks per inspection compared to an 
industry average of 5.902. In 2011, NOR-
DEN had 4.76 remarks per vetting inspec-
tion. One of the reasons for the increasing 
number of remarks is changes in the fleet 
and newly appointed seamen, who have 
to be familiarised with NORDEN’s systems 
and procedures. 

NORDEN had an average of 1.61 deficien-
cies per vessel per Port State Control in 
2012, which means that the Company's 
target of no more than 0.8 deficiencies 
per vessel was not met. There is no clear 
indication of the overrun of the target, but 
an action plan has been initiated in order 
to reduce the number of deficiencies. The 
Company experienced 2 detentions in 
connection with the 85 Port State Controls, 
which took place during the year.

NORDEN has continued its efforts against 
piracy, and there were no incidents of piracy 
on NORDEN's vessels in 2012, just like no 
incidents or accidents leading to environ-
mental pollution occurred during the year.

Employee conditions
NORDEN wants to offer the employees a 
working environment where they feel chal-
lenged, motivated and safe. The Company 
focuses on maintaining a high retention 
rate both at sea and on shore. 

Vessel operations must be as safe as pos-
sible, and an important part of this work is 
the reporting of near-misses. Near-miss re-
fers to situations, which could have led to 
an accident if they had further developed. 
The goal is to receive as many reports as 
possible as these reflect the employees’ 
focus on safety. In 2012, NORDEN had 
an average of 1.44 reports per vessel per 
week, thus meeting the target of minimum 
1 report per vessel per week.

Transparency
NORDEN wants to communicate openly 
and relevantly to its stakeholders through 
its general CSR reporting and by making 
data available for the independent British 
non-profit organisation Carbon Disclosure 
Project (CDP), who assesses enterprises’ 

reporting practice in connection with cli-
mate changes. In 2012, the Company im-
proved its CDP ranking going from number 
17 to number 7 and is the only shipping 
company in the Nordic top 10. The Com-
pany's whistleblower system has neither 
been used in 2012. 

Anti-corruption
During 2012, NORDEN continued its work 
in the Maritime Anti-Corruption Network 
(MACN) and was admitted to MACN’s 
steering committee. The Company’s anti-
corruption policy from 2009 has been 
updated so that it now reflects the current 
work and focus within anti-corruption. In 
addition, NORDEN is in the process of de-
veloping registration procedures for facili-
tation payments – small payments made 
for services to which a party is entitled le-
gally or otherwise. Registration will enable 
the Company to monitor and estimate the 
extent of facilitation payments, and it is 
therefore an important element in pursu-
ing the target of reducing facilitation pay-
ments. 

Environmental management
NORDEN’s business has an impact on the 
environment, and therefore, the Company 
focuses on reducing its environmental 
footprint. The aim is to reduce emissions 
of SOx by purchase of bunker with reduced 
sulphur content as emissions of SOx are 
harmful to people and the environment. 
In 2012, NORDEN’s weighted average sul-
phur content was 2.31% for bunker pur-
chased for operated vessels, thus reaching 

the target of 2.45%. Upon recommenda-
tion by Det Norske Veritas (DNV), who ver-
ifies the Company’s environmental data, 
NORDEN has gone from reporting on sim-
ple average sulphur content to weighted 
average sulphur content as weighted aver-
age sulphur content provides a more fair 
depiction of the SOx emissions.

In 2012, the IMO’s regulations concerning 
garbage (MARPOL) have been updated, 
and to comply with the new requirements, 
NORDEN has updated the Company’s 
procedures. NORDEN reduced waste (ex-
cluding category 4 – i.e. cargo waste)3 from 
owned vessels in technical management by 
NORDEN by 8%. The target was 5%.  

Responsible supply chain management
NORDEN has commenced its work within 
responsible supply chain management by 
entering into an industry cooperation and 
developing a common industry toolbox for 
responsible supply chain management. 
The work is based on the UN Guiding Prin-
ciples on Business and Human Rights.

Initiatives in 2013
The CSR strategy will be rolled out and 
implemented in the organisation in the 
beginning of 2013. For the purpose of in-
creasing transparency, the Company has 
also developed an Employee Code of Con-
duct providing the employees with instruc-
tions on how to handle different everyday 
situations. The Code of Conduct will also 
be rolled out in the beginning of 2013. 

2 The Tanker Safety Forum’s benchmark is used as industry benchmark (end-october 2012).
3 norDEn sorts waste on the vessels in 6 categories according to IMo’s MArPoL convention.
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2010
0

125

250

375

500

625

750

0.0

0.4

0.8

1.2

1.6

2.0

2.4

2011 2012

Near-miss reporting

 number of reports   near-miss reports per owned vessel in technical management by norDEn per week

An important step towards better safety on board the vessels is attention towards situations which could 
have gone wrong. NORDEN has a target of minimum 1 report on such incidents per vessel per week and 
also reached this target in 2012. 
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
The Group presents its financial state-
ments in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
adopted by the EU and additional Da nish 
disclosure requirements relating to the 
presentation of financial statements by 
listed companies. The Group’s accounting 
policies are unchanged from last year.

The financial statements of the parent 
company, Dampskibsselskabet NORDEN 
A/S, are presented in accordance with the 
Danish Financial Statements Act.

For additional information, see note 1 to 
the financial statements “Significant ac-
counting policies”.

RESULTS fOR THE YEAR AND EQUITY

The Group’s profit from operations before 
write-downs amounted to USD 35 million 
(USD 104 million), including loss on the 
sale of vessels of USD 24 million (USD 0 
million). The fleet has been written down 
by USD 300 million in 2012. For further 
information, see below and the section 
“Fleet values”.

EBIT constituted a loss of USD 265 million 
(profit of USD 104 million).

Results for the year after tax was a loss of 
USD 279 million (profit of USD 88 million), 
including a negative fair value adjustment 
of USD 10 million (USD 15 million). The 
results provide earnings per share (EPS) of 
a negative USD 6.8 (a positive USD 2.1).

Equity decreased to USD 1,687 million 
(USD 1,994 million). The drop is specified 
as follows:

Significant accounting choices
Vessels chartered by NORDEN, but in 
relation to which the risks and rewards 
of ownership based on an overall assess-
ment of the individual lease have not been 
transferred to the Group, are accounted 
for as operating leases and recognised in 
the income statement on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. As shown 
in note 21 to the financial statements at 31 
December 2012, the Group had operat-
ing lease liabilities (undiscounted) in the 
amount of USD 1,878 million (USD 2,007 
million), which are recognised in the in-
come statement when incurred over the 
period 2013-22.

The lease liabilities do not represent the 
Group’s net exposure since liabilities are 
hedged on an ongoing basis in accordance 
with the Group’s risk management policy, 
see note 2 to the financial statements.

The Group’s vessels are recognised in 
the statement of financial position at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and write-
downs.

The carrying amount of the vessels is con-
tinually compared with earnings opportu-
nities and value indicators of the vessels. If 
there is indication of impairment exceed-
ing the annual depreciation, the vessels 
are written down to the lower recoverable 
amount. Other accounting decisions are 
described in note 1 to the financial state-
ments.

Significant accounting estimates
Receivables are measured at amortised 
cost less provisions for impairment losses. 
Estimates of provisions for bad debt are de-
termined on the basis of an evaluation of the 
customers’ ability and willingness to pay, in-
cluding credit rating and received collateral. 
For further specification of receivables, see 
note 13 to the financial statements.

Revenue
In 2012, NORDEN’s revenue (freight in-
come) decreased by 6% to USD 2,131 
million in spite of increased activity in 
terms of a 7% increase in the number of 
ship days. This was primarily due to lower 
freight rates.

Dry Cargo
In Dry Cargo, the activity level in terms 
of ship days was up 6% in 2012. Freight 
income amounted to USD 1,731 million 
(USD 1,936 million) equalling a drop of 
11%. The drop was due to lower freight 
rates.

EBIT after write-downs of USD 260 million 
constituted a loss of USD 207 million (a 
profit of USD 127 million), including loss 
on the sale of vessels of USD 25 million 
(USD 0 million). Due to the extensive addi-
tion to the owned Dry Cargo fleet in 2011 
and 2012, depreciation increased to USD 
50 million (USD 45 million).

Tankers
The Tanker activity in terms of ship days 
was up 14% compared to last year. Freight 
income amounted to USD 400 million 
(USD 336 million), and the increase was 
chiefly attributable to the higher activity.

EBIT after write-downs of USD 40 million 
constituted a loss of USD 44 million (a loss 
of USD 8 million).

financials
Financial income amounted to USD 10 
million (USD 10 million) and primarily 
related to interest income on demand de-
posits with banks and foreign exchange 
gains mainly relating from cash in DKK.

Financial expenses amounted to USD 8 
million (USD 6 million), consisting of in-
terest on and other expenses relating from 
loans. The increase is a result of further 
borrowing of USD 25 million. For further 
specification of interest rate risks, see note 
2 to the financial statements.

fair value adjustment of certain  hedging 
instruments
Fair value adjustment of derivative finan-
cial instruments which did not qualify for 
hedge accounting under IFRS relates to 
Forward Freight Agreements (FFAs) and 
bunker hedging contracts. The cost of 
USD 10 million (USD 15 million) relates to 
bunker hedging contracts.

The net cost of USD 10 million comprises 
reclassifications of a negative USD 32 mil-

Changes in equity, USD million

Equity at 1 january 2012 1,994
Total comprehensive income  
for the year -282

Distributed dividends -29

Share-based payment 4

Equity at 31 December 2012 1,687

The distributed dividend amounted to DKK 
4 per share equalling a total of DKK 165 
million or USD 29 million, excluding trea-
sury shares.
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lion and value adjustments of unrealised 
contracts of USD 22 million. The reclas-
sifications cover value adjustments from 
previous financial years of contracts re-
alised in 2012. Due to increasing bunker 
prices and decreasing freight rates, the 
Company had recognised USD 32 million 
in unrealised gains from these contacts. 
As the contracts are realised during the 
period, these gains are reclassified (as 
income) under operating items. In doing 
so, NORDEN achieves the intended cover-
age of the increasing costs relating from 
the period’s physical bunker purchase and 
of the decreasing freight income from the 
physical ship capacity. The reclassification 
is allocated with USD 19 million relating to 
bunker contracts and USD 13 million re-
lating to freight income.

Value adjustments in the amount of USD 
22 million of unrealised contracts relate to 
coverage of bunker prices and freight rates 

regarding 2012-18. For further specifica-
tion, see note 6 to the financial statements.

Tax on results for the year
The Company’s taxable income comprises 
income related to shipping activities as 
computed in accordance with the Da nish 
Tonnage Tax Act and other activities, in-
cluding net financial income, computed 
in accordance with the general tax rules. 
Tax on the results for the year amounted 
to USD 5 million (USD 6 million), of which 
tonnage tax constitutes USD 3 million and 
tax on other activities constitutes USD 2 
million. Other activities primarily relate to 
subsidiaries as well as technical and com-
mercial management.

STATEMENT Of fINANCIAL POSITION

Assets
The Company’s total assets at 31 Decem-
ber 2012 amounted to USD 2,033 million 
(USD 2,350 million) equalling a 13% de-
crease. The decrease was due to a com-
bination of write-downs and disposals of 
tangible assets in the form of vessels and 
newbuildings, increasing freight receiva-
bles and inventories as well as interest-
bearing assets.

Vessels
At the end of 2012, the Group had 41 
owned vessels at sea, which was a net de-
crease of 2.5 vessels compared to the pre-
vious year. The net decrease constitutes 
addition of 5.5 newbuildings and delivery 
of 8 sold vessels, including joint ventures. 

Impairment test
Expressed as the average of 3 independ-
ent broker valuations, the net selling price 
of the Group’s fleet and newbuildings, ex-
cluding vessels in joint ventures and as-
sets held for sale, totalled USD 1,088 mil-
lion at the end of 2012, which was USD 
138 million below the carrying amounts. 
The cash generating units (CGUs) Dry 
Cargo and Tankers were USD 61 million 
and USD 77 million, respectively, below 
the carrying amounts.

Consequently, impairment tests were per-
formed for both CGUs. Impairment tests 
are conducted by comparing the recov-

erable amounts obtainable from contin-
ued operation of the fleets of the 2 CGUs, 
calculated as the present value of total 
estimated cash flows over the remaining 
useful lives of the vessels, including COAs 
entered into, T/C coverage and estimated 
rates for uncovered capacity. 

As part of the basis for the evaluation of 
long-term values, value in use of the 2 
CGUs is estimated by applying 20-year 
historical average rates with the 3 and 4, 
respectively, highest/lowest observations 
removed.

The carrying amounts of Dry Cargo and 
Tankers, excluding joint ventures and as-
sets held for sale, were USD 644 million 
and USD 581 million, respectively. Ap-
plying 20-year average rates – with the 3 
and 4, respectively, highest/lowest obser-
vations removed – to uncovered days and 
a discount factor of 8%, value in use for 
Dry Cargo is USD 2 million and negative 
USD 44 million, respectively, and for Tank-
ers negative USD 12 million and negative 
USD 36 million, respectively, compared to 
the carrying amounts.

In the short term, the dry cargo market is 
affected by a large number of deliveries to 
the global fleet in 2012 and some slow-
down in the world economy. In the long 
term, the dry cargo market is expected to 
improve due to increased scrapping of old 
tonnage as well as increasing demand, i.a. 
as a result of a recovering world economy. 
Already in 2013, net growth in the global 
dry cargo fleet is expected to drop to 4-7% 
against 10.4% in 2012. The long-term 
rates are expected to outperform the ad-
justed 20-year average rates. 

In the long term, the tanker market is ex-
pected to improve from the current, very 
low levels, and the rates are also expected 
to outperform the adjusted 20-year aver-
age rates. The order book is relatively 
small, and demand is expected to grow 
partly due to increasing consumption and 
partly due to longer transport distances 
as new refineries are typically being es-
tablished in areas further away from the 
countries with the largest oil consumption.
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Against this background, management as-
sesses that value in use of both the Dry 
Cargo as well as the Tanker fleet corre-
sponds to the carrying amounts as a mini-
mum, and, accordingly, there is no need 
for further write-downs.

financial assets
Financial assets comprising investments 
in joint ventures amounted to USD 13 
million (USD 21 million). The decrease is 
primarily due to write-downs on vessels in 
joint ventures constituting USD 10 million.

Inventories
The Group’s inventories, which include 
bunker inventories on board owned 
vessels, amounted to USD 111 million 
(USD 89 million). The increase is due to 
a change in the proportion of cross over 
voyages between single voyages and time 
charters. With time charters, inventories 
are owned by the customer during the 
voyage which is not the case with single 
voyages.

freight receivables and trade payables
Total finance contribution from freight re-
ceivables and trade payables decreased 
by USD 33 million. The change comprises 
an increase in freight receivables of USD 
15 million and a decrease in trade paya-
bles of USD 18 million.

The Group’s freight receivables increased 
to USD 126 million (USD 111 million), 
which is due to more cross over voyages 
and the fact that customers to a greater 
extent withhold cash flows to hedge NOR-
DEN’s payment of bunker inventories on 
redelivery from the customers of time 
charter vessels. Freight receivables total-
ling USD 6 million (USD 5 million) are 
subject to uncertainty, and a write-down 
of USD 5 million has therefore been made 
in this respect. Both receivables subject 
to uncertainty and write-downs hereof are 
thus in line with 2011.

Securities
The portfolio of securities amount to USD 
75 million (USD 71 million). Investing in 
securities is part of NORDEN’s optimisa-
tion of the return on liquidity at low risk. All 
bonds have high credit ratings.

CASH fLOwS

The Group’s cash represents total liquidity 
at 31 December 2012. All cash is at the 
Company’s disposal within 3 months.

The Group’s cash increased by USD 118 
million to USD 454 million in 2012. Cash 
consists mainly of USD and DKK bank de-
posits.

Operating activities contributed with USD 
122 million (USD 120 million) and are 
thus in line with last year in spite of lower 
earnings. Compared to 2011, net funds 
tied up in working capital (bunker inven-
tories, freight receivables, trade payables) 
have not increased to the same extent.

In 2012, USD 168 million (USD 358 mil-
lion) was invested in vessels and new-
buildings, etc., and proceeds from the sale 
of vessels amounted to USD 174 million 
(USD 28 million). Cash flows from invest-
ing activities were a net inflow of USD 7 
million (outflow of USD 355 million).

Cash flows from financing activities 
amounted to an outflow of USD 38 mil-
lion (an inflow of USD 18 million). Of this, 
shareholder dividends represented an out-
flow of USD 29 million, repayments of debt 
represented an outflow of USD 34 million 
and incurrence of ship financing repre-
sented an inflow of USD 25 million.
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SignatureS
Statement by the Board of Directors 
and Executive Management
the executive Management and the Board 
of Directors have today considered and 
adopted the annual report of Dampskib-
sselskabet nOrDen a/S for the financial 
year 1 January – 31 December 2012.

the consolidated financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with international 
Financial reporting Standards as adopted 
by the eu, and the financial statements of 
the parent company are prepared in ac-
cordance with the Danish Financial State-
ments act. Moreover, the consolidated 
financial statements and the financial 
statements of the parent company are 

prepared in accordance with additional 
Danish disclosure requirements for listed 
companies. the management commen-
tary is also prepared in accordance with 
Danish disclosure requirements for listed 
companies.

in our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements and the financial statements of 
the parent company give a true and fair 
view of the financial position at 31 De-
cember 2012 of the group and the parent 
company and of the results of the group’s 
and the parent company’s operations and 
the group’s consolidated cash flows for 
the financial year 2012. 

in our opinion, the management commen-
tary provides a fair review of the develop-
ment in the operations and financial cir-
cumstances of the group and the parent 
company, of the results for the year and of 
the financial position of the group and the 
parent company as well as a description of 
the most significant risks and elements of 
uncertainty, which the group and the par-
ent company are facing.

We recommend that the annual report be 
adopted at the annual general meeting.

Copenhagen, 6 March 2013

Executive Management

Carsten Mortensen Michael tønnes Jørgensen  ejner Bonderup
President & CeO executive Vice President & CFO executive Vice President

Lars Bagge Christensen Martin Badsted 
executive Vice President executive Vice President

Board of Directors

Mogens Hugo alison J. F. riegels erling Højsgaard 
Chairman Vice Chairman

Karsten Knudsen     arvid grundekjøn Klaus nyborg

Benn Pyrmont Johansen Ole Clausen Jacob Koch nielsen
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of  
Dampskibsselskabet NORDEN A/S

REPORT ON CONSOLIDATED fINAN-
CIAL STATEMENTS AND PARENT 
COMPANY fINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the consolidated finan-
cial statements and the parent company fi-
nancial statements of Dampskibsselskabet 
NORDEN A/S for the financial year 1 Janu-
ary – 31 December 2012. The consolidat-
ed financial statements comprise income 
statement, statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of financial position, 
statement of cash flows, statement of 
changes in equity and notes. The financial 
statements of the parent company com-
prise income statement, balance sheet, 
statement of changes in equity and notes. 
The consolidated financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the EU, and the parent company finan-
cial statements are prepared under the 
Danish Financial Statements Act. Moreo-
ver, the consolidated financial statements 
and the parent company financial state-
ments are prepared in accordance with 
Danish disclosure requirements for listed 
companies.

Management’s responsibility for the con-
solidated financial statements and the 
parent company financial statements
Management is responsible for the prepara-
tion of the consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accord-
ance with International Financial Report-
ing Standards as adopted by the EU and 
Danish disclosure requirements for listed 
companies and for preparing parent com-
pany financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with the Danish 
Financial Statements Act and Danish dis-
closure requirements for listed companies, 
and for such internal control as manage-

ment determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements and parent company financial 
statements that are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements 
and the parent company financial state-
ments based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing and additional re-
quirements under Danish audit regulation. 
This requires that we comply with ethi-
cal requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the consolidated financial state-
ments and the parent company financial 
statements are free from material mis-
statement.

An audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the consolidated finan-
cial statements and the parent company 
financial statements. The procedures se-
lected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements and the parent com-
pany financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assess-
ments, the auditor considers internal con-
trol relevant to the Company’s preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements 
and parent company financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in order to de-
sign audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the pur-
pose of expressing an opinion on the effec-
tiveness of the Company’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the ap-
propriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting es-
timates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the 

consolidated financial statements and the 
parent company financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropri-
ate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

The audit has not resulted in any qualifi-
cation. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the 
Group’s assets, liabilities and financial po-
sition at 31 December 2012 and of the 
results of the Group’s operations and cash 
flows for the financial year 1 January – 31 
December 2012 in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the EU and Danish disclosure 
requirements for listed companies.

Moreover, in our opinion, the parent com-
pany financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the parent company’s assets, 
liabilities and financial position at 31 De-
cember 2012 and of the results of the par-
ent company’s operations for the financial 
year 1 January – 31 December 2012 in ac-
cordance with the Danish Financial State-
ments Act and Danish disclosure require-
ments for listed companies.

STATEMENT ON MANAGEMENT  
COMMENTARY
We have read the management commen-
tary in accordance with the Danish Fi-
nancial Statements Act. We have not per-
formed any procedures additional to the 
audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the parent company financial 
statements. On this basis, in our opinion, 
the information provided in the manage-
ment commentary is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements and the 
parent company financial statements.

Copenhagen, 6 March 2013

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Statsautoriseret Revisionspartnerselskab

Jens Otto Damgaard Rasmus Friis Jørgensen
State Authorised Public Accountant State Authorised Public Accountant
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Income statement  
1 January – 31 December

Note Amounts in USD’000   2012  2011

 3 Revenue 2,131,439  2,272,819   

 3 other operating income, net 6,380 5,213   
  Vessel operating costs -1,940,213    -2,038,816   
 4 other external costs -13,031    -16,215   
 5 staff costs, onshore employees -36,644 -36,555
  Profit before depreciation, etc. (EBITDA) 147,931 186,446

  Profits from the sale of vessels, etc. -23,944 -242
 11 Depreciation -88,535 -81,185
 12 share of results of joint ventures -841 -530
  Profit from operations before write-downs 34,611 104,489

 12 Write-downs on joint ventures -10,000 0
 11 Write-downs on vessels and newbuildings -290,000 0
  Profit from operations (EBIT) -265,389 104,489

 6 Fair value adjustment of certain hedging instruments -10,132 -14,897
 7 Financial income 9,570 9,504
 8 Financial expenses -7,908 -5,762
  Profit before tax -273,859 93,334

 9 tax for the year -4,990    -5,541
  PROFIT FOR THE YEAR -278,849 87,793

  attributable to:  
  shareholders of norDen -278,847 87,795
  minority interests -2    -2   
   -278,849 87,793

 10 Earnings per share (EPS), USD  
  basic earnings per share -6.76    2.13
  Diluted earnings per share -6.76    2.13

statement oF comPrehensIVe Income  
1 January – 31 December

Note Amounts in USD’000   2012  2011

  Profit for the year, after tax -278,849 87,793

  Items which will be reclassified to the income statement:  
 17 Value adjustment of hedging instruments -5,285 -12,026
 17 Fair value adjustment of securities 2,607    11,720
 17 tax on fair value adjustment of securities -473    0
  other comprehensive income, total -3,151 -306

  Total comprehensive income for the year, after tax -282,000 87,487

  attributable to:  
  shareholders of norDen -281,998 87,489
  minority interests -2    -2   
   -282,000 87,487
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statement oF FInancIal PosItIon at 31 December  
– assets

Note Amounts in USD’000   2012  2011
 
 11 Vessels 967,219 1,387,189
 11 Property and equipment 55,801 55,937
 11 Prepayments on vessels and newbuildings 113,817 170,025
  Tangible assets 1,136,837 1,613,151
    
 12 Investments in joint ventures 12,915 21,275
  Financial assets 12,915 21,275
    
  Non-current assets 1,149,752 1,634,426
    
  Inventories 110,783    89,280   
 13 Freight receivables 125,517    110,886   
 13 receivables from joint ventures 4,953    6,317   
  company tax 0    63   
 13 other receivables 21,197    54,136   
  Prepayments 46,697    47,955   
 14 securities 74,876 71,324
 15 cash 453,738    335,868   
   837,761 715,829
 16 tangible assets held for sale 45,879 0
    
  current assets 883,640 715,829
    
  ASSETS 2,033,392 2,350,255
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statement oF FInancIal PosItIon at 31 December  
– equIty anD lIabIlItIes

Note Amounts in USD’000   2012  2011
 
  share capital 6,833    6,833   
 17 reserves 3,547 6,698
  retained earnings 1,676,787    1,980,822
  equity (norDen’s shareholders) 1,687,167 1,994,353
  minority interests 64    66
    
 18 Equity 1,687,231 1,994,419
    
 19 bank debt 138,240    135,017   
    
  Non-current liabilities 138,240 135,017
    
 19 bank debt 17,385    30,043   
  trade payables 117,536    135,672   
  company tax 857    0   
  other payables 46,676    36,172   
  Deferred income 20,620    18,932   
   203,074 220,819
 20 liabilities relating to tangible assets held for sale 4,847 0
    
  current liabilities 207,921 220,819
    
  liabilities 346,161 355,836
    
  EQUITY AND lIABIlITIES 2,033,392 2,350,255

49cONSOlIDATED FINANcIAl STATEmENTS

Highlights | Key figures and financial ratios for the Group | Management commentary | Signatures | Consolidated financial statements | Parent company financial statements

Definitions of key figures and financial ratios | Technical terms and abbreviations

Income statement | Comprehensive income | Financial position | Cash flows | Changes in equity | Notes – contents | Significant accounting policies | Notes



statement oF cash FloWs 
1 January – 31 December

Note Amounts in USD’000   2012  2011
 
  Profit from operations before write-downs 34,611 104,489
 11 reversed depreciation 88,535 81,185
  reversed profits from the sale of vessels, etc. 23,944 242
 12 reversed share of results of joint ventures 841 530
  other adjustments 6,897 4,141
 29 change in working capital -21,470 -63,639
  Financial payments received 1,889 10,131
  Financial payments made -8,627 -12,768
  company tax paid, net -4,543 -4,188
  cash flows from operating activities 122,077 120,123
    
 11 Investments in vessels and vessels held for sale -11,134 -59,960
 11 Investments in other tangible assets -4,877 -4,367
 12 Investments in joint ventures -2,500 0
 11 additions in prepayments on newbuildings -149,791 -293,354
  additions in prepayments received on sold vessels 4,847 -7,324
  Proceeds from the sale of vessels and newbuildings 168,863 35,095
  Proceeds from the sale of other tangible assets 321 114
  acquisition of securities -46,922 -35,010
  sale of securities 48,173 9,595
  cash flows from investing activities 6,980 -355,211
    
 30 Dividend paid to shareholders (excluding dividend on treasury shares) -29,146 -63,706
 18 acquisition of treasury shares 0 -31,556
  net distribution to shareholders -29,146 -95,262
    
  Incurrence of bank debt 25,240 161,738
  Instalments on/repayment of bank debt -33,956 -48,095
  loan financing -8,716 113,643
   
  cash flows from financing activities -37,862 18,381
    
  change in cash and cash equivalents for the year 91,195 -216,707
    
  cash at 1 January, non-restricted 335,868 574,571
  exchange rate adjustments 26,675 -21,996
  change in cash and cash equivalents for the year 91,195 -216,707
 15 cash at 31 December, non-restricted 453,738 335,868

50 cONSOlIDATED FINANcIAl STATEmENTS

Highlights | Key figures and financial ratios for the Group | Management commentary | Signatures | Consolidated financial statements | Parent company financial statements

Definitions of key figures and financial ratios | Technical terms and abbreviations

Income statement | Comprehensive income | Financial position | Cash flows | Changes in equity | Notes – contents | Significant accounting policies | Notes



statement oF changes In equIty

Note Amounts in USD’000  
 
    shareholders of norDen
   share  retained  minority 
   capital reserves earnings total interests total

  Equity at 1 January 2012 6,833 6,698 1,980,822 1,994,353 66 1,994,419
        
  total comprehensive income for the year - -3,151 -278,847 -281,998 -2 -282,000
 30 Distributed dividends - - -30,368 -30,368 - -30,368
  Dividends, treasury shares - - 1,222 1,222 - 1,222
 27 share-based payment - - 3,958 3,958 - 3,958
  changes in equity 0 -3,151 -304,035 -307,186 -2 -307,188
        
  Equity at 31 December 2012 6,833 3,547 1,676,787 1,687,167 64 1,687,231
        
        
    shareholders of norDen    
   share  retained  minority 
   capital reserves earnings total interests total
        
  Equity at 1 January 2011 7,087 7,004 1,983,894 1,997,985 68 1,998,053
        
  total comprehensive income for the year - -306 87,795 87,489 -2 87,487
 18 acquisition of treasury shares - - -31,556 -31,556 - -31,556
  capital reduction -254 - 254 0 - 0
 30 Distributed dividends - - -68,946 -68,946 - -68,946
  Dividends, treasury shares - - 5,240 5,240 - 5,240
 27 share-based payment - - 4,141 4,141 - 4,141
  changes in equity -254 -306 -3,072 -3,632 -2 -3,634
        
  Equity at 31 December 2011 6,833 6,698 1,980,822 1,994,353 66 1,994,419
        
   see note 30 for a specification of reserves available for distribution as dividends and note 17 for specification of distribution of 

reserves on securities and cash flow hedging, respectively.
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1.  Significant accounting 
policies

Dampskibsselskabet norDen a/s with 
its subsidiaries is one of Denmark’s old-
est internationally operating shipping 
companies. norDen operates in Dry 
cargo and tankers worldwide.

Dampskibsselskabet norDen a/s is a 
public limited company incorporated in 
Denmark and is listed on nasDaq omX 
copenhagen a/s.

the consolidated financial statements of 
Dampskibsselskabet norDen a/s for 
2012 have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial reporting 
standards (IFrs) as adopted by the eu 
and additional Danish disclosure require-
ments for annual reports of listed com-
panies.

the additional Danish disclosure require-
ments are set out in the Danish statutory 
order on adoption of IFrs issued pursu-
ant to the Danish Financial statements 
act and nasDaq omX copenhagen a/s 
regulations. the consolidated financial 
statements and this additional informa-
tion comprise the consolidated annual 
report.

the annual report for the period 1 Janu-
ary – 31 December 2012 with compara-
tive figures comprises the consolidated 
financial statements of Dampskibsselsk-
abet norDen a/s and its subsidiaries 
(the group) and the financial statements 
of the parent company.

the financial statements of the parent 
company, Dampskibsselskabet nor-
Den a/s, for 2012 have been prepared 
in accordance with the Danish Financial 
statements act.

In general
the financial statements are prepared on 
the basis of the historical cost principle, 
with the exception of the following assets 
and liabilities:

•	 Derivative	 financial	 instruments	 and	
financial instruments classified as 
available for sale, which are measured 
at fair value.

•		 Non-current	assets	and	groups	of	as-
sets held for sale are measured at the 
lower of carrying amount before the 
changed classification and fair value 
less selling costs.

usD is the functional currency of all 
enterprises in the group as well as the 
parent company. In the annual report, 
the presentation currency is usD, and 
amounts are presented rounded off to 
the nearest usD 1,000. 

changes in accounting policies, includ-
ing presentation and implementation 
of financial reporting standards
the accounting policies for norDen, 
including presentation, are unchanged 
compared to last year, except for crew 
wages which are now included in the 
item ”Vessel operating costs” instead of 
the item “staff costs”. this change was 
made based on a wish to show the ves-
sels’ total operating costs in the income 
statement. comparable figures have 
been adjusted to this new presentation, 
and usD 32,459 thousand has thus 
been reclassified in 2011.

norDen has implemented all new and 
amended financial reporting standards 
issued by Iasb and adopted by the eu 
as well as the interpretations that are ef-
fective for the financial year 2012. this 
includes IFrs 7 on changes to rules on 
disclosures on financial instruments. 
changes to Ias 1 with regard to presen-
tation of items under other comprehen-
sive income have been adopted earlier.

Implementation of the changes in stand-
ards and interpretations has not had any  
monetary effect on norDen.

most recently approved financial re-
porting standards (IFRS) and interpre-
tations (IFRIc)
at the end of January 2013, Iasb issued 
the following new financial reporting 

standards and interpretations, which are 
estimated to be of relevance to norDen:

•	 IFRS	 9	 –	 The	 number	 of	 categories	
of financial assets is reduced to two; 
amortised cost category or fair value.

•	 IFRS	10	–	Specification	of	the	defini-
tion of control of another enterprise. 
control exists when the following cir-
cumstances are present:

 o Power of the enterprise.
 o  risk exposure or rights to variable 

returns.
 o  the ability to use power over the 

enterprise to affect the amount of 
returns.

•	 IFRS	11	–	Joint	arrangements	require	
agreement between the parties and 
can be divided into two types: joint 
operations and joint ventures. Joint 
operations provide the parties (joint 
operators) with direct rights to the 
assets and direct obligations for the 
liabilities. each joint operator recog-
nises its part of assets, liabilities, in-
come and costs. In joint ventures, the 
parties (joint venturers) do not have 
direct share in assets and liabilities, 
etc., but solely share in the net profit 
or loss and equity. each joint venturer 
recognises its share under the equity 
method, see Ias 28.

•	 IFRS	 12	 –	 Disclosure	 requirements	
of interests in other entities, includ-
ing subsidiaries, joint operations, joint 
ventures and associates.

•	 Amendment	of	IFRS	10,	11	and	12	–	
specification of implementation (tran-
sition rules).

•	 IFRS	13	–	General	standard	specify-
ing the principles for fair value meas-
urement.

•	 Amendment	 of	 IFRS	 7	 and	 IAS	 32	
– the amendment provides further 
guidance on offsetting and informa-
tion in this regard.

•	 Amendment	of	IAS	27	–	The	consoli-
dation rules are replaced by IFrs 10, 
and the standard hereafter includes 
the rules for the financial statements 
of the parent company from the cur-
rent Ias 27.

•	 Amendment	of	IAS	28	–	Joint	arrange-
ments classified as joint ventures ac-

notes to the FInancIal statements
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notes to the FInancIal statements

cording to IFrs 11 are recognised 
under the standard’s equity method. 
sIc 13 on non-monetary contribu-
tions from enterprises is written into 
the standard.

•	 Annual	minor	amendments	of	current	
IFrs comprising:

 o  Ias 1 – specification of comparable 
information when balance sheets 
for 3 years are presented.

 o  Ias 16 – spare parts and servicing 
equipment for land, buildings, ves-
sels and equipment are no longer 
to be carried as inventory, but as 
land, building and equipment when 
the definition hereof is met.

 o  Ias 32 – specification of tax in the 
income statement and equity, re-
spectively.

 o  Ias 34 – specification with regard 
to assets in the segment informa-
tion in interim financial statements.

other financial reporting standards and 
interpretations issued by the Iasb, but 
which are currently irrelevant to nor-
Den, comprise: IFrs 1, Ias 12, Ias 19,  
and IFrIc 20. the quoted standards and 
interpretations have been adopted by the 
eu, except for IFrs 9, amendments to 
IFrs 10, 11 and 12 with regard to tran-
sition rules as well as the annual minor 
amendments to current IFrs.

norDen expects to implement the new 
standards and interpretations as they be-
come mandatory.

Significant accounting choices in 
accounting policies and significant ac-
counting estimates
In preparing the financial statements, 
norDen’s management makes a num-
ber of accounting choices and estimates. 
these are the basis for recognition and 
measurement of the group’s assets, li-
abilities, income and expenses. the most 
significant accounting choices and esti-
mates are described below.

Significant choices and assessments
Tangible assets
the group’s choice of historical cost 
rather than fair value as the basis for 

measuring tangible assets – vessels – 
has a material impact on the calculation 
of the group’s and the parent company’s 
results and equity. see the below section 
“tangible assets” for a more detailed de-
scription of the group’s accounting poli-
cies.

Leases
management’s judgments of whether 
leases regarding vessels should be clas-
sified as finance leases or operating leas-
es are based on an overall assessment 
of the individual leases. a finance lease 
is recognised as a non-current asset and 
as a liability. For leases classified as oper-
ating leases, lease payments are gener-
ally recognised in the income statement 
as they are paid. see the below section 
“leases” for a more detailed description 
of the group’s accounting policies.

Recognition of revenue and voyage costs
on recognition of freight income and 
voyage costs, including net income from 
pool arrangements, management has 
made choices as to the start and end 
dates of voyages, etc. see the below 
section “revenue” for a more detailed 
description of the group’s accounting 
policies.

Significant accounting estimates
the determination of the carrying 
amounts of certain assets and liabilities 
requires judgments, estimates and as-
sumptions about future events.

the applied estimates are based on his-
torical data and other factors that man-
agement considers appropriate under 
the given circumstances, but which are 
inherently uncertain or unpredictable. 
such assumptions may be incomplete 
or inaccurate, and unexpected events 
or circumstances may occur. In addi-
tion, the company is subject to risks and 
uncertainties that may cause actual out-
comes to deviate from these estimates. 
risk factors specific to the norDen 
group are described in note 2.

It may be necessary to change previ-
ous estimates as a result of changes to 

the assumptions on which the estimates 
were based or due to new information or 
subsequent events.

estimates and underlying assump-
tions are reassessed on a regular basis. 
changes to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period when the es-
timate is changed if the change affects 
this period only, or in the current and 
future periods if the change affects the 
current as well as future periods.

estimates material to the financial report-
ing are made, among other things, in the 
calculation of depreciation and write-
downs, the value of receivables, provi-
sions as well as contingent liabilities and 
assets. the most significant estimates 
are:

Tangible assets, including vessels and 
prepayments on vessels and newbuild-
ings
significant accounting estimates include, 
among other things, estimates of useful 
lives, scrap values and write-downs on 
tangible assets.

Impairment test
management’s assessment of indication 
of impairment on vessels and prepay-
ments on newbuildings is based on the 
cash-generating units (cgus) in which 
vessels, etc. are included. this is usually 
the total fleet within norDen’s 2 seg-
ments, Dry cargo and tankers.

If there are indications that the carrying 
amount of assets exceeds the value of 
future cash flows from assets (recover-
able amount), an impairment test must 
be carried out. the recoverable value is 
calculated as the highest value of the net 
selling price (fair value less selling costs) 
and the value in use at continued use.

If the net selling price of the company’s 
vessels and newbuildings, expressed 
by the average of 3 broker valuations, 
is lower than the carrying amounts and 
cost of newbuildings, an impairment test 
must be carried out. the impairment test 
is carried out within norDen’s 2 cgus, 
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Dry cargo and tankers, as the vessels 
within these 2 segments can usually be 
handled on a portfolio basis. the impair-
ment test is done by estimating the recov-
erable amount at value in use calculated 
as the present value of the total expected 
cash flows during the rest of the vessels’ 
economic lives including entered coas, 
time charters and by using estimated 
rates on the basis of historical data for 
uncovered capacity. If the value in use 
is lower than the carrying amounts, the 
asset is written down.

Onerous contracts
In assessing the need for provisions for 
onerous contracts, management has em-
phasised that contract performance can 
usually be achieved through substitution 
of vessels within the fleet in the segment 
concerned, and that this is reflected by 
the disposal of the fleet. For this reason, 
provisions for each of norDen’s cgus, 
Dry cargo and tankers, are stated in ag-
gregate.

at 31 December 2012, the carrying 
amount of these items (tangible assets) 
was usD 1,137 million (usD 1,613 mil-
lion). In addition, see note 11.

Receivables
receivables are measured at amortised 
cost less provisions for impairment loss-
es. Provisions for bad debts are deter-
mined on the basis of customers’ ability 
to pay, considering historical information 
about payment patterns, doubtful debts, 
customer concentrations, customer 
creditworthiness and collateral received 
as well as prevailing economic condi-
tions. estimates made are updated if the 
debtor’s ability to pay changes.

the financial uncertainty attached to 
provisions for bad and doubtful debts is 
considered to have increased due to the 
economic trends. It is estimated that the 
provisions made are sufficient to cover 
any bad debts.

at 31 December 2012, the carrying 
amount of group receivables was usD 

152 million (usD 171 million). In addi-
tion, see note 13.

Deferred tax
at 1 January 2011, norDen joined the 
tonnage tax scheme for a binding 10-
year period. the contingent tax disclosed 
in note 9 may crystallise as current tax 
if the company leaves the tonnage tax 
scheme, if the company’s net invest-
ment in vessels is reduced significantly, 
or if the company is wound up.

Contingent assets and liabilities
Information on contingent assets and li-
abilities and when recognition should be 
made as asset or liability, respectively, is 
based on assessments of the expected 
outcome of each claim. the assessments 
are made on the basis of legal assess-
ments of the signed agreements, which 
in considerable claims also include as-
sessments obtained from external advi-
sors including lawyers, among others.

assets are recognised when it is practi-
cally certain that the claim will have a 
positive outcome for the group. a liability 
is recognised if it is likely that the claim 
will have a negative outcome and when 
the amount is estimable. If this is not the 
case, the matter is stated in the notes to 
the financial statements. rulings in con-
nection with such matters may in com-
ing accounting periods produce realised 
gains or losses which may differ consid-
erably from the recognised amounts or 
information. 

the financial uncertainty tied to the in-
formation and the recognised amounts 
is considered to have significantly in-
creased due to the current economic 
trends. 

In addition, see note 22.

consolidation principles
the consolidated financial statements 
comprise the parent company, Damp-
skibsselskabet norDen a/s, and en-
terprises in which the parent company 
controls the operational and financial 

decisions, usually by directly or indirectly 
holding the majority of the voting rights 
(subsidiaries).

on consolidation, intra-group income 
and expenses, shareholdings, dividends 
and accounts as well as unrealised intra-
group gains and losses on transactions 
between the consolidated enterprises are 
eliminated.

the financial statements used in the con-
solidation are prepared in accordance 
with the group’s accounting policies. 
the consolidated financial statements 
are prepared on the basis of the financial 
statements of the parent company and 
the subsidiaries by aggregating items of 
a uniform nature.

newly acquired or newly established 
enterprises are recognised in the con-
solidated financial statements from the 
date of acquisition using the purchase 
method. enterprises divested or wound 
up are included in the consolidated in-
come statement until the date of dispos-
al. comparative figures are not restated 
to reflect acquisitions, divestments or 
companies wound up.

Participation in pool arrangements
norDen’s shipping activities are to 
some extent conducted through pool ar-
rangements. In pools, revenue and relat-
ed costs are recognised according to cri-
teria corresponding to those applied by 
norDen. the below principles for the 
recognition of freight income and related 
costs also apply to pool arrangements. 
see the section “revenue”. 

For vessels operating in pools, the pool’s 
profit is allocated to the pool participants 
on the basis of an agreed formula. the 
agreed formula may differ from pool to 
pool. generally, the pool profit is allo-
cated to the participants according to the 
number of days the vessels have been at 
the pool’s disposal, but weighted for the 
capacity and characteristics of the indi-
vidual vessels. 
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notes to the FInancIal statements

Pool arrangements are considered joint 
operations. accordingly for vessels oper-
ating in pools, the proportionate share of 
income and costs is presented as gross 
amounts in the income statement. For 
example, the share of revenue in pools 
is recognised in “revenue”, while the 
proportionate share of costs in pools, 
such as direct voyage costs (e.g. bunker 
oil consumption, commissions and port 
charges) and charter hire for chartered 
pool tonnage, is recognised in “Vessel 
operating costs”. similarly, norDen’s 
share of assets and liabilities in pools is 
recognised, and norDen’s share of oth-
er liabilities, etc. is disclosed in the notes 
to the financial statements.

norDen operates a few pools. as pool 
operator, norDen receives charter 
commissions to cover its costs in this re-
spect. commission income is calculated 
as a fixed percentage of charter/freight 
income for each individual agreement. 
the commission income is recognised in 
the income statement in the item “other 
operating income” as the underlying 
charter/freight agreement is recognised.

leases
The Group as lessee
agreements to charter vessels and to 
lease other tangible assets where all 
substantial risks and rewards of owner-
ship have been transferred to the group 
(finance leases) are recognised in the 
statement of financial position. Vessels 
and other tangible assets are recognised 
at the delivery date at a value corre-
sponding to the present value of the fi-
nance charges set out in the agreements, 
including any purchase options expected 
to be exercised. For the purpose of cal-
culating the present value, the zero-cou-
pon rate with the addition of an interest 
margin is used as discount factor corre-
sponding to norDen’s credit risk. Ves-
sels and other tangible assets acquired 
under finance leases are depreciated 
and written down according to the same 
accounting policies as assets owned by 
the group.

the capitalised residual lease liability is 
recognised in the statement of financial 
position as a liability, and the interest ele-
ment of the lease payment is charged to 
the income statement when incurred.

other agreements to charter vessels 
and other leases are considered oper-
ating leases. Payments in connection 
with operating leases are recognised on 
a straight-line basis in the income state-
ment over the terms of the leases.

The Group as lessor
agreements to charter out vessels on 
time charters where substantially all 
risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred to the lessee (finance 
leases) are recognised as a receivable in 
the statement of financial position. the 
receivable is measured in the same way 
as the lease liability in cases where the 
group is the lessee, as described above.

other agreements to charter out ves-
sels are considered operating leases. 
Payments in connection with operating 
leases are recognised on a straight-line 
basis in the income statement over the 
terms of the leases.

Foreign currency translation
a functional currency is determined 
for each of the reporting entities in the 
group. the functional currency is the 
currency in the primary economic envi-
ronment in which the reporting entity op-
erates. transactions in currencies other 
than the functional currency are transac-
tions in foreign currencies.

transactions in foreign currencies during 
the year are translated at the exchange 
rates at the transaction date. gains and 
losses arising between the exchange rate 
at the transaction date and the exchange 
rate at the date of payment are recog-
nised in the income statement as “Finan-
cial income” or “Financial expenses”.

receivables, payables and other mon-
etary items denominated in foreign cur-

rencies that have not been settled at 
the reporting date are translated at the 
exchange rates at the reporting date. Dif-
ferences between the exchange rates at 
the transaction date and the exchange 
rates at the reporting date are recognised 
in the income statement as “Financial in-
come” or “Financial expenses”.

exchange rate adjustments of shares de-
nominated in foreign currencies held for 
sale are recognised through other com-
prehensive income in equity together 
with unrealised fair value adjustments 
of shares. exchange rate adjustments of 
bonds denominated in foreign curren-
cies held for sale are recognised in the 
income statement under net financials.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are rec-
ognised in the statement of financial po-
sition at fair value at the date of trans-
action. Positive and negative fair values 
of derivative financial instruments are 
recognised as assets under “other re-
ceivables” or as liabilities under “other 
payables”, respectively.

changes in the fair value of derivative fi-
nancial instruments that are designated 
as fair value hedges of a recognised asset 
or a recognised liability are recognised 
through other comprehensive income in 
the income statement in the same item 
as any changes in the carrying amount of 
the hedged asset or hedged liability.

changes in the fair value of derivative fi-
nancial instruments designated as hedg-
es of expected future transactions are 
recognised in equity under “reserves”. 
Where the expected future transaction 
results in the acquisition of non-financial 
assets, any amounts deferred under eq-
uity are transferred from equity to the 
cost of the asset. Where the expected 
future transaction results in income or 
expense, amounts deferred under eq-
uity are transferred from equity to the in-
come statement in the same item as the 
hedged transaction.
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the majority of the group’s derivative 
financial instruments provide effective 
financial hedging in accordance with the 
group’s risk management policy. certain 
of the derivative financial instruments 
(Forward Freight agreements (FFas) 
and bunker hedging contracts) are not 
considered to qualify for hedge account-
ing according to accounting regulations. 
changes in the fair value of derivative 
financial instruments not considered to 
qualify for hedge accounting are recog-
nised in the income statement in a sepa-
rate item under financials called “Fair 
value adjustment of certain hedging in-
struments”. as the hedging instruments 
are realised, the accumulated fair value 
adjustments are reclassified to the same 
item as the hedged transaction.

Fair value measurement
listed derivative financial instruments 
and securities traded in an active market 
are measured at fair value at the report-
ing date using the selling price. Initial 
recognition is based on the fair value at 
the trade date.

In measuring the fair value of unlisted 
derivative financial instruments and oth-
er financial instruments for which there 
is no active market, fair value is deter-
mined using generally accepted valua-
tion techniques. market-based param-
eters such as market-based yield curves 
and forward exchange prices are used 
for the valuation. For bunker contracts, 
the price is based on observable stock 
markets, e.g. rotterdam and singapore. 
the value of FFas is assessed on the ba-
sis of daily recorded prices from the bal-
tic exchange. For non-current liabilities 
and other interest rate based financial 
instruments, the fair value is based on a 
discounted value of future cash flows. a 
zero-coupon rate with the addition of the 
enterprises’ interest margin is used as 
discount factor.

the fair value of financial assets and fi-
nancial liabilities with a maturity of less 
than 1 year is assumed to approximate 
their face values less any estimated cred-
it adjustments. the fair value of financial 

liabilities is estimated by discounting the 
future contractual cash flows at the cur-
rent market interest rates available to the 
group for similar financial instruments. 

Segment information
Information is provided on the group’s 
2 business segments, Dry cargo and 
tankers. the information is based on the 
group’s organisation, business manage-
ment and management control, includ-
ing financial reporting to norDen’s op-
erative management.

norDen’s operative management func-
tion comprises the executive manage-
ment and the board of Directors in union. 
the executive management is responsi-
ble for the day-to-day management. the 
board of Directors approves strategy, ac-
tion plans, targets and budgets and lim-
its for financial and market risks, and it 
supervises the executive management. 
the executive management’s and board 
of Directors’ functions and responsibili-
ties are described in further detail in the 
section “corporate governance” in the 
management commentary.

the services offered by norDen’s tank-
er segment comprise transport of crude 
oil or refined oil products, and the Dry 
cargo segment offers transport of bulk 
commodities such as grain, coal, ore 
and sugar. norDen’s segments gener-
ate revenue consisting of freight income 
from owned and chartered vessels and 
management income. Information is not 
provided by geographical segment be-
cause the global market is a unit, and the 
activities of the individual vessels are not 
limited to specific parts of the world. nor 
does the internal financial reporting for 
the operative management provide such 
information. It is therefore not possible to 
provide geographical segment informa-
tion on revenue from external customers 
or non-current assets.

the accounting policies for recognition 
and measurement of the segments are 
consistent with the policies described for 
norDen in this note. the accounting 
policies for segment information for the 

financial year under review are consist-
ent with those for the previous financial 
year.

the presentation is changed for the fi-
nancial year under review so that crew 
wages are now included in the item ”oth-
er vessel operating costs” instead of the 
item “staff costs”. comparable figures 
have been adjusted.

Presentation of the segment income 
statement items and their order are con-
sistent with norDen’s consolidated in-
come statement, except for voyage costs, 
which are not included in the item “Ves-
sel operating costs” but presented as a 
separate item, and the segment income 
statement therefore comprises the sub-
total “contribution margin I”. the names 
and contents of segment assets are con-
sistent with the consolidated statement of 
financial position. In the internal financial 
reporting to the operative management, 
liabilities are not allocated to segments.

there are no inter-segment transactions.

the methods of allocating related assets, 
liabilities and equity and income state-
ment items to segments are consistent.

the allocation between Dry cargo and 
tankers is as follows:

•		 The	 items	 included	 in	 the	 segment	
profit, including the share of results 
of joint ventures, are allocated to 
the extent that the items are directly 
or indirectly attributable to the seg-
ments. Items that are allocated by 
both direct and indirect calculation 
comprise “staff costs” and “other ex-
ternal costs”. Parts of these items are 
not attributable, either directly or indi-
rectly, to a segment and are therefore 
unallocated. For the items allocated 
by indirect calculation, the allocation 
keys are defined on the basis of each 
segment’s drawings on key resources. 
Financial income and expenses are 
unallocated as they are considered 
to relate to norDen in general. tax 
relating to financials is unallocated. 
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other unallocated tax relates to unal-
located non-current assets.

•		 Non-current	 segment	 assets	 consist	
of the assets used directly in segment 
operations, including “Vessels” and 
“Prepayments on newbuildings” and 
“Investments in joint ventures”. 

•		 Current	 assets	 are	 allocated	 to	 seg-
ments to the extent that they are di-
rectly attributable to these, e.g. “In-
ventories” and “Freight receivables”. 
some of the freight receivables cannot 
be allocated directly, and allocation is 
therefore based on an estimate.

unallocated items are primarily income 
and expenses and assets relating to the 
group’s administrative functions, invest-
ment activity and similar activities.

Income statement

Revenue
revenue comprises the present value of 
services rendered, net of discounts. ser-
vices rendered comprise freight income, 
time charter income and management 
income. revenue is recognised in the 
income statement for the financial year 
as earned. the determination of whether 
revenue and other operating income is 
considered earned is based on the fol-
lowing criteria:

•	 a	binding	sales	agreement	has	been	
made;

•	 the	selling	price	has	been	determined;
•	 the	service	has	been	rendered	before	

the end of the financial year;
•	 payment	 has	 been	 received	 or	 may	

reasonably be expected to be re-
ceived;

•	 costs	 incurred	 or	 to	 be	 incurred	 in	
respect of the transaction can be 
measured reliably and, in respect of 
freight income other than time charter 
income, the percentage of completion 
can be reliably determined.

all freight income and voyage costs are 
recognised as the freight services are 
rendered (percentage of completion). 
the percentage of completion is deter-
mined using the discharge-to-discharge 

method. according to this method, 
freight income and related costs are rec-
ognised in the income statement accord-
ing to the charter parties from the ves-
sel’s departure date to the delivery of the 
cargo (discharge). the departure date is 
defined as the date of the most recent 
discharge, and the voyage ends at the 
date of the next discharge (discharge to 
discharge). this applies to all spot trans-
ports and transports under contracts of 
affreightment (coas). For voyages in 
progress at the end of an accounting pe-
riod that will conclude in a subsequent 
accounting period, freight income and 
related costs are recognised according to 
the percentage of the estimated duration 
of the voyage concluded at the reporting 
date.

Demurrage is recognised if the claim is 
considered probable.

For vessels on time charters, that is op-
erating leases, charter hire is recognised 
on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease.

management income is recognised upon 
receipt of the services in accordance 
with the management agreements con-
cluded.

Other operating income
other operating income comprises 
items of a secondary nature relative to 
the group’s principal activity. the item 
mainly relates to management income 
in connection with the administration of 
pool arrangements.

Vessel operating costs
Vessel operating costs comprise the 
expenses, excluding depreciation, in-
curred to generate the revenue for the 
year. Vessel operating costs therefore 
include charter hire for chartered ves-
sels (operating leases), bunker oil con-
sumption, other voyage costs such as 
commissions and port charges, repair 
and maintenance costs, insurance costs, 
crew wages and other operating expens-
es. like revenue, vessel operating costs 
are recognised upon receipt of services 

in accordance with the charter parties 
concluded.

Other external costs
other external costs comprise costs of 
properties, office expenses, external as-
sistance, etc.

Profits from the sale of vessels, etc.
Profits from the sale of vessels are stated 
as the difference between the sales price 
for the vessel less selling costs and the 
carrying amount of the vessel in question 
at the time of delivery. Furthermore, any 
gains and losses upon repayment of re-
lated loans are included.

Profit from the sale of other tangible as-
sets is also included.

Share of results of investments in joint 
ventures
In the group’s income statement, the 
group’s shares of the joint ventures’ re-
sults after tax are included in the item 
“share of results of joint ventures”.

Net financials
Financial income and expenses com-
prise interest, amortisation of financial 
assets and liabilities, including finance 
lease liabilities, realised and unrealised 
exchange rate adjustments, fair value ad-
justment of forward exchange contracts, 
market value adjustment of securities 
and dividends received on shares recog-
nised in securities.

Fair value adjustment of certain hedg-
ing instruments
Fair value adjustment of certain hedging 
instruments comprises changes in the 
fair values of derivative financial instru-
ments that are used to hedge future bun-
ker purchases and freight income but do 
not qualify for hedge accounting. as the 
hedging instruments are realised, the ac-
cumulated fair value adjustments are re-
classified to the same income statement 
item as the hedged transaction. 

Tax on profit for the year
the company’s current tax consists of 
tax paid according to the regulations of 
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the Danish tonnage tax act for shipping 
activities and according to general tax 
regulations for net financial income and 
other activities. other activities comprise 
letting of the company’s domicile and 
management income. shipping activities 
are taxed on the basis of the net tonnage 
(vessels) which the company has at its 
disposal.

Statement of financial  
position

Tangible assets
tangible assets are measured at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and write-
downs. land is not depreciated.

cost comprises the acquisition price and 
costs directly related to the acquisition 
up until the time when the asset is ready 
for use.

borrowing costs concerning either spe-
cific or general borrowing directly related 
to assets with an extended production 
period are included in cost over the pe-
riod of construction.

the basis of depreciation is calculated 
as the excess of cost over the estimated 
scrap value. the scrap value of vessels 
is determined based on the market price 
per lightweight ton for scrapping of the 
vessel.

the basis of depreciation is allocated on 
a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets as follows:

buildings 50 years
Vessels, including vessels ac-
quired under finance leases 20 years
Fixtures, fittings and  
equipment 3-10 years

the depreciation period for secondhand 
vessels is determined on the basis of the 
condition and age of the vessels at the 
time of acquisition, but the depreciation 
period does not exceed 20 years from 
delivery from the shipyard.

Depreciation is not provided for vessels 
held for sale if the scrap value (the selling 
price) of the vessels equals or exceeds 
their carrying amounts. Write-down is 
made to the selling price if this is lower 
than the carrying amount. Docking costs 
relating to vessels recognised in the state-
ment of financial position are added to 
the carrying amounts of the vessels when 
incurred. Docking costs are allocated on 
a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of the improvements.

useful lives and scrap values are reas-
sessed annually.

Prepayments on newbuildings are rec-
ognised in assets as vessels under con-
struction as payments are made. at the 
delivery of the vessel, it is reclassified to 
the item “Vessels”.

Write-down of tangible and financial 
assets
the carrying amounts of tangible and 
financial assets are analysed annually 
to determine whether there are any in-
dications of impairment in excess of the 
amount provided for by normal deprecia-
tion. an impairment test is conducted if 
there is an indication that the carrying 
amount of an asset may exceed the ex-
pected future cash flows from the asset. 
If there is such an indication, the asset 
is written down to the lower recoverable 
amount. the recoverable amount of the 
asset is determined as the higher of the 
net selling price and the value in use. If 
a recoverable amount for the individual 
assets cannot be determined, the small-
est group of assets for which it is possi-
ble to determine the recoverable amount 
(cash-generating unit) is analysed for in-
dication of impairment.

For investments in joint ventures, the 
cash-generating unit is the individu-
al joint venture, and the recoverable 
amount is usually determined based on 
value in use.

For vessels, the cash-generating unit is 
usually the total fleet within the group’s 

individual segments, and for financial 
assets (other than investments in joint 
ventures), it is the individual paper or 
investment. For vessels, the recoverable 
amount is usually determined based on 
the estimated selling price assessed by 
external brokers. For financial assets 
(other than investments in joint ven-
tures), the write-down is based on the 
selling price. shares are written down 
when the decline in value is substantial 
or long-term. bonds are written down 
when there are objective indications of 
loss (suspension of payments, bank-
ruptcy, etc.). In both cases, the selling 
price is used as a basis because active 
markets exist.

Investments in joint ventures
enterprises which are contractually oper-
ated jointly with one or more other en-
terprises (joint ventures) and which are 
thus jointly controlled are recognised in 
the consolidated financial statements ac-
cording to the equity method.

In the group’s statement of financial po-
sition, the group’s share of the net asset 
value of joint ventures is thus included in 
the item “Investments in joint ventures”, 
calculated on the basis of the group’s ac-
counting policies and after deduction or 
addition of the group’s share of any un-
realised intra-group gains or losses.

Joint ventures with negative net asset val-
ues are valued at usD 0 million. If the 
group has a legal or constructive obliga-
tion to cover the enterprises’ negative 
balance, such obligation is recognised 
under liabilities.

Inventories
Inventories primarily comprise bunker oil 
on board vessels. Inventories are meas-
ured at the lower of cost according to the 
FIFo method and net realisable value.

Receivables
receivables are measured in the state-
ment of financial position at the lower of 
amortised cost and net realisable value, 
which corresponds to the nominal value 
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notes to the FInancIal statements

less provisions for bad debts. Provisions 
for bad debts are determined on the ba-
sis of an individual assessment of each 
receivable.

Securities
shares and bonds available for sale are 
recognised under current assets at fair 
value at the trade date and are subse-
quently measured at market price in re-
spect of listed securities and at fair value 
applying a valuation method in respect of 
unlisted securities.

If securities are impaired, they are written 
down. Value adjustments of shares and 
bonds are recognised in net financials 
when realised. until realisation, value ad-
justments of listed shares and bonds are 
recognised through other comprehensive 
income in equity in the reserve for secu-
rities, except exchange rate adjustments 
of bonds denominated in foreign curren-
cies, which are recognised in the income 
statement under net financials.

cash
cash is measured in the statement of fi-
nancial position at nominal value. 

Tangible assets held for sale and 
related liabilities
tangible assets held for sale comprise 
vessels which will be sold within 12 
months of the reporting date and prepay-
ments on newbuildings under construc-
tion which will be sold on delivery within 
12 months of the reporting date.

Vessels and prepayments on vessels 
held for sale are measured at the lower 
of carrying amount and fair value less 
selling costs and are recognised under 
current assets.

Vessels classified as held for sale are not 
depreciated.

assets and directly related liabilities are 
recognised in separate items in the state-
ment of financial position. the items are 
specified in the notes to the financial 
statements.

gains and losses are included in the in-
come statement in the item “Profits from 
the sale of vessels, etc.” and are recog-
nised on delivery.

Statement of changes in 
equity

Dividend
Dividend is recognised as a liability at the 
time of adoption by the shareholders in 
general meeting. Dividend proposed by 
management in respect of the year is 
stated under equity. Dividend is not paid 
in respect of treasury shares.

Treasury shares
the acquisition and sale of treasury 
shares and dividends thereon are taken 
directly to retained earnings under eq-
uity. 

Share-based incentive programme
the value of services rendered by em-
ployees as consideration for share-based 
incentive payments is measured at the 
fair value of the granted options and em-
ployee shares. For options, this fair value 
is recognised in the income statement 
over the vesting period. the fair value 
of employee shares is recognised at the 
grant date. a corresponding increase is 
recognised in equity.

the fair value of the options is determined 
using the black-scholes valuation model, 
taking into account the terms of the grant 
and the actual number of vested options. 
on recognition, the number of options ex-
pected to vest is estimated. the estimate 
is adjusted over the vesting period to the 
actual number of vested options. the 
fair value of the employee shares is the 
quoted price (all trades at 5 p.m.) at the 
grant date.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when, as a 
consequence of an event that has oc-
curred before or on the reporting date, 
the group has a legal or constructive 
obligation, and it is likely that economic 
benefits will flow from the company to 
meet the obligation.

Provisions for docking costs are recog-
nised for bareboat chartered vessels 
where the agreement entails a commit-
ment on the part of the group to bring 
vessels into dock regularly. Provisions are 
made on a current basis at an amount 
equal to a pro rata share of the estimated 
cost of the next docking of each individual 
vessel as the value of the liability increas-
es continuously. the provisions are recog-
nised in the income statement in the item 
“Vessel operating costs”.

Provisions for onerous contracts are rec-
ognised when it is inevitable that a loss will 
be incurred on performance of the con-
tract. In each of the 2 cgus, Dry cargo 
and tankers, the vessels are operated col-
lectively. the cgus are identical to the re-
porting segments. contract performance 
can usually be achieved by substitution of 
vessels in the fleet within the 2 cgus, Dry 
cargo and tankers. the inevitable loss is 
assessed in consideration of this possibil-
ity. the provision is measured at the lower 
of the net cost of contract performance 
and damages payable on termination of 
the contract. Provisions for onerous con-
tracts are recognised in the income state-
ment in the item “Vessel operating costs”.

Deferred tax
the parent company entered the Dan-
ish tonnage tax scheme for shipping 
enterprises for a new binding 10-year 
period as from 2011. based on the par-
ent company’s planned use of vessels 
and recovery of reversed depreciation, 
respectively, the tonnage tax scheme 
does not result in a liability, hence it does 
not result in any deferred tax in the state-
ment of financial position. the liability is 
merely a contingent liability. the amount 
of contingent tax is stated in note 9.

other activities of the group and the par-
ent company are not subject to deferred 
tax.

Financial liabilities
bank debt is recognised at the time the 
loans are obtained in the amount of the 
proceeds after deduction of transaction 
costs. In subsequent periods, such loans 
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are recognised at amortised cost, equiva-
lent to the capitalised value applying the 
effective rate of interest at the inception of 
the loan, to the effect that the difference 
between the proceeds and the nominal 
value is recognised as interest expense 
in the income statement over the term 
of the loan. commission paid to set up a 
credit facility is recognised as transaction 
costs to the extent that it is probable that 
the facility will be utilised. to the extent 
that it is not probable that the facility will 
be partially or fully utilised, commission 
is recognised as a prepayment for mak-
ing the facility available and amortised 
over the term of the credit facility.

the capitalised residual lease liability un-
der finance leases is also considered a 
financial liability.

other liabilities, comprising trade paya-
bles, prepayments received on vessels 
for resale, payables to joint ventures and 
other payables are measured at amor-
tised cost, corresponding substantially to 
nominal value.

Prepayments and deferred income
Prepayments comprise costs incurred 
relating to subsequent financial years 
such as charter hire, rent, insurance pre-
miums, subscription fees and interest. 

Deferred income comprises payments re-
ceived relating to revenue in subsequent 
years, such as freight income, charter 
hire, interest and insurance premiums.

Prepayments and deferred income are 
measured at nominal value.

Consolidated statement of 
cash flows

the statement of cash flows shows the 
group’s cash flows for the year distrib-
uted on operating, investing and financ-
ing activities, net changes for the year in 
cash and cash equivalents as well as the 
group’s cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning and end of the year.

Positive amounts indicate inflows, where-
as negative amounts indicate outflows. 

cash flows from operating activities
cash flows from operating activities are 
stated as the profit or loss from operations 
before write-downs adjusted for non-cash 
operating items such as depreciation, 
profits from the sale of vessels, provisions, 
fair value adjustments of certain hedging 
instruments and exchange rate adjust-
ments of non-current liabilities, changes 
in working capital, interest received and 
paid and plus or minus corporation tax 
paid or received. Working capital includes 
current assets less current liabilities, ex-
cluding the items included in cash and 
cash equivalents.

cash flows from investing activities
cash flows from investing activities com-
prise cash flows from the acquisition and 
sale of non-current assets.

cash flows from financing activities
cash flows from financing activities com-
prise cash flows from the raising and re-
payment of non-current liabilities as well 
as payments to and from shareholders.

cash and cash equivalents
cash and cash equivalents comprise 
marketable securities with a term of less 
than 3 months and cash not subject to 
significant limits to its availability.

2. Risk management

active risk management plays a central 
role in norDen’s strategy to ensure 
stable earnings. It is norDen’s policy 
to only assume material risks in relation 
to the freight markets and related risks 
(commercial risks). other risks are re-
duced to the greatest possible extent 
either through diversification, guarantees 
or by hedging the exposure when future 
risks are known.

the executive management is respon-
sible for identifying material risks and 
developing the company’s risk manage-
ment. exposures and the utilisation of the 

framework are reported to the board of 
Directors on a monthly basis.

norDen’s overall risk management poli-
cies are unchanged from last year.

Overall risk profile
norDen’s activities expose the compa-
ny to a number of risk factors, the most 
significant of which are assessed to be: 

•	 Freight	 rate	 volatility,	 affecting	 ship	
values and earnings from vessel ca-
pacity.

•	 Credit	 risk	 on	 customers	 in	 relation	
to cargo and t/c contracts as well as 
banks and yards in relation to depos-
its and prepayments on newbuildings, 
respectively.

the current low freight rates reduce the 
earnings capacity while the drop in the 
fleet value has a negative impact on the 
company’s equity. as some of the com-
pany’s contracts are entered into with 
other shipping companies, the credit risk 
in relation to these increases due to the 
poor market. In addition, it is assessed 
that the operational risk has increased 
due to the low freight rate level as many 
ship owners economise on maintenance. 
overall, it is assessed that the markets in 
which norDen operates have become 
riskier in general.

In spite hereof, norDen’s overall risk 
– measured as the sensitivity in case of 
a 10% drop in freight rates and vessel 
prices compared to the net asset Value 
(naV) – is lower at the end of 2012 com-
pared to year-end 2011. this is due to 
the company’s low financial gearing and 
high coverage. through the sale of ves-
sels and by entering into cargo contracts, 
the company has sought to limit the risk 
throughout the year.

commercial risks
Fluctuations in freight rates
Purchasing and chartering vessels imply 
a risk as the company assumes a finan-
cial liability in expectation of an inflow 
of income which is dependent on the 
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notes to the FInancIal statements

freight market. to limit the uncertainty 
relating to earnings, the future open ship 
days are covered by cargo contracts, t/c 
contracts and Forward Freight agree-
ments (FFas). 

at the end of 2012, coverage for 2013 
constituted a total value of usD 373 mil-
lion (usD 489 million) for Dry cargo and 
tankers, corresponding to 76% (78%) 
and 27% (22%) coverage of capacity, re-
spectively. earnings from the remaining 
24% and 73% of capacity in Dry cargo 
and tankers, respectively, are directly 
exposed to the future level of freight 
rates. a 10% drop in the forward rates 
compared to the level at the beginning of 
2013 would, all other things being equal, 
result in a drop in expected future earn-
ings for 2013 of a negative usD 20 mil-
lion (a negative usD 26 million).

For further information, see the section 
on capacity and coverage in the manage-
ment commentary. 

Fluctuations in ship values
changes in ship values have a significant 
impact on the company’s naV. through-
out the year, market prices on vessels 
have dropped, which has affected naV 
negatively. as a number of shipping 
companies have financial difficulties, 
more vessels may come up for sale in 
the market and thus put further pres-
sure on prices. In addition, it is assessed 
that newbuildings are considerably more 
fuel efficient than the existing fleet. this 
could put further downwards pressure on 
the value of older vessels.

norDen is continuously focusing on 
how to optimise the portfolio of owned 
vessels; be it in relation to fuel efficiency 
improvement of the current fleet or the 
possibility of exchanging older vessels 
with newbuildings.

at the end of 2012, the company had 49 
(54) owned vessels and newbuildings as 
well as 63 (61) charter parties with pur-
chase option. the change in the value 
of owned vessels will directly affect the 

company’s estimated naV. a drop in ves-
sel prices of 10% would, all other things 
being equal, result in a decrease in naV 
of usD 116 million (usD 155 million).

Credit risks
norDen reduces its credit risks through 
systematic credit assessment of counter-
parties and through regular monitoring of 
their creditworthiness. For this purpose, 
own analyses are applied based on ex-
ternal credit rating agencies and publicly 
available information. each analysis re-
sults in an internal rating, which is subse-
quently used for determining the allowed 
scope of the commitment.

the internal ratings are based both on 
a financial and a non-financial assess-
ment of the counterparty’s profile. each 
category receives a rating from a to D, 
a being the highest achievable score. 
the highest total score is an aaa rating, 
which typically comprises counterpar-
ties with attractive ownership structures, 
production based business models, good 
reputations and strong financial ratios.

at the end of 2012, the 20 largest coun-
terparties in Dry cargo included 6 (7) 
mining companies, 1 (3) energy com-
pany, 6 (4) industrial enterprises, 3 (5) 
shipping companies, 2 (1) coal distribu-
tors and 2 (0) financial institutions. In 
tankers, the 5 largest counterparties in-
cluded 4 (3) oil and gas companies and 
1 (2) shipping company. the company’s 
commercial credit exposure totalled usD 
1,096 million (usD 1,291 million) at the 
end of 2012 with usD 988 million (usD 
1,189 million) in Dry cargo and usD 108 
million (usD 102 million) in tankers.

as a large part of the exposure is relat-
ed to few counterparties, a concentra-
tion risk arises. In Dry cargo, coverage 
of known ship days involved 192 (190) 
counterparties, of which the 20 largest 
accounted for 85% (78%) of the covered 
revenue in the segment. In tankers, cov-
erage was distributed on 33 (41) counter-
parties, of which the 5 largest accounted 
for 82% (85%) of the covered revenue 

in the segment. It is assessed that the 
main part of the 192 and 33 counterpar-
ties, respectively, are solid, and norDen 
keeps updated on the performance and 
activities of these companies on a regular 
basis.

In connection with newbuilding contract-
ing, the credit risk in relation to prepay-
ments to the yard is reduced through 
repayment guarantees issued by banks 
with good credit ratings.

Bunker price risk
the company’s largest variable cost is 
fuel in the form of bunker, and the total 
costs of the company will therefore de-
pend on the market price for bunker.

the company uses bunker swaps to 
hedge future consumption of bunker 
when entering into coas in case there 
is no bunker adjustment clause in the 
agreement. as the value of these is ad-
justed on an ongoing basis through the 
income statement, a timing mismatch 
between the hedging and the earnings 
impact of the underlying asset will occur. 
all bunker swaps are entered into with 
bunker of the IFo type as the underlying 
asset. Parts of the actual consumption 
are, however, of different types, e.g. low 
sulphur bunker. there is therefore a risk 
should the price differential between the 
different bunker types change.

the consumption of bunker in connec-
tion with future open ship days is not 
hedged. It is estimated that changes in 
expected bunker costs over time will be 
reflected in the freight rates as a result of 
a gradual adjustment in the market. In 
addition, there is significant uncertainty 
as to volume and type of bunker to be 
hedged on future open ship days.

In connection with charter agreements, 
the company has a bunker price risk 
in relation to the volume of bunker with 
which the vessel must be redelivered. 
Due to the uncertainty of the size of this 
volume, this exposure is not hedged.
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Operational risks
operational risk is defined as the risk of 
loss due to insufficient or failed internal 
procedures, human error or faulty sys-
tems or caused by external events.

the operation of vessels is exposed to a 
number of risks. In terms of value, the 
most material events covered by insur-
ance are oil spills and total loss (lost 
value of owned vessels, value of pur-
chase options and charter parties). the 
company covers these risks by taking out 
insurances with recognised international 
insurance companies. the company fur-
ther minimises these risks by operating 
a modern fleet and by investing in the 
maintenance of the vessels and in staff 
awareness of both external and internal 
environments. In general, an increased 
operational risk is seen in the market due 
to the poor market conditions, which e.g. 
causes many ship owners to economise 
on maintenance. therefore, norDen 
has great focus on the condition of the 
vessels in connection with short-term 
charters.

In a global company like norDen, it is 
crucial that the company’s It systems 
are always available. the It Depart-
ment has established a technical emer-
gency capacity with an It environment 
distributed on 2 locations with mirrored 
critical systems. also, the company has 
established an It Disaster recovery Plan 
involving the entire organisation and sup-
porting the It Department in setting up 
emergency operations as soon as possi-
ble after a disaster.

Financial risks
the financial risk of the company is the 
risk of lacking financing or liquidity as 
well as the risk of adverse movements 
in the company’s portfolio of financial 
instruments.

Interest rate risk
the part of the company’s loans which 
have been entered into at floating rates 
have been converted into fixed rates for 
the entire or part of the term of the loan 

by means of interest rate swaps, and the 
company’s interest rate risks are there-
fore limited. In addition, the cash balance 
exceeds the interest-bearing debt, and 
the company will therefore be negatively 
affected net by decreasing interest rates. 
excess liquidity is placed in short-term 
deposits with fixed interest rates and to 
a smaller extent in securities. overall, the 
interest rate risk of the company is as-
sessed as being minimal.

Currency risk
the company’s functional currency is 
usD. since administrative expenses 
and dividends are paid in DKK, there is 
a currency risk in this connection. the 
company hedges expected administra-
tive expenses payable in DKK for a pe-
riod of 6-24 months. In connection with 
newbuilding payments, typically in JPy, 
cny or KrW, there is also a currency 
risk. this is hedged by forward contracts 
in connection with newbuilding orders. 
the strike price in some of the compa-
ny’s purchase options is determined in 
JPy, and it is the company’s policy only 
to hedge these if the option is exercised 
and only upon exercise. 

Liquidity risks 
In order to ensure sufficient cash re-
serves, liquidity is calculated and report-
ed in a stressed scenario on a monthly 
basis. In the scenario, the company’s 
liquidity is calculated after a year with 
large drops in freight rates, bunker prices 
and vessel prices while costs and invest-
ments are maintained at the expected 
level.

When entering into financial contracts, 
including bunker swaps, FFas and in-
terest rate swaps, margin is paid on an 
ongoing basis in proportion to the market 
value of the instrument. this is to ensure 
that the company’s credit risk in connec-
tion with these is kept small. as there is 
a timing mismatch between the under-
lying exposure and the market value of 
the financial contract, changes in liquid-
ity may arise as a result of demands for 
further margins. In order to monitor this 

risk, monthly calculations are made as 
to how much norDen risks having to 
place as margin after a week with great 
stress in the financial markets.

Capital management risks 
the company’s formal external capital 
requirement is limited to the contributed 
capital of the parent company and the 
subsidiaries, which is significantly lower 
than the group’s equity.

the group’s equity ratio (excluding mi-
nority interests) was 83% (85%) at the 
end of 2012. this significant equity ra-
tio should be considered relative to the 
company’s future payment obligations in 
the form of operating lease liabilities (t/c 
contracts) and payments on newbuild-
ings not recognised in the statement of 
financial position.

as part of the management of norDen’s 
capital structure, the company’s gearing, 
defined as net commitments relative to 
equity, is monitored on a monthly basis. 
the board of Directors sets out a limit for 
this ratio, and in 2012, the ratio was not 
to exceed 1.50. at year-end 2012, the 
ratio of net commitments to equity was 
0.26 (0.31). Please see page 17 in the 
management commentary.

net commitments are measured as the 
difference between the present value of 
total future t/c liabilities, payments to 
shipyards, instalments on loans less ex-
pected contractual freight and t/c pay-
ments received and cash. 
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 Nominal value

market 2012 2011 Sensitivity comments on NORDEN’s policy
Freight rate risks (FFAs) Sold net Sold net A 10% drop in freight rates at  The Company only uses FFAs to cover 
 USD 20  USD 5  year-end would impact net physical ship days. Regardless that they 
 million  million  profit by USD 2 million  provide effective financial hedging, FFAs 
   (USD 0 million).  do not qualify for hedge accounting and are 

therefore recognised separately in the income 
statement.

Bunker price risks USD 211 USD 196 A 10% drop in bunker prices  The Company only uses bunker swaps to 
 million  million  at year-end would negatively  cover its future known bunker consumption 
   impact net profit by USD 21  when entering into COAs. Regardless that 
   million (negative impact of  they provide effective financial hedging, the 
   USD 21 million).  swaps do not qualify for hedge accounting 

and are therefore recognised separately in the 
income statement. 

Currency risks USD 33  USD 16 A 10% change in the DKK The Group’s functional currency is USD.  
 million   million and JPY exchange rates at Currency risks therefore arise in connection 
    year-end 2012 would impact with transactions in currencies other than 
    net profit by USD 4 million USD, including administrative expenses in 
    (USD 2 million) and USD DKK, dividends in DKK, consideration paid 
   0 million (USD 0 million),  for vessels purchased, typically in JPY, and 
   respectively, and equity by  investment of excess liquidity in DKK. The 
   USD 0 million (USD 0 million)  Company’s exposure to other currencies than 
   and USD 0 million (USD 0  DKK and JPY is insignificant. 
   million), respectively. 
Interest rate risks   Based on the Group’s liquidity  The Company’s interest rate risks relate to 
   and debt at year-end 2012, a  interest-bearing assets and non-current debt 
   1% increase in interest rates liabilities. At the end of 2012, the majority 
   would, all other things being of the Company’s excess liquidity was placed 
   equal, impact profit before tax in short-term fixed interest deposits. The part 
   by USD 5 million (USD 4 of the Company’s loans which have been 
   million), and equity by USD entered into at floating rates have been con- 
   9 million (USD 10 million). verted into fixed rates for the entire or part 
     of the term of the loan by means of interest 

rate swaps, and the Company’s interest rate 
risks are therefore limited. A minor share of 
the Company’s liquidity is mainly placed in 
floating-rate bonds.

Overview of financial risks
 
 Nominal value

credit 2012 2011 comments on NORDEN’s policy
Freight receivables USD 126 million USD 111 million  The credit rating of counterparties is assessed on an ongoing basis.
Bank deposits USD 445 million USD 312 million  The Company’s liquidity is strictly placed with financial institutions with a 

Moody’s rating of at least A or equivalent.
Bonds USD 59 million USD 56 million  A minor part of the Company’s free capital is invested in securities, which as a 

minimum have a BBB rating in accordance with S&P (“investment grade”) or 
a Moody’s rating of Baa3.

Prepayments to yards USD 127 USD 170 Newbuilding contracts with shipyards are mainly entered into with repayment  
 million million guarantees issued by banks with good credit ratings. Of prepayments to yards  
    of USD 127 million (USD 170 million), guarantees of USD 118 million (USD 

160 million) have been obtained.
FFAs Sold net Sold net To limit credit risk, the Company’s FFAs are only entered into through 
 USD 20 million USD 5 million established clearing houses as these have daily margin settlement.
Bunker swaps USD 211 USD 196 The Company’s bunker swaps are entered into with financial institutions and  
 million million  with major, recognised business partners with good credit ratings. ISDA agree-

ments are also entered into, ensuring continuous collateral.
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Note Amounts in USD’000  Dry cargo Tankers Unallocated Total
 
 3 Segment information 2012

  revenue – services rendered, external 1,731,318 400,121 0 2,131,439
  Voyage costs -805,553 -191,642 0 -997,195
  contribution margin I 925,765 208,479 0 1,134,244
      
  other operating income, net 6,279 101 0 6,380
  charter hire for vessels -716,176 -132,891 0 -849,067
  other vessel operating costs -51,859 -42,092 0 -93,951
  other external costs -8,778 -1,574 -2,679 -13,031
  staff costs, onshore employees -24,683 -4,427 -7,534 -36,644
  Profit before depreciation, etc. (EBITDA) 130,548 27,596 -10,213 147,931
      
  Profits from the sale of vessels, etc. -25,489 1,664 -119 -23,944
  Depreciation -50,478 -33,689 -4,368 -88,535
  Write-downs, including joint ventures -260,000 -40,000 0 -300,000
  share of results of joint ventures -1,530 689 0 -841
  loss from operations (EBIT) -206,949 -43,740 -14,700 -265,389
      
  Fair value adjustment of certain hedging instruments -10,132 0 0 -10,132
  Financial income 0 0 9,570 9,570
  Financial expenses 0 0 -7,908 -7,908
  tax for the year -3,602 -459 -929 -4,990
  Results for the year -220,683 -44,199 -13,967 -278,849
      
  Vessels 586,872 380,347 0 967,219
  Prepayments on vessels and newbuildings 8,008 105,809 0 113,817
  Property and equipment 1,439 0 54,362 55,801
  Investments in joint ventures 9,450 3,465 0 12,915
  Non-current assets 605,769 489,621 54,362 1,149,752
  current assets 231,457 112,167 540,016 883,640
  – hereof tangible assets held for sale 0 45,879 0 45,879
  Assets 837,226 601,788 594,378 2,033,392
      
  Investments in non-current assets for the year 101,721 61,704 4,877 168,302
      
   average number of employees, excluding employees  

on t/c vessels 535 449 20 1,004
  ebIt margin -12% -11% - -12%
  return on assets -25% -7% - -13%
      
   material non-cash expenses included in the segment results other than depreciation and write-downs solely consist of activity-

specific fluctuations in trade payables, other payables and recurring material expenses such as provisions, bonuses, bad 
debts, etc.

   norDen has no single customer with whom the external revenue exceeds 10% of total revenue. In addition, see note 1 –  
section on segment information.

   usD 8 million resulting from compensation received from counterparties regarding terminated t/c agreements and coas is 
included in evenue.
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notes to the FInancIal statements

Note Amounts in USD’000  Dry cargo Tankers Unallocated Total
 
 3 Segment information 2011

  revenue – services rendered, external 1,936,341 336,478 0 2,272,819
  Voyage costs -762,883 -136,843 0 -899,726
  contribution margin I 1,173,458 199,635 0 1,373,093
      
  other operating income, net 5,036 177 0 5,213
  charter hire for vessels -920,359 -126,373 0 -1,046,732
  other vessel operating costs -51,212 -41,146 0 -92,358
  other external costs -11,002 -1,951 -3,262 -16,215
  staff costs, onshore employees -24,630 -4,222 -7,703 -36,555
  Profit before depreciation, etc. (EBITDA) 171,291 26,120 -10,965 186,446
      
  Profits from the sale of vessels, etc. 194 -449 13 -242
  Depreciation -44,657 -32,920 -3,608 -81,185
  share of results of joint ventures -200 -330 0 -530
  Profit from operations (EBIT) 126,628 -7,579 -14,560 104,489
      
  Fair value adjustment of certain hedging instruments -14,897 0 0 -14,897
  Financial income 0 0 9,504 9,504
  Financial expenses 0 0 -5,762 -5,762
  tax for the year -4,459 -601 -481 -5,541
  Results for the year 107,272 -8,180 -11,299 87,793
      
  Vessels 878,872 508,317 0 1,387,189
  Prepayments on vessels and newbuildings 111,459 58,566 0 170,025
  Property and equipment 1,323 0 54,614 55,937
  Investments in joint ventures 18,480 2,795 0 21,275
  Non-current assets 1,010,134 569,678 54,614 1,634,426
  current assets 242,610 38,710 434,509 715,829
  – hereof tangible assets held for sale 0 0 0 0
  Assets 1,252,744 608,388 489,123 2,350,255
      
  Investments in non-current assets for the year 218,273 135,029 4,367 357,669
      
   average number of employees, excluding employees  

on t/c vessels 466 401 21 888
  ebIt margin 7% -2% - 5%
  return on assets 10% -1% - 4%
      
   material non-cash expenses included in the segment results other than depreciation solely consist of activity-specific fluctua-

tions in trade payables, other payables and recurring material expenses such as provisions, bonuses, bad debts, etc.

   norDen has no single customer with whom the external revenue exceeds 10% of total revenue. In addition, see note 1 –  
section on segment information.

   usD 14 million resulting from compensation received from counterparties regarding terminated t/c agreements and coas is 
included in revenue.
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Note Amounts in USD’000  2012  2011
      
 4 Fees to auditor appointed at the annual general meeting

   ”other external costs” include the following fees to  
Pricewaterhousecoopers:

  audit 292 318
  other assurance services 21 40
  tax consultancy 111 59
  other services 214 259
  Total 638 676
    
    
 5 Staff costs  

  onshore staff:  
  Wages and salaries 29,160    28,949   
  Pensions –  defined contribution plans 1,533    1,539   
  other social security costs 1,993    1,926   
  share-based payment 3,958    4,141   
  Total 36,644 36,555
    
  seamen –  the amount is included in ”Vessel operating costs”:  
  Wages and salaries 38,562 29,836   
  Pensions –  defined contribution plans 1,892    2,154   
  other social security costs 1,247    469   
  Total 41,701 32,459
    
  Total 78,345 69,014
    
   average number of employees, onshore staff 255 241
  average number of employees, seamen 749 647
  Total 1,004 888

   staff costs and average number of employees exclude employees on t/c vessels. 
salaries for seamen include salaries for seamen employed on all owned vessels in external management.

    2012   2011
   Parent Parent  Parent Parent  
   company company  company company  
   board of executive other board of executive other 
   Directors management executives Directors management executives
  Wages and salaries 936 2,571 2,376 979 2,231 3,743
   Pensions – defined contribution  

plans 0 0 167 0 0 215
  other social security costs 0 1 6 0 1 10
  share-based payment 0 862 516 0 726 891
  Total 936 3,434 3,065 979 2,958 4,859
        
   the executive management has been extended from two to five members in 2012. the executive management and a number 

of executives are covered by bonus and severance schemes. For a more detailed description of bonus schemes, see the sec-
tion “remuneration” in the management commentary. 

   If members of the executive management or 1 executive resign in connection with a takeover of the company, e.g. if the 
company merges with or in any other way is combined with one or more companies outside norDen, a special severance 
payment will be paid for a 1-year notice period, corresponding to 1-2 years’ salary in addition to the usual salary.

   see also note 27 for a description of share-based payment.

67cONSOlIDATED FINANcIAl STATEmENTS

Highlights | Key figures and financial ratios for the Group | Management commentary | Signatures | Consolidated financial statements | Parent company financial statements

Definitions of key figures and financial ratios | Technical terms and abbreviations

Income statement | Comprehensive income | Financial position | Cash flows | Changes in equity | Notes – contents | Significant accounting policies | Notes



notes to the FInancIal statements

Note Amounts in USD’000  2012  2011

 6 Fair value adjustment of certain hedging instruments

   Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments which do not  
qualify for hedge accounting amounts to:

  bunker hedging:  
  2011 0 31,440
  2012 8,314    6,746
  2013 -870 370
  2014 1,264 41
  2015 – 2018 204 -165
   8,912 38,432
  realised fair value adjustment reclassified to “Vessel operating costs” -18,952 -39,636
   -10,040 -1,204
    
  Forward Freight agreements:  
  2011 0 32,193   
  2012 9,731    1,979
  2013 2,642    474
  2014 526    0
   12,899 34,646
  realised fair value adjustment reclassified to ”revenue” -12,991 -48,339
   -92 -13,693
    
  Total -10,132 -14,897
    
    
 7 Financial income  

  Dividends 225    11   
  Interest income 5,838    6,320   
  hedging instruments 1,463    923   
  securities 78    374   
  exchange rate adjustments 1,966    1,876   
  Total 9,570 9,504
    
    
 8 Financial expenses  

  Interest costs, non-current debt, etc. 7,908    5,762   
  Total 7,908 5,762
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Note Amounts in USD’000  2012  2011

 9 Taxation 

  tax on the results for the year 5,544    6,095   
  adjustment of tax regarding previous years -554    -554   
  Total 4,990 5,541
    
  tax on the results for the year is broken down as follows:  
  results before tax -273,859 93,334
  of which results from Danish tonnage activity 20,395 -3,289
   -253,464 90,045
    
  calculated tax of this, 25%  -63,366 22,511
  tax effect from:  
  – higher/lower tax rate in subsidiaries 64,712 -20,929
  – other 768 997
   2,114 2,579
  tonnage tax 3,430 3,516
  Total 5,544 6,095
    
   the company decided to continue under the tonnage tax scheme  

as of 1 January 2011 for a binding 10-year period. 

   If the company’s net investments in vessels decrease significantly or if  
the company is liquidated, the contingent tax from before the company  
joined the tonnage tax scheme will be released.

  contingent tax under the tonnage tax scheme 18,544    18,544   
 
  contingent tax is calculated at 25% equalling the current tax rate. 

 10 Earnings per share (EPS) 

  basic:  
  results for the year for norDen’s shareholders -278,847 87,795   
  Weighted average number of shares (thousand) 41,278 41,199   
  Earnings per share (USD per share) -6.76 2.13   
    
  Diluted:  
  Weighted average number of shares (thousand) 41,278 41,199   
  adjusted for share options (thousand) 0 0   
   Weighted average number of shares for diluted earnings  

per share (thousand) 41,278 41,199   
  Diluted earnings per share (USD per share) -6.76 2.13   
    

69cONSOlIDATED FINANcIAl STATEmENTS

Highlights | Key figures and financial ratios for the Group | Management commentary | Signatures | Consolidated financial statements | Parent company financial statements

Definitions of key figures and financial ratios | Technical terms and abbreviations

Income statement | Comprehensive income | Financial position | Cash flows | Changes in equity | Notes – contents | Significant accounting policies | Notes



notes to the FInancIal statements

Note Amounts in USD’000 

 11 Tangible assets

      Prepayment
    Property on vessels
    and and new-
  2012 Vessels equipment buildings Total
  cost at 1 January 1,566,925    73,556    170,025    1,810,506   
  additions for the year 11,134    4,877    149,791    165,802   
  Disposals for the year -275,669    -1,700    0    -277,369   
  transferred during the year 168,525    0    -168,525    0   
  transferred during the year to other items -55,769    0    -24,574    -80,343   
  cost at 31 December 1,415,146 76,733 126,717 1,618,596
      
  Depreciation at 1 January -179,736    -17,619    0    -197,355   
  Depreciation for the year -83,916    -4,619    0    -88,535   
  reversed depreciation on vessels disposed of 16,545    1,306    0    17,851   
  transferred during the year to tangible assets held for sale 9,890    0    0    9,890   
  Depreciation at 31 December -237,217 -20,932 0 -258,149
      
  Write-downs at 1 January 0    0 0    0   
  Write-downs for the year -258,371    0 -31,629    -290,000   
  transferred during the year -18,729    0 18,729    0   
  reversed write-downs on vessels disposed of 66,390    0 0    66,390   
  Write-downs at 31 December -210,710 0 -12,900 -223,610
    
  carrying amount at 31 December 967,219 55,801 113,817 1,136,837
      
  capitalised borrowing costs on vessels usD 0 million. amount insured on vessels usD 1,253 million.

      Prepayment
    Property on vessels
    and and new-
  2011 Vessels equipment buildings Total
  cost at 1 January 982,875 69,403 401,884 1,454,162
  additions for the year 59,948 4,367 293,354 357,669
  Disposals for the year 0 -214 0 -214
  transferred during the year 524,102 0 -524,102 0
  transferred during the year to other items 0 0 -1,111 -1,111
  cost at 31 December 1,566,925 73,556 170,025 1,810,506

  Depreciation at 1 January -102,545 -13,777 0 -116,322
  Depreciation for the year -77,191 -3,994 0 -81,185
  reversed depreciation on vessels disposed of 0 152 0 152
  Depreciation at 31 December -179,736 -17,619 0 -197,355
   
  carrying amount at 31 December 1,387,189 55,937 170,025 1,613,151
  
  capitalised borrowing costs on vessels usD 0 million. amount insured on vessels usD 1,440 million.

  see note 23 for security provided for vessels.
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Note Amounts in USD’000 

 11 Tangible assets – continued

  Write-downs in the first quarter of 2012
   based on estimates from 3 independent brokers, the market value of norDen’s fleet (net selling price excluding coas), includ-

ing vessels in joint venture, was estimated at usD 361 million below the carrying amounts at the end of the first quarter of 2012. 
the difference was divided between norDen’s 3 cgus, Dry cargo, tankers and a joint venture, with negative usD 270 million, 
negative usD 81 million and negative usD 10 million, respectively.

   accordingly, an impairment test was conducted for all 3 cgus by estimating the value in use, where the long-term values are as-
sessed. Value in use is calculated as the present value of total expected cash flows over the remaining useful lives of the vessels 
with a discount rate of 8%. the principles behind the impairment test are described in note 1 “significant accounting policies”.

   Value in use is particularly sensitive towards fluctuations in the expected future freight rates and the rate applied for discounting 
to net present value.

   the result of the analyses of the vessels’ value in use was that certain scenarios of future freight rate levels still supported the 
carrying amounts, whereas in other scenarios, the recoverable amount was not sufficiently high in order to justify the carrying 
amounts. based on a total assessment, management therefore concluded that there was need for write-downs. 

   the main reasons for the revised conclusion compared to the analysis conducted at the turn of the year could be summarised 
to: 

	 	 •	 	Broker	valuations	dropped	by	11%	during	the	quarter.	The	drop	in	ship	values	during	the	first	quarter	of	2012	was	the	largest	
since the fourth quarter of 2008. 

	 	 •	 The	newbuilding	prices	also	dropped,	while	the	quality	of	these	vessels	in	relation	to	fuel	efficiency	continued	to	increase.	
	 	 •	 Forward	rates	in	dry	cargo	for	the	next	3-5	years	decreased	significantly	since	the	turn	of	the	year.	
	 	 •	 	The	very	attractive	coverage	concluded	by	the	Company	in	the	high	markets	of	2007	and	2008	is	continuously	converted	into	

operating earnings and does not contribute to the future earnings of the cgus to the same extent as earlier. For norDen as 
a whole, it is positive that coverage is converted to cash, but for the individual cgu, this has a negative effect on the calcula-
tion of value in use. 

   the write-downs totalling usD 300 million based on value in use were distributed with usD 250 million in Dry cargo, usD 40 
million in tankers and usD 10 million in a joint venture. after the write-down, the carrying amounts were usD 61 million above 
broker valuations. 

   In connection with the sale of vessels in 2012, the vessel-related write-downs have been written off together with cost and de-
preciation in determining sales profits/losses. In total, write-downs in Dry cargo were hereby reduced by usD 66 million, which 
is included under the item “Profits from the sale of vessels, etc.” in the income statement, and accordingly, the write-downs 
amount to usD 184 million in Dry cargo. In tankers and the joint venture, write-downs remain unchanged at usD 40 million 
and usD 10 million, respectively, at the end of the financial year.

  Impairment test at the end of the financial year
   at the end of the financial year, the market value of the fleet (excluding joint ventures and assets held for sale) were usD 138 

million below the carrying amounts, and the difference was divided between the 2 cgus, Dry cargo and tankers, with negative 
usD 61 million and negative usD 77 million, respectively. 

   accordingly, an impairment test was also conducted for the cgus by determining the value in use, where the long-term values 
are assessed.

   Due to the large number of open ship days at the end of the financial year, the value in use calculation was very sensitive even 
to minor fluctuations in freight rates. as an indication of this sensitivity, a fluctuation of usD 1,000 per day in long-term freight 
rates would change the cgu values by usD 193 million in Dry cargo and usD 135 million in tankers. 

   For a more detailed description of the impairment test at the end of the financial year, see the section “Financial review” in the 
management commentary.

   management assesses that the long-term values at the close of the financial year (value in use) of both the Dry cargo and 
tanker fleet at least matches the carrying amounts, and accordingly, there is no indication of further impairment.
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Note Amounts in USD’000  2012  2011

 12 Investments in joint ventures

  cost at 1 January 16,676    22,771   
  additions for the year 2,500    0   
  Disposals for the year 0    -6,095   
  cost at 31 December 19,176 16,676
    
  Value adjustments at 1 January 4,599    12,454   
  share of results for the year -841    -530   
  reversed value adjustment on disposals for the year 0    -331   
  Dividends paid -19    -6,994   
  Value adjustments at 31 December 3,739 4,599
    
  Write-downs at 1 January 0 0
  Write-downs for the year -10,000    0
  Write-downs at 31 December -10,000 0
    
  carrying amount at 31 December 12,915 21,275
    

    Share of results of  
  Investments comprise: Ownership joint ventures carrying amount
     2012 2011 2012 2011
  norient Product Pool aps  50% 660    -341    3,443 2,783
  norient cyprus ltd.  50% 29    12    22 12
  anl maritime services Pte. ltd.  50% -21    -15    95 116
  nord summit Pte. ltd.  50% -735    -171    7,629 18,364
  nord empros I Pte. ltd.  50% 0 -5 0 0
  nord empros II Pte. ltd.  50% 0 -5 0 0
  nord empros III Pte. ltd.  50% 0 -5 0 0
  Polar navigation Pte. ltd.  50% -774 0 1,726 0
  Total   -841 -530 12,915 21,275

  hereof profits from the sale of vessels   0    103  

   2012 2011
  guarantees regarding joint ventures 0 0
  liabilities regarding joint ventures 0 16,065
    
  Key figures (100%) for joint ventures:  
  revenue and other income 22,486 12,000
  costs 24,169 13,060
  Write-downs 20,000 0
  non-current assets 55,753 44,037
  current assets (including write-downs) 23,069 15,605
  non-current liabilities 40,350 0
  current liabilities 14,298 18,745
    
  no significant restrictions apply to distributions from joint ventures.

notes to the FInancIal statements
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Note Amounts in USD’000  2012  2011

 12 Investments in joint ventures – continued 

  Joint operations
   the group participates in joint operations in the form  

of pool arrangements, see note 1.

  Joint operations comprise the following pools:
  norient Product Pool aps
  norient short term tank Pool
  norient lr1 Pool
  norDen Post-Panamax Pool
  norDen handysize Pool

  norDen acts as manager of the 2 latter pools.

   the following is an overview of norDen’s total liabilities and coverage  
in respect of jointly controlled operations in the event that other pool  
partners are unable to meet their obligations.

 
   Share of unrecognised liabilities for which the partners are jointly  

and severally liable 10,814 10,556
 
  Future operating lease liabilities: 
  Within 1 year 8,101 2,585
  Total * 8,101 2,585
 
  Future coas:  
  Within 1 year 23,789 39,169
  between 1 and 5 years 33,423 18,244
  more than 5 years 52,777 58,323
  Total * 109,989 115,736
    
  Future operating lease income:  
  Within 1 year 109,578 74,474
  between 1 and 5 years 19,296 35,813
  Total * 128,874 110,287
     
  there are no other contribution requirements or significant contingent liabilities in relation to joint operations.

  *  note 21 and 24 “operating lease liabilities” and “coas and operating lease income” include norDen’s expected share 
hereof.

   In addition, the group participates in normal profit sharing agreements concerning 4 (29) vessels where profit sharing for the 
vessels is 50%. no contribution requirements or significant contingent liabilities are related to the agreements.
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Note Amounts in USD’000  2012  2011

 13 Receivables  

  Freight receivables 130,822    115,106   
  Provisions for bad debts -5,305    -4,220   
  Freight receivables, net 125,517    110,886   
  receivables from joint ventures 4,953    6,317   
  other receivables 21,197    54,136   
  Total 151,667 171,339
    
  the fair value of receivables amounts to:  
  Freight receivables 125,517 110,886
  receivables from joint ventures 4,953 6,317
  other receivables 21,197 54,136
  Total 151,667 171,339
    
  Development in write-downs on freight receivables:  
  Write-downs at 1 January -4,220 -7,215
  applied during the year 350 825
  reversed 1,925 4,325
  additions during the year -3,360 -2,155
  Total -5,305 -4,220
    
   Freight receivables which have been written down in provision  

for bad debts amount to: 5,743 4,747
    
   Freight receivables due which have not been written down in provision  

for bad debts amount to:
  – due in less than 3 months 1,424 3,561
  Total 1,424 3,561
    
   loss on other receivables and receivables from joint ventures is not  

expected, and thus, no write-downs have been made.

   regarding freight receivables, the company usually has the opportunity  
to use the cargo as security. see also note 2.

   the carrying amount of receivables is distributed on the following  
currencies:

  usD 151,667 151,930
  DKK  0 13,682
  other currencies 0 5,727
  Total 151,667 171,339

 14 Securities  

  shares 15,891    14,836   
  bonds 58,985    56,488   
  Total 74,876 71,324

  see also the management commentary page 17 for ratings.

notes to the FInancIal statements
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Note Amounts in USD’000  2012  2011

 15 cash  

  Demand deposits and cash balance 42,942 32,023   
  money market investments 402,114    279,918   
  other cash 8,682    23,927   
  cash according to the statement of financial position 453,738 335,868
  – hereof restricted cash 0 0
  cash according to the statement of cash flows  453,738 335,868
    
  money market investments at year-end have maturities of up to 266 days 191 days
    
   In connection with trading in derivative financial instruments, norDen  

has established margin accounts with norwegian Future and options  
clearing house (nos) and ubs limited in the form of cash.  
at 31 December, cash held in margin accounts placed as  
security amounted to 3,813 3,767

    
    
 16 Tangible assets held for sale  

  carrying amount at 1 January  0    35,377   
  additions for the year to tangible assets held for sale 0    12   
  additions for the year from vessels 45,879    0   
  Disposals for the year 0    -35,389   
  carrying amount at 31 December 45,879 0
    
  Which can be specified as follows:  
  Vessels 45,879 0
  Total 45,879 0
    
    
 17 Reserves  

  securities:  
  Fair value adjustment at 1 January 11,444    -276   
  Fair value adjustment for the year, net 2,056    11,346   
  transferred to net financials 78    374   
  Fair value adjustment at 31 December 13,578 11,444
    
  cash flow hedges:  
  Fair value adjustment at 1 January -4,746    7,280   
  Fair value adjustment for the year, net -5,285    -4,746   
  transferred to vessels 0    -7,280   
  Fair value adjustment at 31 December -10,031 -4,746
    
  Total 3,547 6,698
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Note Amounts in USD’000  
 
 18 Equity

   the share capital consists of 43,000,000 shares of a nominal value of DKK 1 each. no shares are subject to any special  
rights or restrictions. 

 Treasury shares Number of shares Nominal value (DKK’000) % of share capital
   2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
  1 January 1,786,078    2,524,820    1,786    2,524    4.15    5.66   
  acquired 0 906,800 0    907    0.00    2.11   
  Distributed/sold -63,917 -45,542 -64    -45    -0.15    -0.11   
  cancelled 0 -1,600,000 0    -1,600    0.00    -3.72   
  31 December 1,722,161    1,786,078    1,722    1,786    4.00    4.15

   the company is authorised by the general meeting to acquire a maximum of 4,300,000 treasury shares, equal to 10% of the 
share capital. 

  treasury shares are i.a. acquired for the purpose of hedging liabilities in connection with share-based payment, see note 27.

   In 2012, the company distributed 63,917 employee shares from the holding of treasury shares with an average value of DKK 
16,938 thousand (usD 3,040 thousand).

   In 2011, the company acquired 906,800 treasury shares equal to a purchase price of DKK 169,982 thousand (usD 31,556 
thousand) and distributed 45,542 employee shares from the holding of treasury shares with an average value of DKK 7,176 
thousand (usD 1,235 thousand). Furthermore, the company cancelled 1,600,000 treasury shares equal to a nominal value of 
DKK 1,600 thousand (usD 254 thousand).

   at 1 January 2012, the company had a total of 41,213,922 outstanding shares of DKK 1 each, and at 31 December 2012, a 
total of 41,277,839 outstanding shares of DKK 1 each.

   2012 2011

 19 Bank debt

   Interest-bearing liabilities include bank debt, which is included in  
the following items:  

  current portion of non-current debt within 1 year 17,385    30,043   
  non-current liabilities between 1 and 5 years 70,833    61,505   
  non-current liabilities over 5 years 67,407    73,512   
  Total 155,625 165,060

   mortgages and security provided in relation to liabilities are  
disclosed in note 23.  

  Interest-bearing liabilities amount to:  

  carrying amount:  
  – Fixed-rate loans 12,620 14,667
  – Floating-rate loans 149,844 157,399
  – borrowing costs -6,839    -7,006
  Total 155,625 165,060

  Fair value: 
  – Fixed-rate loans 13,363 14,984
  – Floating-rate loans 149,844 157,399
  Total 163,207 172,383

 20 liabilities relating to tangible assets held for sale  

  Prepayments received on sold vessels and newbuildings 4,847    0   
  Total 4,847 0
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 21 Operating lease liabilities

   operating lease payments in the form of charter hire including daily operating costs recognised in the income statement are 
disclosed in note 3.

   leases have originally been entered into with a mutually interminable lease period of up to 10 years. some leases include an 
option to renew for 1 additional year at a time for up to 3 years. leases may also include purchase options, typically exercisable 
as from the end of the third year to the expiry of the period of renewal. exercise of the purchase option on the individual vessel 
is based on an individual assessment. none of the leases comprise contingent lease payments.

 2012 2011
   Dry cargo Tankers Total Dry cargo Tankers Total
  Within 1 year 338,835 105,454 444,289 360,468 99,819 460,287
  between 1 to 5 years 857,210 189,469 1,046,679 870,877 206,574 1,077,451
  more than 5 years 374,008 12,689 386,697 443,409 26,334 469,743
  Total 1,570,053 307,612 1,877,665 1,674,754 332,727 2,007,481

   For information on ship days distributed on years, see capacity and coverage in the management commentary. For informa-
tion on the company’s charter parties with purchase option, see the sections ”Fleet development” and ”Fleet values” in the 
management commentary.

   the above includes norDen’s expected share of jointly controlled coas and operating lease liabilities. see note 12.

   2012 2011

 22 Unrecognised contingent assets and liabilities  

  contingent assets  
   the group has raised claims against third party regarding non-

performance of cargo contracts, etc. the group and its legal advisors 
consider the claims to be justified and probable. there is uncertainty as 
to when the claims will be settled as well as the financial result hereof. 
no recognition hereof has been made as the existence of the assets is 
dependent on several uncertain future events that are beyond the control 
of the group, and therefore, it is virtually not certain that it is an asset.  13,900 11,349

  contingent liabilities  
  guarantee commitments do not exceed 145 152

   claims have been made against the group, primarily concerning  
responsibility of redelivery and broker fees. etc. the group and its  
legal advisors consider the claims unjustified and do not perceive  
that the group will incur any losses as a result of the actions for  
damages. the maximum risk is assessed to be 3,800 3,800

  contractual liabilities 
   the company has entered into agreements for future delivery of  

newbuildings and purchase options, etc. the remaining contract amount 
  is payable as follows:
  Within 1 year 90,300 103,974
  between 2 and 3 years 50,550 69,160
  Total 140,850 173,134

 23 mortgages and security  

  as security for bank debt 155,625 165,060
  a total number of vessels of 8 10
  with a carrying amount of 249,263 372,499
  have been mortgaged at 291,796 285,580
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 24 cOAs and operating lease income

  at 31 December, the group had entered into coas with customers amounting to:

 2012 2011
   Dry cargo Tankers Total Dry cargo Tankers Total
  Within 1 year 164,982 0 164,982 228,915 6,135 235,050
  between 1 to 5 years 207,086 0 207,086 217,386 0 217,386
  more than 5 years 146,501 0 146,501 134,998 0 134,998
  Total 518,569 0 518,569 581,299 6,135 587,434

  the group has operating lease income amounting to:

 2012 2011
   Dry cargo Tankers Total Dry cargo Tankers Total
  Within 1 year 152,891 46,051 198,942 163,041 26,604 189,645
  between 1 to 5 years 162,934 9,445 172,379 180,407 14,541 194,948
  more than 5 years 119,931 0 119,931 107,403 0 107,403
  Total 435,756 55,496 491,252 450,851 41,145 491,996
        
  the above includes norDen’s expected share of coas and operating lease income. see note 12.

 25 Financial instruments

  Hedge accounting:
  For more information on the company’s overall risk management, see the description in note 2. 

   2012 2011

  Interest rate swap – cash flow hedging:  
  contractual value (outstanding debt) 263,464 282,642
    
  market value:  
  contracts with an unrealised loss (liability) -10,031 -4,746
  Recognised in equity at 31 December -10,031 4,746
    
  all contracts have been entered with a remaining term of up to 7 years on the reporting date.   

   gains and losses on hedging transactions taken to the fair value reserve are recognised in the income statement at the same 
time as payment of interest on the underlying loans. 

  Financial hedging:
   at 31 December, the group had entered into hedging transactions, which do not qualify for hedge accounting and are recog-

nised as assets and liabilities with the following amounts:

    2012   2011
   Assets liabilities Net Assets liabilities Net
  bunker hedging  5,875 -3,832 2,043 14,198 -2,116 12,082
  Forward Freight agreements 3,643 0 3,643 3,735 0 3,735
  credit default swaps 0 -110 -110 0 -506 -506
  Dual currency deposit 0 0 0 0 -80 -80
  cross currency swaps 0 -2,290 -2,290 130 -900 -770
  Forward exchange contracts 170 -9,094 -8,924 15,355 0 15,355
  Interest rate swaps 0 0 0 0 -938 -938

notes to the FInancIal statements
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 26 Related party disclosures and transactions with related parties

  the group has no related parties controlling norDen.

  subsidiaries are shown in note 31.

   related parties include the board of Directors, the executive management and executives as well as their close relatives. re-
lated parties also include companies in which the above persons have significant interests as well as companies and founda-
tions which have direct or indirect considerable influence through shareholdings.

   In addition, related parties include joint ventures, see note 12.

   2012 2011

  trading and accounts with related parties comprise: 

  sale of goods and services  
  – joint ventures 7,902 3,556
    
  Purchase of goods and services  
  – joint ventures 5,014 0
    
  Dividends from  
  – joint ventures 19 6,994
    
  Interest expenses  
  – joint ventures 9 66
    
  receivables from related parties  
  – joint ventures 4,953 6,317
    
  Debt to related parties  
  – board of Directors, executive management and executives 415 1,366
    
  Dividends paid to related parties  
  – board of Directors, executive management and executives 88 170
  – a/s motortramp 8,429 18,892
  – PolyshIPPIng as 3,463 7,763
  – a/s Dampskibsselskabet orients Fond 315 707
     
  guarantees to joint ventures are mentioned in note 12.

  accounts with joint ventures are related to operations, unsecured and with usual interest rates.

   remuneration and share-based payment of the board of Directors, the executive management and other executives are dis-
closed in notes 5 and 27.

   no other transactions took place during the year with the board of Directors, the executive management, executives, major 
shareholders or other related parties.
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 27 Share-based payment

  Employee shares
   In connection with the employee share scheme for 2012, norDen granted 161 shares to all employees who either had or, 

during the course of 2012, would attain at least 1 year’s seniority. a total of 63,917 shares were granted. the price per share 
at the grant date was DKK 141.43. the fair value of the granted employees shares, which were expensed, amounted to usD 
1,689 thousand (usD 1,409 thousand) in 2012.

  Share option programme – 2009
   on 9 march 2009, the board of Directors granted share options comprising a total of 379,175 shares to a number of execu-

tives. the options are exercisable from 9 march 2012 to 9 march 2015, and each entitles the holder to acquire one share at an 
exercise price which will be determined as the 5-day average of the market price following the grant, less all dividend payments 
after the grant date and plus an effective interest rate of 8% p.a. until any exercise. upon exercise, the executive management 
and some of the executives must reinvest 25% of any net gain in norDen shares and keep these for at least 2 years. If the 
employee already owns shares, this can be included in the determination of the investment amount.

   the share options may be exercised after at least 3 years and no more than 6 years from the grant date. exercise of the share 
options by the members of the executive management and other executives is subject to their continued employment with the 
company at the exercise date. special terms apply in case of illness and death.

  Share option programme – 2010
   on 9 march 2010, the board of Directors granted share options comprising a total of 350,000 shares to a number of execu-

tives. the options are exercisable from 9 march 2013 to 9 march 2016, and each entitles the holder to acquire one share at an 
exercise price which will be determined as the 5-day average of the market price following the grant, less all dividend payments 
after the grant date and plus an effective interest rate of 8% p.a. until any exercise. upon exercise, the executive management 
and some of the executives must reinvest 25% of any net gain in norDen shares and keep these for at least 2 years. If the 
employee already owns shares, this can be included in the determination of the investment amount.

   the share options may be exercised after at least 3 years and no more than 6 years from the grant date. exercise of the share 
options by the members of the executive management and other executives is subject to their continued employment with the 
company at the exercise date. special terms apply in case of illness and death.

  Share option programme – 2011
   on 2 march 2011, the board of Directors granted share options comprising a total of 350,000 shares to a number of execu-

tives. the options are exercisable from 2 march 2014 to 2 march 2017, and each entitles the holder to acquire one share at an 
exercise price which will be determined as the 5-day average of the market price following the grant, less all dividend payments 
after the grant date and plus a fee of 20% in proportion to the market price at the date of grant. upon exercise, the executive 
management and some of the executives must reinvest 25% of any net gain in norDen shares and keep these for at least 2 
years. If the employee already owns shares , this can be included in the determination of the investment amount. 

   the share options may be exercised after at least 3 years and no more than 6 years from the grant date. exercise of the share 
options by the members of the executive managment and other executives is subject to their continued employment with the 
company at the exercise date. special terms apply in case of death and illness. 

  Share option programme – 2012
   on 7 march 2012, the board of Directors granted share options comprising a total of 350,000 shares to a number of execu-

tives. the options are exercisable from 7 march 2015 to 7 march 2018, and each entitles the holder to acquire one share at an 
exercise price which will be determined as the 5-day average of the market price following the grant, less all dividend payments 
after the grant date and plus a fee of 20% in proportion to the market price at the date of grant. upon exercise, the executive 
management and some of the executives must reinvest 25% of any net gain in norDen shares and keep these for at least 2 
years. If the employee already owns shares, this can be included in the determination of the investment amount. 

   the share options may be exercised after at least 3 years and no more than 6 years from the grant date. exercise of the share 
options by the members of the executive managment and other executives is subject to their continued employment with the 
company at the exercise date. special terms apply in case of death and illness. 
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 27 Share-based payment – continued 

  the change in the number of outstanding share options is as follows:
   2012 2011
   number of number of  
   options options
  outstanding at 1 January 1,406,545 1,508,269
  granted during the period  350,000   350,000 
  lapsed during the period -185,340 -43,984
  expired during the period -359,880 -407,740
  Total at 31 December  1,211,325  1,406,545

  outstanding share options are composed as follows:

    number of shares
   executive other 
   management executives others total
  granted 9 march 2009 102,009 * 119,584 89,510 311,103
  granted 9 march 2010 89,044 120,169 85,069 294,282
  granted 2 march 2011 79,796 112,054 108,466 300,316
  granted 7 march 2012 81,704 109,696 114,224 305,624
  Outstanding at 31 December  352,553 461,503 397,269 1,211,325

  *  the division into employee categories is based on the title of the employee at the grant date. For a more detailed specification 
of the share options distributed within the management group at the end of the year, see the section “management group” in 
the management commentary. 

   Per option, DKK 
   exercise price   number of  
   at 31 December 2012 allotment price options exercise period
  granted 9 march 2009 168.64 155.03 311,103 9/3 2012 - 9/3 2015
  granted 9 march 2010 277.52 241.13 294,282 9/3 2013 - 9/3 2016
  granted 2 march 2011 210.39 222.39 300,316 2/3 2014 - 2/3 2017
  granted 7 march 2012 190.70 194.70 305,624 7/3 2015 - 7/3 2018
  Outstanding at 31 December  211.01   1,211,325 

   the fair value of granted share options in 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012 amounts to usD 2.9 million, usD 3.3 million, usD 3.4 
million and usD 2.4 million, respectively, and is recognised in the income statement over the vesting period and set off against 
equity. the expense for the year is usD 2,269 thousand (usD 2,733 thousand).

   the calculated fair value at the grant date is based on the black-scholes option value model. the calculation of the fair value of 
options at the grant date is based on the following assumptions:

   2009 2010 2011 2012
  Volatility 59.4% 50.4% 58.4% 54.8%
  rate of yield 500% 500% 500% 400%
  risk-free interest rate 2.21% 1.67% 2.38% 0.69%
  revaluation of exercise price 8% p.a. 8% p.a. 20% 20%

  all options are granted and exercised at the earliest opportunity, however, 3.25 years for the grant in 2011 and 2012.

   the expected volatility is based on the historical volatility (calculated as the weighted average remaining term of granted share 
options) adjusted for expected changes hereto as a result of publicly available information.

  the expected term is based on the historical term of previously granted share options.
  the assumed dividend per share is based on historical dividends.
  the risk-free interest rate is based on Danish government bonds.

  Total share-based payment 
   the recognised costs for the year of employee shares and share options amount to usD 3,958 thousand (usD 4,141 thousand).
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 28 liquidity risk

   the terms to maturity of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed by category and class distributed on maturities. all inter-
est payments and repayments of financial assets and liabilities are based on contractual agreements. Interest payments on 
floating-rate instruments are determined based on a zero-coupon rate structure. all cash flows are undiscounted.

 2012
 maturities 
    Within between more than  carrying 
     1 year  1-3 years  3 years total amount

  Derivative financial instruments      
   Derivative financial instruments with  

a postive market value 1)  7,237 2,368 81 9,686 9,686
   Derivative financial instruments with  

a negative market value 1)  -13,789 -2,303 -269 -16,361 -16,026
  cash flow hedging with a negative market value 1) -2,373 -6,027 -2,041 -10,441 -10,031
 
   loans and receivables measured  

at amortised cost      
  cash  453,738 0 0 453,738 453,738
  Freight receivables  125,517 0 0 125,517 125,517
  receivables from joint ventures  4,953 0 0 4,953 4,953
  other receivables  15,152 0 0 15,152 15,152
  total  599,360 0 0 599,360 599,360
        
  Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
  bank debt *  -18,517 -37,310 -109,997 -165,824 -155,625
  trade and other payables  -138,155 0 0 -138,155 -138,155
  total  -156,672 -37,310 -109,997 -303,979 -293,780

   Financial assets which do not constitute  
a part of the cash resources 

  Financial assets available for sale:      
  shares 2+3)  15,891 0 0 15,891 15,891
  bonds 2)  13,324 41,149 13,523 67,996 58,985
  total  29,215 41,149 13,523 83,887 74,876
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 28 liquidity risk – continued

 2011
 maturities 
    Within between more than  carrying 
     1 year  1-3 years  3 years total amount

  Derivative financial instruments
   Derivative financial instruments with  

a postive market value 1)  30,826 2,034 551 33,411 33,418
   Derivative financial instruments with  

a negative market value 1)  -4,990 -744 -753 -6,487 -4,537
    cash flow hedging with a negative market value 1) -1,600 -4,059 -246 -5,905 -4,746

   loans and receivables measured  
at amortised cost  

  cash  335,868 0 0 335,868 335,868
  Freight receivables  110,886 0 0 110,886 110,886
  receivables from joint ventures  6,317 0 0 6,317 6,317
  other receivables  20,718 0 0 20,718 20,718
  total  473,789 0 0 473,789 473,789

  Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  
  bank debt *  -31,158 -16,174 -125,051 -172,383 -165,060
  trade and other payables  -162,561 0 0 -162,561 -162,561
  total  -193,719 -16,174 -125,051 -334,944 -327,621

   Financial assets which do not constitute  
a part of the cash resources  

  Financial assets available for sale:  
  shares 2 + 3)  14,836 0 0 14,836 14,836
  bonds 2)  47,877 15,539 0 63,416 56,488
  total  62,713 15,539 0 78,252 71,324
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 28 liquidity risk – continued

  Financial instruments measured at fair value are divided in accordance with the following accounting hierarchy:
  – level 1: observable market prices of identical instruments.
  –  level 2: valuation models primarily based on observable prices or trading prices of comparable instruments.
  – level 3: valuation models primarily based on non-observable prices.

  1)  the fair value of norDen’s forward exchange contracts and other derivative financial instruments (commodity instruments) 
is considered fair value measurement at level 2 as the fair value can be determined directly on the basis of the published 
exchange rates and forward interest rates and prices at the reporting date.

  2)  Fair value measurement of shares and bonds is at level 1 as the fair value is determined on the basis of share prices.
  3)  level 3 includes Danish unlisted shares where the fair value is based on published financial statements. the fair value ad-

justment for the year amounts to usD 984 thousand (usD 12,799 thousand).

  *  the fair value of bank debt calculated as the present value of expected future repayments and interest payments amounts 
to usD 163,207 thousand (usD 172,383 thousand). as discount rate at the calculation of present value, a zero-coupon rate 
with similar maturities has been used. the fair value of other items corresponds to the carrying amount. bank debt relates to 
loans from bnP Paribas, which are repayable over 10 years from conclusion with an interest rate of lIbor plus 1.75%, and 
loans from neXI, which are repayable over 12 years from conclusion with an interest rate of lIbor plus 0.75%.

 29 change in working capital

   2012 2011
  Inventories on board vessels -21,161 -42,308
  Freight and other receivables, etc. 19,674 -36,793
  trade and other payables, etc. -14,698 27,488
  Fair value adjustments of cash flow hedging instruments taken to equity -5,285 -12,026
  Total -21,470 -63,639

 30 Dividends  

  the amount available for distribution as dividends is: 813,326 859,283
 
   Dividends paid in 2012 and 2011 amount to usD 30,368 thousand 

(DKK 4 per share) and usD 68,946 thousand (DKK 8 per share), 
respectively. the proposed dividend for 2012 is usD 22,795 thousand 
incl. treasury shares (DKK 3 per share). the proposed dividend for 
2012 will be considered at the general meeting on 24 april 2013. the 
proposed dividend has not been recognised in the financial statements. 

 31 Subsidiaries   

  consolidated subsidiaries comprise:  ownership ownership
  norDen shipping (singapore) Pte. ltd., singapore 100% 100%
  norDen tankers & bulkers (usa) Inc., usa 100% 100%
  norDen tankers & bulkers do brazil ltda., brazil 100% 100%
  norDen tankers & bulkers India Pvt. ltd., India 100% 100%
  svalbard maritime services as, norway 100% 100%
  normit shipping s.a., Panama 51% 51%

 32 Events after the reporting date  

  see page 10 in the management commentary.  
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Income statement  
1 January – 31 December

Note Amounts in USD’000   2012  2011
  

  Revenue 1,885,588    2,067,771   
    
  other operating income, net 6,352    5,213   
  Vessel operating costs -1,780,299    -1,958,658   
  other external costs -15,745 -19,480
 2 staff costs -44,541 -43,927
  Profit before depreciation, etc. (EBITDA) 51,355 50,919
    
  Profits from the sale of vessels, etc. -290    -449   
 7 Depreciation -33,793 -32,284
  Profit from operations before write-downs 17,272 18,186
    
  Write-downs on vessels and newbuildings -27,535 0
  Profit from operations (EBIT) -10,263 18,186
    
 8 earnings from investments in subsidiaries -257,107 86,154
 9 earnings from investments in joint ventures 689 -329
 3 Fair value adjustment of certain hedging instruments -10,132 -14,897
 4 Financial income 13,077 21,088
 5 Financial expenses -7,907 -5,850
  Profit before tax -271,643 104,352
    
 6 tax for the year -4,734 -4,838
  PROFIT FOR THE YEAR -276,377 99,514
    
  Proposal for the distribution of net profit:  
  Proposed dividend 22,795 29,936
  reserve for net revaluation according to the equity method -261,230 84,370
  retained earnings -37,942 -14,792
  Total -276,377 99,514
    
  Proposed dividend per share, DKK 3.00 4.00
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balance sheet at 31 December  
– assets

Note Amounts in USD’000   2012  2011
 
 7 Vessels 356,648 409,698
 7 Property and equipment 55,209 55,166
 7 Prepayments on vessels and newbuildings 16,406 1,362
  Tangible assets 428,263 466,226
    
 8 Investments in subsidiaries 886,720 1,148,620
 9 Investments in joint ventures 3,465 2,795
  Financial assets 890,185 1,151,415
    
  Non-current assets 1,318,448 1,617,641
    
  Inventories 98,236    76,637   
    
  Freight receivables 106,648    81,754   
  receivables from subsidiaries 1,560    50,276   
  receivables from joint ventures 4,271    424   
  company tax 0    307   
  other receivables 20,153    48,213   
  Prepayments 44,956    46,709   
  receivables 177,588    227,683   
    
  securities 74,876    71,324   
    
 10 cash 437,863    328,165   
    
  current assets 788,563 703,809
    
  ASSETS 2,107,011 2,321,450
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balance sheet at 31 December  
– equIty anD lIabIlItIes

Note Amounts in USD’000   2012  2011
 
 11 share capital 6,833    6,833
  reserve for net revaluation according to the equity method 867,006    1,128,236
  retained earnings 790,531    829,347
  Proposed dividend for the financial year 22,795    29,936
  Equity 1,687,165 1,994,352
    
 12 bank debt 138,240    135,017   
  Non-current liabilities 138,240 135,017
    
 12 bank debt 17,385    30,043   
  trade payables 111,825    108,431   
  Debt to subsidiaries 85,944    1,340   
  company tax 613    0   
  other payables 44,799    32,731   
  Deferred income 21,040    19,536   
  current liabilities 281,606 192,081
    
  liabilities 419,846 327,098
    
  EQUITY AND lIABIlITIES 2,107,011 2,321,450
    
Other notes:
 1 accounting policies  
 13 operating lease liabilities  
 14 coas and operating lease income  
 15 unrecognised contingent assets and liabilities  
 16 mortgages and security  
 17 Financial instruments  
 18 share-based payment  
 19 related party disclosures and transactions with related parties  
 20 risk management  
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statement oF changes In equIty  
1 January – 31 December 

Note Amounts in USD’000 
 
     reserve for
     net revaluation
     according to retained Proposed
    share capital equity method earnings dividend total

  Equity at 1 January 2012  6,833 1,128,236 829,347 29,936 1,994,352

  Profit for the year  - -261,230 -37,942 22,795 -276,377
   Fair value adjustments taken to equity,  

hedging instruments  - - -5,622    - -5,622
  Distributed dividends  - - - -30,368 -30,368
  Dividends, treasury shares  - - - 1,222 1,222
  market value adjustment, dividends paid  - - 790 -790 0
 18 share-based payment  - - 3,958 - 3,958
  changes in equity  0 -261,230 -38,816 -7,141 -307,187
        
  Equity at 31 December 2012  6,833 867,006 790,531 22,795 1,687,165
        
        
     reserve for
     net revaluation
     according to retained Proposed
    share capital equity method earnings dividend total
        
  Equity at 1 January 2011  7,087 1,051,146 876,189 63,563 1,997,985
   
  Profit for the year  - 84,370 -14,792 29,936 99,514
   Fair value adjustments taken to equity,  

hedging instruments  - - -4,746 - -4,746
 8 Fair value adjustments in subsidiaries  - -7,280 - - -7,280
  capital reduction  -254 - 254 - 0
 11 acquisition of treasury shares  - - -31,556 - -31,556
  Distributed dividends  - - - -68,946 -68,946
  Dividends, treasury shares  - - - 5,240 5,240
  market value adjustment, dividends paid  - - -143 143 0
 18 share-based payment  - - 4,141 - 4,141
  changes in equity  -254 77,090 -46,842 -33,627 -3,633
       
  Equity at 31 December 2011  6,833 1,128,236 829,347 29,936 1,994,352
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1. Accounting policies

norDen prepares the parent company 
financial statements for Dampskibssel-
skabet norDen a/s pursuant to the 
provisions for class D enterprises of the 
Danish Financial statements act and in 
accordance with nasDaq omX copen-
hagen a/s' requirements for annual re-
ports of listed companies.

the accounting policies of the parent 
company financial statements, including 
presentation, are unchanged compared 
to last year.

Income statement and  
balance sheet

Earnings from investments in subsidia-
ries and joint ventures
In the parent company’s income state-
ment, the proportional share of earnings 
is recognised under the items “earnings 
from investments in subsidiaries” and 
“earnings from investments in joint ven-
tures”.

Investments in subsidiaries and joint 
ventures
Investments in subsidiaries and joint 
ventures are recognised and measured 
according to the equity method.

In the balance sheet under the items “In-
vestments in subsidiaries” and “Invest-
ments in joint ventures”, the proportional 
ownership share of the companies’ net 
asset value is recognised.

the total net revaluation of investments 
in subsidiaries and joint ventures is trans-
ferred through the distribution of profits 
to “reserve for net revaluation according 
to equity method” under equity. the re-
serve is reduced by dividend payments 
to the parent company and is adjusted 
in relation to other changes in equity in 
subsidiaries and joint ventures.

subsidiaries and joint ventures with ne-
gative net asset value are recognised at 
usD 0 million, and a provision to cover 
the negative balance is recognised.

Securities
shares and bonds available for sale are 
recognised under current assets at fair 
value at the trade date and are subse-
quently measured at market price in re-
spect of listed securities and at fair value 
applying a valuation method in respect 
of unlisted securities. Value adjustments 
are recognised in net financials in the in-
come statement.

Other accounting policies
With reference to the provisions of the 
Danish Financial statements act, the 
company has refrained from both pre-
paring a cash flow statement and pre-
senting segment information as well as 
disclosure on fee to auditor appointed at 
the annual general meeting in the parent 
company financial statements. For this 
information, see the consolidated finan-
cial statements for Dampskibsselskabet 
norDen a/s. Please see note 1 “signi-
ficant accounting policies” in the conso-
lidated financial statements for other ac-
counting policies.

notes to the FInancIal statements

89PARENT cOmPANY FINANcIAl STATEmENTS

Highlights | Key figures and financial ratios for the Group | Management commentary | Signatures | Consolidated financial statements | Parent company financial statements

Definitions of key figures and financial ratios | Technical terms and abbreviations

Income statement | Balance sheet | Statement of changes in equity | Accounting policies | Notes



notes to the FInancIal statements

Note Amounts in USD’000    2012  2011
 
 2 Staff costs  

  Wages and salaries 36,960    36,044   
  Pensions – defined contribution plans 3,046    3,357   
  other social security costs 648    649   
  share-based payment 3,887    3,877   
  Total 44,541 43,927
    
  average number of employees 555 531
 
   staff costs and average number of employees exclude employees on 

t/c vessels.

   For remuneration of the executive management and the board of Direc-
tors, see note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

   see also note 27 to the consolidated financial statements, which com-
prises a description of share-based payment.

  
 3 Fair value adjustment of certain hedging instruments

   Fair value adjustment of derivative financial instruments that do not  
qualify for hedge accounting amounts to:

  bunker hedging: 
  2011 0 31,440
  2012 8,314    6,746
  2013 -870 370
  2014 1,264 41
  2015–2018 204 -165
   8,912 38,432
  realised fair value adjustment reclassified to “Vessel operating costs” -18,952 -39,636
   -10,040 -1,204
 
  Forward Freight agreements: 
  2011 0 32,193
  2012 9,731    1,979
  2013 2,642    474
  2014 526    0
   12,899 34,646
  realised fair value adjustment reclassified to “revenue” -12,991 -48,339
   -92 -13,693
 
  Total -10,132 -14,897
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Note Amounts in USD’000    2012  2011
 
 4 Financial income  

  Dividends 225    11   
  Interest income 6,064    6,205   
  hedging instruments 1,463    923   
  securities 3,022    12,096   
  exchange rate adjustments 2,303    1,853   
  Total 13,077 21,088
    
 
 5 Financial expenses 

  Interest costs, non-current debt, etc. 7,907    5,850   
  Total 7,907 5,850
 
 
 6 Taxation   

  tax on the profit for the year 5,288    5,392   
  adjustment of tax regarding previous years -554    -554   
  Total 4,734 4,838
 
  tax on the profit for the year is broken down as follows:  
  Profit before tax, excluding results in subsidiaries and joint ventures -15,225 18,527
  – of which profit from Danish tonnage activity 20,395 -3,289
   5,170 15,238

  calculated tax of this, 25% 1,293 3,810
  tax effect from:  
  – non-taxable income/expenses -203 -2,931
  – other 768 997
   1,858 1,876
  tonnage tax 3,430 3,516
  Total 5,288 5,392

   the company decided to continue under the tonnage tax scheme as of 
1 January 2011 for a binding 10-year period. 

   If the company's net investments in vessels decrease significantly or  
if the company is liquidated, the contingent tax from before the  
company joined the tonnage tax scheme will be released.

  contingent tax under the tonnage tax scheme   18,544    18,544   
 
  contingent tax is calculated at 25% equalling the current tax rate. 
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notes to the FInancIal statements

Note Amounts in USD’000    
  
 7 Tangible assets   Prepayment
     on vessels
    Property and and new-
  2012 Vessels equipment buildings Total

  cost at 1 January 508,083    71,107    1,362    580,552   
  additions for the year 3,932    4,684    40,683    49,299   
  Disposals for the year 0    -941    0    -941   
  transferred during the year, other items 0    0    -24,445    -24,445   
  transferred during the year to vessels, related party 0 0    -1,194    -1,194   
  cost at 31 December 512,015 74,850 16,406 603,271
 
  Depreciation at 1 January -98,385    -15,941    0    -114,326   
  Depreciation for the year -29,447    -4,346    0    -33,793   
  reversed depreciation on vessels disposed of 0    646    0    646   
  Depreciation at 31 December -127,832 -19,641 0 -147,473
 
  Write-downs at 1 January 0    0 0    0   
  Write-downs for the year -27,535    0 0    -27,535   
  Write-downs at 31 December -27,535 0 0 -27,535
 
  carrying amount at 31 December 356,648 55,209 16,406 428,263

  capitalised borrowing costs on vessels usD 0 million. amount insured on vessels usD 438 million.

     Prepayment
     on vessels
    Property and and new-
  2011 Vessels equipment buildings Total

  cost at 1 January 373,205 67,049 61,678 501,932
  additions for the year 55,765 4,058 27,070 86,893
  transferred during the year 79,113 0 -79,113 0
  transferred during the year, other items 0 0 -861 -861
  transferred during the year to vessels, related party 0 0 -7,412 -7,412
  cost at 31 December 508,083 71,107 1,362 580,552

  Depreciation at 1 January -69,676 -12,366 0 -82,042
  Depreciation for the year -28,709 -3,575 0 -32,284
  Depreciation at 31 December -98,385 -15,941 0 -114,326

  carrying amount at 31 December 409,698 55,166 1,362 466,226

  capitalised borrowing costs on vessels usD 0 million. amount insured on vessels usD 484 million.   
 
  see note 16 for security provided for vessels.
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Note Amounts in USD’000    2012  2011
 
 8 Investments in subsidiaries

  cost at 1 January 17,836    18,312   
  additions for the year 0    24   
  Disposals for the year 0    -500   
  cost at 31 December 17,836 17,836
    
  Value adjustments at 1 January 1,130,784    1,052,571   
  share of result for the year -347,107    86,154   
  group adjustment 90,000    0   
  Distributed dividends -4,793    0   
  Fair value adjustments in subsidiaries under equity 0    -7,280   
  reversed value adjustment on disposals for the year 0    -661   
  Value adjustments at 31 December 868,884 1,130,784
    
  carrying amount at 31 December 886,720 1,148,620

  subsidiaries comprise: ownership ownership
  norDen shipping (singapore) Pte. ltd., singapore 100% 100%
  norDen tankers & bulkers (usa) Inc., usa 100% 100%
  norDen tankers & bulkers do brazil ltda., brazil 100% 100%
  norDen tankers & bulkers India Pvt. ltd., India 100% 100%
  svalbard maritime services as, norway 100% 100%
  normit shipping s.a., Panama 51% 51%
    
  For guarantees relating to subsidiaries, see note 15.
  no significant restrictions apply to distributions from subsidiaries.

 9 Investments in joint ventures

  cost at 1 January 5,343    5,343   
  cost at 31 December 5,343 5,343
    
  Value adjustments at 1 January -2,548    -1,425   
  share of results for the year 689    -329   
  Distributed dividends -19    -794   
  Value adjustments at 31 December -1,878 -2,548
    
  carrying amount at 31 December 3,465 2,795
    
  guarantees regarding joint ventures 0 0
  liabilities regarding joint ventures 0 0
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notes to the FInancIal statements

Note Amounts in USD’000    2012  2011
   
 9 Investments in joint ventures – continued

  Investments in joint ventures comprise: ownership ownership
  norient Product Pool aps, Denmark  50% 50%
  norient cyprus ltd., cyprus 50% 50%
    
  Key figures (100%) for joint ventures are:  
  revenue and other income 11,589 10,305
  costs 10,213 10,963
  non-current assets 3,245 2,669
  current assets 10,415 8,182
  current liabilities 8,390 6,914

  no significant restrictions apply to distributions from joint ventures.

   In addition, the parent company participated in normal profit sharing 
agreements in 2011 concerning 24 vessels in which profit sharing for 
the vessels was 50%. the parent company has not participated in profit 
sharing agreements in 2012. no contribution requirements or signifi-
cant contingent liabilities are related to the agreements.

 10 cash   

   In connection with trading in derivative financial instruments, norDen 
has established margin accounts with norwegian Future and options 
clearing house and ubs limited in the form of cash. at 31 December, 
cash held in margin accounts placed as security amounted to  3,813 3,767

 11 Share capital 

   the share capital consists of 43,000,000 shares of a nominal value of DKK 1 each. no shares are subject to any special rights 
or restrictions. no changes have been made in the share capital in the recent 4 financial years, except from cancelled treasury 
shares in 2011 (tDKK 1,600).

  Treasury shares
 number of shares nominal value (DKK’000) % of share capital 
   2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
  1 January 1,786,078 2,524,820    1,786    2,524    4.15    5.66   
  acquired 0 906,800 0    907    0.00    2.11   
  Distributed/sold -63,917 -45,542 -64    -45    -0.15    -0.11   
  cancelled 0 -1,600,000 0    -1,600    0.00    -3.72   
  31 December 1,722,161    1,786,078    1,722    1,786    4.00    4.15   
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Note Amounts in USD’000    
 
 11 Share capital – continued

   the company is authorised by the general meeting to acquire a maximum of 4,300,000 treasury shares, corresponding to 
10% of the share capital.

   treasury shares are i.a. acquired for the purpose of hedging liabilities in connection with share-based payment, see note 27 to 
the consolidated financial statements.

   In 2012, the company distributed 63,917 employee shares from the holding of treasury shares with an average value of DKK 
16,938 thousand (usD 3,040 thousand).

   In 2011, the company acquired 906,800 treasury shares corresponding to a purchase price of DKK 169,982 thousand (usD 
31,556 thousand) and distributed 45,542 employee shares from the holding of treasury shares with an average value of DKK 
7,176 thousand (usD 1,235 thousand). Furthermore, the company cancelled 1,600,000 treasury shares corresponding to a 
nominal value of DKK 1,600 thousand (usD 254 thousand).

   at 1 January 2012, the company had a total of 41,213,922 outstanding shares of DKK 1 each, and at 31 December 2012, a 
total of 41,277,839 outstanding shares of DKK 1 each.

   2012 2011
  
 12 Bank debt

  repayment within 1 year 17,385    30,043   
  repayment between 1 to 5 years 70,833    61,505   
  repayment over 5 years 67,407    73,512   
  Total 155,625 165,060
    
    
 13 Operating lease liabilities  

  operating lease liabilities regarding vessels 1,171,415 1,191,253   
  Total 1,171,415 1,191,253   
    
    
 14 cOAs and operating lease income  

  coas 518,569 590,568   
  operating lease income 307,062 383,723   
  Total 825,631 974,291   
    
 
 15 Unrecognised contingent assets and liabilities 

  contingent assets 
   the group has raised claims against third party regarding  

non-performance of cargo contracts, etc. the group and its  
legal advisors consider the claims to be justified and probable. 

   there is uncertainty as to when the claims will be settled as well as  
the financial outcome hereof. no recognition hereof has been made  
as the existence of the assets is dependent on several uncertain  
future events, which are beyond the control of the group, and  
therefore, it is not virtually certain that it is an asset. 13,900 11,349
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Note Amounts in USD’000    2012  2011
    
 15 Unrecognised contingent assets and liabilities – continued

  Unrecognised liabilities
  guarantee commitments do not exceed 145 152
  guarantee provided to subsidiaries 1,030,695 1,379,568

   claims have been made against the group concerning responsibility of  
redelivery and broker fees, etc. the group and its legal advisors consider  
the claims unjustified and do not estimate that the company will incur  
any losses as a result of the actions for damages. the maximum risk is  
assessed to be 3,800 3,800

  contractual liabilities
   the company has entered into agreements for future delivery of  

newbuildings and declared purchase options, etc. the remaining contract  
amount is payable as follows: 

  Within 1 year 10,820 0
  between 2 to 3 years 27,050 0
  Total 37,870 0

 16 mortgages and security 

  as security for bank debt 155,625    165,060   
  a total number of vessels of 2 6
  with a carrying amount of 81,643 178,615
  have been mortgaged at 66,546 152,126   
    

   In addition to the above, the subsidiary norDen shipping singapore Pte. ltd. has granted a mortgage on 6 (4) vessels with 
a carrying amount of usD 167,620 thousand (usD 193,884 thousand). Furthermore, the subsidiary guarantees debt in the 
parent company amounting to usD 162,465 thousand (usD 157,399 thousand) at the reporting date.

 17 Financial instruments  

  see note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

   
 18 Share-based payment 

  see note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

 19 Related party disclosure and transactions with related parties 

  see note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

 20 Risk management 

  see note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Key figures and financial ratios are computed in accordance with “recommendations and Financial ratios 2010” issued by the 
Danish society of Financial analysts. however, norDen deviates from the recommendation in the calculation of ebItDa as the 
company does not recognise gains and losses from sale of vessels in ebItDa. this item is included in the operating profit (ebIt).

the ratios listed in the key figures and financial ratios section were calculated as follows:

book value per DKK 1 share =  year-end equity, excluding minority interests
  number of shares at year-end, excluding treasury shares

Dividend yield =  Dividend per share x 100
  share price

ebItDa = earnings before Interest, tax, Depreciation and amortisation

ebItDa ratio = ebItDa x 100
  net revenues

equity ratio  =  equity at year-end, excluding minority interests x 100
  total assets

Invested capital = equity, including minority interests + net interest-bearing debt at year-end

net asset Value (naV) per share =  equity, excluding minority interests + added value of vessels and 
  vessels on order relative to year-end carrying amounts 
  number of shares at year-end, excluding treasury shares

net interest-bearing debt  =  Interest-bearing debt less cash and securities, at year-end

net profit or loss per DKK 1 share  =  Profit or loss for the year
  number of shares at year-end, excluding treasury shares

Payout ratio  =  Dividend, excluding treasury shares x 100
  Profit or loss for the year, excluding minority interests

Price/book value  =  share price at year-end per DKK 1 share
  book value per DKK 1 share

Profit margin (ebIt margin) =  Profit or loss from operations x 100
  net revenue

return on assets  =  Profit or loss from operations x 100
  total assets at year-end

return on equity in % (roe)  =  Profit or loss for the year, excluding minority interests x 100
  average equity, excluding minority interests

return on invested capital (roIc)  =  Profit or loss from operations x 100
  average invested capital

share price at year-end per DKK 1   =   the last-quoted average price on nasDaq omX copenhagen a/s for all trade in 
the company share at the reporting date

total shareholder return =  the total return of a share to an investor based on share price performance and 
dividends. Dividends are assumed to have been reinvested in the share. return 
is based on usD

usD exchange rate at year-end  =  the usD exchange rate quoted by the national bank of Denmark at year-end

DeFInItIons oF Key FIgures anD FInancIal ratIos

97DEFINITIONS OF kEY FIgURES AND FINANcIAl RATIOS

Highlights | Key figures and financial ratios for the Group | Management commentary | Signatures | Consolidated financial statements | Parent company financial statements

Definitions of key figures and financial ratios | Technical terms and abbreviations



98 PARENT cOmPANY FINANcIAl STATEmENTS

Highlights | Key figures and financial ratios for the Group | Management commentary | Signatures | Consolidated financial statements | Parent company financial statements

Definitions of key figures and financial ratios | Technical terms and abbreviations



The Company
Dampskibsselskabet NORDEN A/S
52, Strandvejen 
DK-2900 Hellerup
Telephone: +45 3315 0451
Fax: +45 3315 6199

CVR no.: 67 75 89 19
Financial year: 1 January – 31 December
Municipality of domicile: gentofte

Fax, Tanker Department: +45 3393 1599
Fax, Dry Cargo Department: +45 3271 0799
Fax, Technical Department: +45 3393 3733
Website: www.ds-norden.com
E-mail: direktion@ds-norden.com

Board of Directors
Mogens Hugo, Chairman
Alison J. F. Riegels, Vice Chairman
Erling Højsgaard
Karsten Knudsen
Arvid grundekjøn
Klaus Nyborg
benn Pyrmont Johansen (employee representative) 
Ole Clausen (employee representative)
Jacob Koch Nielsen (employee representative)

Executive Management 
Carsten Mortensen, CEO
Michael Tønnes Jørgensen, CFO
Ejner bonderup, Executive Vice President
lars bagge Christensen, Executive Vice President
Martin badsted, Executive Vice President

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers, Statsaut. Revisionspartnerselskab
44, Strandvejen 
DK-2900 Hellerup

Annual General Meeting
The annual general meeting will be held on Wednesday,  
24 April 2013 at 3.00 p.m. at Audience, Radisson blu  
Falconer Hotel & Conference Center, 9, Falkoner Allé,  
DK-2000 Frederiksberg.

cOMpaNy DEtailS aND 
GROup StRuctuRE

NORDEN iN bRiEF 

Dampskibsselskabet NORDEN A/S (NORDEN) operates globally in 
dry cargo and tankers with one of the most modern and competitive 
fleets in the industry. NORDEN’s active fleet consists of a total of 
244 vessels. 

in addition, vessels from third party are operated in pools – Norient 
Product Pool, NORDEN Post-Panamax Pool and NORDEN Handy-
size Pool. 

in Dry Cargo, NORDEN is active in all major vessel types. The Com-
pany is one of the world’s largest operators in Panamax and Handy-
max, in addition to having considerable activities in the Handysize 
and Post-Panamax vessel types as well as activities in Capesize.

in Tankers, NORDEN’s activities comprise Handysize and MR prod-
uct tankers. NORDEN’s vessels are operated commercially by Nori-
ent Product Pool, which is the second largest product tanker pool 
in the world. 

NORDEN’s core fleet consists of owned vessels and vessels on 
long-term charter with purchase option. The core fleet is supple-
mented by vessels chartered on a short-term basis or for single 
voyages, and this mix allows the Company to rapidly adjust the size 
and costs of the fleet to changing market conditions. Purchase and 
extension options on many chartered vessels increase flexibility of 
the fleet and also contribute to the value creation.

With offices in Denmark, Singapore, China, india, the uSA and 
brazil, a network of port captains as well as site offices at shipyards 
in Japan, China and Korea, NORDEN seeks to keep close contact 
with costumers and business contacts. The Company has 274 em-
ployees on shore and 884 on board owned vessels. in addition, 
Norient Product Pool has 44 employees at its offices in Denmark, 
Cyprus, Singapore, the uSA and brazil.

NORDEN was founded and listed in 1871 and is one of the old-
est listed shipping companies in the world. Management focus is 
long-term and rooted in the Company’s vision, mission and values. 
The goal is for NORDEN to continuously develop for the benefit of 
its stakeholders and to achieve high, stable earnings. The share is 
listed on NASDAQ OMX Copenhagen A/S, and the Company has 
approximately 16,300 registered shareholders. 
 
Numbers are stated at 31 December 2012.

A ACM Shipbroking company.

B  Baltic Clean Tanker Index (BCTI) index of 
the product tanker rate development on 
selected routes for Handysize, MR and 
lR1.

 Baltic Dry Index (BDI) index of the dry 
cargo rate development on selected routes 
for Handysize, Handymax, Panamax and 
Capesize.

 Bareboat charter Agreement to charter 
only the vessel.

 Bloomberg Provider of financial news and 
data.

 Bunker Fuel used by the vessel.

 Bunker hedging Forward agreement to 
purchase or sell bunker oil at a predeter-
mined price.

C Capesize bulk carrier of more than 
120,000 dwt. capacity.

 Carbon Disclosure Project Organisation 
registering company data, particularly on 
CO2.

 Cargo contract See COA.

 Charter party lease or freight agreement 
between shipowner and charterer for a long 
period of time or for a single voyage.

 Clarksons Shipbroking company.

 CO2 Carbon dioxide.

 COA (Contract of Affreightment/cargo con-
tract) Agreement to transport one or more 
cargoes at a predetermined price per ton.

 Commercial management Agreement on 
operating a vessel for the account and 
risk of the shipowner.

 Consultas Shipping system used by the 
Technical Department in connection with 
maintenance of the vessels, purchase, 
voyage reporting, etc. 

 Contract of Affreightment See COA.

 Core fleet Owned vessels and vessels on 
long-term charters with purchase option.

 Coverage Percentage indicating the part of 
ship days which has secured employment

 CSR (Corporate Social Responsibility) 
Companies’ social responsibility. 

D Dry cargo vessel (bulk carrier) Vessel used 
for bulk transport of grain, coal, ore, sugar 
and cement, etc.

 Dwt. Deadweight ton. A measure of a ves-
sel’s carrying capacity.

E EBIT Earnings before interest and Tax.

 EBITDA Earnings before interest, Tax, 
Depreciation and Amortisation.

tEcHNical tERMS aND aBBREviatiONS

 EEOI (Energy Efficiency Operational 
Indicator) Calculation and analysis system 
used when measuring CO2 emissions from 
the vessels.

F  FFA (Forward Freight Agreement) Forward 
agreement to purchase or sell the trans-
port of cargo for a particular type of vessel 
and route at a predetermined price.

 Forward rate Market expectations for 
future rate levels.

H  Handymax bulk carrier of 40,000-65,000 
dwt. capacity.

 Handysize bulk carrier of 25,000-
40,000 dwt. capacity or product tanker of 
27,000-42,000 dwt. capacity.

I IAS international Accounting Standards.

 IEA international Energy Agency.

 IFRS international Financial Reporting 
Standards.

 IMF international Monetary Fund.

 IMO international Maritime Organisation – 
shipping organisation under the uN.

 IMOS Shipping system which supports 
chartering, operations and accounting 
related functions for NORDEN and Nori-
ent Product Pool’s fleet of dry cargo and 
product tanker vessels.

L  Liner shipping Voyages with fixed routes.

 Long-term charter Agreement to charter a 
vessel for a period of more than 3 years.

 LR1 (long range) tanker Product tanker of 
60,000-85,000 dwt. capacity.

 LR2 (long range) tanker Product tanker of 
70,000-100,000 dwt. capacity.

M MACN Maritime Anti-Corruption Network.

 MARPOL iMO’s international regulations 
for the prevention of pollution by garbage 
from ships.

 MR (medium range) tanker Product tanker 
of 42,000-60,000 dwt. capacity.

 MSI Maritime Strategies international ltd.

O  OECD Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development.

P Panamax bulk carrier of 65,000-85,000 
dwt. capacity – largest vessel type to pass 
the Panama Canal.

 Pool group of vessels with different own-
ers but commercially operated together.

 Port State Control The countries’ right to 
technically inspect foreign vessels.

 Post-Panamax bulk carrier of 85,000-
120,000 dwt. capacity. 

 Product tank Transport of refined oil prod-
ucts such as fuel oil, gas oil, gasoline, 
naphtha and jet fuel.

 Profit from operator activities Added value 
compared to earnings through employ-
ment at forward rates at the beginning of 
the year. 

 Purchase option A right, but not an obli-
gation, to purchase a vessel at an agreed 
price.

R  ROE Return on equity.

 ROIC Return on invested capital.

 R.S. Platou Shipbroking company.

S  Ship days Total number of days with avail-
able vessel capacity. 

 Short-term charter Agreement to charter a 
vessel for a period of less than 3 years.

 SOx The sulphur dioxides SO and SO2.

 Spot market Market in which vessels are 
contracted for a single voyage for immedi-
ate delivery.

 SSY Shipbroking company.

T Tanker Vessel transporting liquid cargo 
such as crude oil and refined oil products.

 T/C (time charter) lease of a vessel 
whereby the vessel is hired out for a short 
or long period.

 T/C (time charter) equivalent Freight 
revenues minus bunker consumption and 
port charges. 

 Technical management Agreement to 
manage a vessel’s technical operations 
and crew for the account and risk of the 
shipowner.

 Ton-mile A measure of demand for capac-
ity. Calculated as the amount of freight 
times the transport distance in nautical 
miles.

 Tramp shipping Voyages without fixed 
routes – NORDEN’s business area.

U UN Global Compact The uN’s social 
charter for enterprises, etc.

 USDA united States Department of Agri-
culture.

V Vetting An audit of the safety and  
performance status of a tanker  
vessel made by all oil majors prior  
to entry into a charter party.

Design and graphic production: Meyer & bukdahl as

Vision

The preferred partner in global tramp shipping. 
unique people. 
Open minded team spirit. 
Number one. 

Mission 

Our business is global tramp shipping. We seek excellence through 
a dedicated team effort from competent and motivated people. 
With ambition, reliability, flexibility and empathy, we 
•	focus	on	customers	who	benefit	from	our	constant	commitment	

to being an independent long-term partner
•	continue	our	 long	history	of	building	valued	relationships	with	

shipowners and shipyards. 

We will maintain a large modern fleet of owned and chartered ton-
nage, and – in a volatile market – we manage risks to constantly be 
able to develop our business and create shareholder value. 

Values 

Flexibility
Adapt and find better solutions. 

Reliability
Honest, good intentions and no cheating. 

Empathy
Respect diversity in people and opinions.

Ambition
Think ambition into every activity.

viSiON, MiSSiON aND valuES

Norient Cyprus ltd.

Cyprus 50%

NORDEN Tankers & bulkers 
india Private ltd.

india 100%

Norient Product Pool ApS

Denmark 50%

NORDEN Rep. Office

China

NORDEN Shipping  
(Singapore) Pte. ltd.

Singapore 100%

NORD SuMMiT Pte. ltd

Singapore 50%

NORDEN Tankers &  
bulkers (uSA) inc.

uSA 100%

ANl MARiTiME  
Services Pte. ltd.

Singapore 50%

NORDEN Tankers &  
bulkers do brazil ltda.

brazil 100%

Normit Shipping S.A.
(Dormant)

Panama 51%

Svalbard Maritime  
Services AS

Norway 100%

Polar Navigation Pte. ltd.

Singapore 50%

gROuP STRuCTuRE
Dampskibsselskabet NORDEN A/S

Capesize

Number of vessels 4 

Owned vessels 3

Chartered vessels with purchase option 1

Chartered vessels without purchase option 0

Year of construction, core fleet 2001-2007

Average age, core fleet 8.3 years

Length 289 metres

Width 45 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 171,199-180,310 tons

Main cargoes iron ore and coal

Customers Steelworks, mining companies  
and power stations

Global fleet – number of vessels 1,403

Average age of the global fleet 8 years

Post-Panamax

Number of vessels 8

Owned vessels 4

Chartered vessels with purchase option 4

Chartered vessels without purchase option 0

Year of construction, core fleet 2010-2012

Average age, core fleet 1.9 years

Length 240-250 metres

Width 43 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 110,925-119,504 tons

Main cargoes iron ore and coal

Customers Steelworks, mining companies  
and power stations

Global fleet – number of vessels 456

Average age of the global fleet 4.4 years

Panamax

Number of vessels 61.5

Owned vessels 3

Chartered vessels with purchase option 12

Chartered vessels without purchase option 46.5

Year of construction, core fleet 2002-2012

Average age, core fleet 5 years

Length 218-229 metres

Width 32 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 75,318-83,684 tons 

Main cargoes iron ore, coal, grain, bauxite,  
cement and slags

Customers Steelworks, mining companies,  
power stations, producers of cement,  

grain traders and trading houses

Global fleet – number of vessels 1,867

Average age of the global fleet 9.5 years

Handymax

Number of vessels 91

Owned vessels 4

Chartered vessels with purchase option 17 

Chartered vessels without purchase option 70

Year of construction, core fleet 2000-2012

Average age, core fleet 3.2 years

Length 190-200 metres

Width 32 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 53,482-61,654 tons

Main cargoes iron ore, coal, grain, cement,  
sugar and fertiliser

Customers Steelworks, mining companies, energy  
companies, grain traders, trading houses,  
producers of cement, sugar and fertiliser

Global fleet – number of vessels 2,608

Average age of the global fleet 9.7 years

Handysize

Number of vessels 37.5

Owned vessels 11

Chartered vessels with purchase option 10

Chartered vessels without purchase option 16.5

Year of construction, core fleet 2010-2012

Average age, core fleet 1.6 years

Length  169-186 metres

Width 27-30 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 28,204-38,204 tons

Main cargoes iron ore, coal, grain, steel, cement,  
sugar and fertiliser

Customers Steelworks, mining companies, energy  
companies, grain traders, trading houses,  
producers of cement, sugar and fertiliser

Global fleet – number of vessels 2,534

Average age of the global fleet 13.5 years

Dry cargo

Handysize

Number of vessels 17.5

Owned vessels 11

Chartered vessels with purchase option 0

Chartered vessels without purchase option 6.5

Year of construction, core fleet 2005-2009

Average age, core fleet 5.4 years

Length 176-183 metres

Width 27-31 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 37,159-40,000 tons

Main cargoes Refined oil products such as fuel oil,  
gas oil, gasoline, naphtha and jet fuel  

Customers Oil majors and oil traders

Global fleet – number of vessels 567

Average age of the global fleet 11.5 years

MR

Numbers of vessels 24.5

Owned vessels 5

Chartered vessels with purchase option 9

Chartered vessels without purchase option 10.5

Year of construction, core fleet 2007-2012

Average age, core fleet 3 years

Length 180-183 metres

Width  32 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 45,997-50,500 tons

Main cargoes Refined oil products such as fuel oil,  
gas oil, gasoline, naphtha and jet fuel 

Customers Oil majors and oil traders

Global fleet – number of vessels 1,026

Average age of the global fleet 7.5 years

tankers

Notes:

•	 The	fleet	list	is	per	31	December	
2012.

•	 Global	fleet	data/Dry	Cargo:	 
R.S. Platou.

•	 Global	fleet	data/Tankers:	SSY.

•	 The	list	does	not	include	vessels	
from the pool partner interorient 
Navigation Company ltd. in the 
common pools within Dry Cargo and 
Tankers – the Post-Panamax Pool, the 
Handysize Pool and Norient Product 
Pool.
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Fax, Dry Cargo Department: +45 3271 0799
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Board of Directors
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Annual General Meeting
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24 April 2013 at 3.00 p.m. at Audience, Radisson blu  
Falconer Hotel & Conference Center, 9, Falkoner Allé,  
DK-2000 Frederiksberg.

cOMpaNy DEtailS aND 
GROup StRuctuRE

NORDEN iN bRiEF 

Dampskibsselskabet NORDEN A/S (NORDEN) operates globally in 
dry cargo and tankers with one of the most modern and competitive 
fleets in the industry. NORDEN’s active fleet consists of a total of 
244 vessels. 

in addition, vessels from third party are operated in pools – Norient 
Product Pool, NORDEN Post-Panamax Pool and NORDEN Handy-
size Pool. 

in Dry Cargo, NORDEN is active in all major vessel types. The Com-
pany is one of the world’s largest operators in Panamax and Handy-
max, in addition to having considerable activities in the Handysize 
and Post-Panamax vessel types as well as activities in Capesize.

in Tankers, NORDEN’s activities comprise Handysize and MR prod-
uct tankers. NORDEN’s vessels are operated commercially by Nori-
ent Product Pool, which is the second largest product tanker pool 
in the world. 

NORDEN’s core fleet consists of owned vessels and vessels on 
long-term charter with purchase option. The core fleet is supple-
mented by vessels chartered on a short-term basis or for single 
voyages, and this mix allows the Company to rapidly adjust the size 
and costs of the fleet to changing market conditions. Purchase and 
extension options on many chartered vessels increase flexibility of 
the fleet and also contribute to the value creation.

With offices in Denmark, Singapore, China, india, the uSA and 
brazil, a network of port captains as well as site offices at shipyards 
in Japan, China and Korea, NORDEN seeks to keep close contact 
with costumers and business contacts. The Company has 274 em-
ployees on shore and 884 on board owned vessels. in addition, 
Norient Product Pool has 44 employees at its offices in Denmark, 
Cyprus, Singapore, the uSA and brazil.

NORDEN was founded and listed in 1871 and is one of the old-
est listed shipping companies in the world. Management focus is 
long-term and rooted in the Company’s vision, mission and values. 
The goal is for NORDEN to continuously develop for the benefit of 
its stakeholders and to achieve high, stable earnings. The share is 
listed on NASDAQ OMX Copenhagen A/S, and the Company has 
approximately 16,300 registered shareholders. 
 
Numbers are stated at 31 December 2012.

A ACM Shipbroking company.

B  Baltic Clean Tanker Index (BCTI) index of 
the product tanker rate development on 
selected routes for Handysize, MR and 
lR1.

 Baltic Dry Index (BDI) index of the dry 
cargo rate development on selected routes 
for Handysize, Handymax, Panamax and 
Capesize.

 Bareboat charter Agreement to charter 
only the vessel.

 Bloomberg Provider of financial news and 
data.

 Bunker Fuel used by the vessel.

 Bunker hedging Forward agreement to 
purchase or sell bunker oil at a predeter-
mined price.

C Capesize bulk carrier of more than 
120,000 dwt. capacity.

 Carbon Disclosure Project Organisation 
registering company data, particularly on 
CO2.

 Cargo contract See COA.

 Charter party lease or freight agreement 
between shipowner and charterer for a long 
period of time or for a single voyage.

 Clarksons Shipbroking company.

 CO2 Carbon dioxide.

 COA (Contract of Affreightment/cargo con-
tract) Agreement to transport one or more 
cargoes at a predetermined price per ton.

 Commercial management Agreement on 
operating a vessel for the account and 
risk of the shipowner.

 Consultas Shipping system used by the 
Technical Department in connection with 
maintenance of the vessels, purchase, 
voyage reporting, etc. 

 Contract of Affreightment See COA.

 Core fleet Owned vessels and vessels on 
long-term charters with purchase option.

 Coverage Percentage indicating the part of 
ship days which has secured employment

 CSR (Corporate Social Responsibility) 
Companies’ social responsibility. 

D Dry cargo vessel (bulk carrier) Vessel used 
for bulk transport of grain, coal, ore, sugar 
and cement, etc.

 Dwt. Deadweight ton. A measure of a ves-
sel’s carrying capacity.

E EBIT Earnings before interest and Tax.

 EBITDA Earnings before interest, Tax, 
Depreciation and Amortisation.

tEcHNical tERMS aND aBBREviatiONS

 EEOI (Energy Efficiency Operational 
Indicator) Calculation and analysis system 
used when measuring CO2 emissions from 
the vessels.

F  FFA (Forward Freight Agreement) Forward 
agreement to purchase or sell the trans-
port of cargo for a particular type of vessel 
and route at a predetermined price.

 Forward rate Market expectations for 
future rate levels.

H  Handymax bulk carrier of 40,000-65,000 
dwt. capacity.

 Handysize bulk carrier of 25,000-
40,000 dwt. capacity or product tanker of 
27,000-42,000 dwt. capacity.

I IAS international Accounting Standards.

 IEA international Energy Agency.

 IFRS international Financial Reporting 
Standards.

 IMF international Monetary Fund.

 IMO international Maritime Organisation – 
shipping organisation under the uN.

 IMOS Shipping system which supports 
chartering, operations and accounting 
related functions for NORDEN and Nori-
ent Product Pool’s fleet of dry cargo and 
product tanker vessels.

L  Liner shipping Voyages with fixed routes.

 Long-term charter Agreement to charter a 
vessel for a period of more than 3 years.

 LR1 (long range) tanker Product tanker of 
60,000-85,000 dwt. capacity.

 LR2 (long range) tanker Product tanker of 
70,000-100,000 dwt. capacity.

M MACN Maritime Anti-Corruption Network.

 MARPOL iMO’s international regulations 
for the prevention of pollution by garbage 
from ships.

 MR (medium range) tanker Product tanker 
of 42,000-60,000 dwt. capacity.

 MSI Maritime Strategies international ltd.

O  OECD Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development.

P Panamax bulk carrier of 65,000-85,000 
dwt. capacity – largest vessel type to pass 
the Panama Canal.

 Pool group of vessels with different own-
ers but commercially operated together.

 Port State Control The countries’ right to 
technically inspect foreign vessels.

 Post-Panamax bulk carrier of 85,000-
120,000 dwt. capacity. 

 Product tank Transport of refined oil prod-
ucts such as fuel oil, gas oil, gasoline, 
naphtha and jet fuel.

 Profit from operator activities Added value 
compared to earnings through employ-
ment at forward rates at the beginning of 
the year. 

 Purchase option A right, but not an obli-
gation, to purchase a vessel at an agreed 
price.

R  ROE Return on equity.

 ROIC Return on invested capital.

 R.S. Platou Shipbroking company.

S  Ship days Total number of days with avail-
able vessel capacity. 

 Short-term charter Agreement to charter a 
vessel for a period of less than 3 years.

 SOx The sulphur dioxides SO and SO2.

 Spot market Market in which vessels are 
contracted for a single voyage for immedi-
ate delivery.

 SSY Shipbroking company.

T Tanker Vessel transporting liquid cargo 
such as crude oil and refined oil products.

 T/C (time charter) lease of a vessel 
whereby the vessel is hired out for a short 
or long period.

 T/C (time charter) equivalent Freight 
revenues minus bunker consumption and 
port charges. 

 Technical management Agreement to 
manage a vessel’s technical operations 
and crew for the account and risk of the 
shipowner.

 Ton-mile A measure of demand for capac-
ity. Calculated as the amount of freight 
times the transport distance in nautical 
miles.

 Tramp shipping Voyages without fixed 
routes – NORDEN’s business area.

U UN Global Compact The uN’s social 
charter for enterprises, etc.

 USDA united States Department of Agri-
culture.

V Vetting An audit of the safety and  
performance status of a tanker  
vessel made by all oil majors prior  
to entry into a charter party.

Design and graphic production: Meyer & bukdahl as

Vision

The preferred partner in global tramp shipping. 
unique people. 
Open minded team spirit. 
Number one. 

Mission 

Our business is global tramp shipping. We seek excellence through 
a dedicated team effort from competent and motivated people. 
With ambition, reliability, flexibility and empathy, we 
•	focus	on	customers	who	benefit	from	our	constant	commitment	

to being an independent long-term partner
•	continue	our	 long	history	of	building	valued	relationships	with	

shipowners and shipyards. 

We will maintain a large modern fleet of owned and chartered ton-
nage, and – in a volatile market – we manage risks to constantly be 
able to develop our business and create shareholder value. 

Values 

Flexibility
Adapt and find better solutions. 

Reliability
Honest, good intentions and no cheating. 

Empathy
Respect diversity in people and opinions.

Ambition
Think ambition into every activity.

viSiON, MiSSiON aND valuES

Norient Cyprus ltd.

Cyprus 50%

NORDEN Tankers & bulkers 
india Private ltd.

india 100%

Norient Product Pool ApS

Denmark 50%

NORDEN Rep. Office

China

NORDEN Shipping  
(Singapore) Pte. ltd.

Singapore 100%

NORD SuMMiT Pte. ltd

Singapore 50%

NORDEN Tankers &  
bulkers (uSA) inc.

uSA 100%

ANl MARiTiME  
Services Pte. ltd.

Singapore 50%

NORDEN Tankers &  
bulkers do brazil ltda.

brazil 100%

Normit Shipping S.A.
(Dormant)

Panama 51%

Svalbard Maritime  
Services AS

Norway 100%

Polar Navigation Pte. ltd.

Singapore 50%
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Capesize

Number of vessels 4 

Owned vessels 3

Chartered vessels with purchase option 1

Chartered vessels without purchase option 0

Year of construction, core fleet 2001-2007

Average age, core fleet 8.3 years

Length 289 metres

Width 45 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 171,199-180,310 tons

Main cargoes iron ore and coal

Customers Steelworks, mining companies  
and power stations

Global fleet – number of vessels 1,403

Average age of the global fleet 8 years

Post-Panamax

Number of vessels 8

Owned vessels 4

Chartered vessels with purchase option 4

Chartered vessels without purchase option 0

Year of construction, core fleet 2010-2012

Average age, core fleet 1.9 years

Length 240-250 metres

Width 43 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 110,925-119,504 tons

Main cargoes iron ore and coal

Customers Steelworks, mining companies  
and power stations

Global fleet – number of vessels 456

Average age of the global fleet 4.4 years

Panamax

Number of vessels 61.5

Owned vessels 3

Chartered vessels with purchase option 12

Chartered vessels without purchase option 46.5

Year of construction, core fleet 2002-2012

Average age, core fleet 5 years

Length 218-229 metres

Width 32 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 75,318-83,684 tons 

Main cargoes iron ore, coal, grain, bauxite,  
cement and slags

Customers Steelworks, mining companies,  
power stations, producers of cement,  

grain traders and trading houses

Global fleet – number of vessels 1,867

Average age of the global fleet 9.5 years

Handymax

Number of vessels 91

Owned vessels 4

Chartered vessels with purchase option 17 

Chartered vessels without purchase option 70

Year of construction, core fleet 2000-2012

Average age, core fleet 3.2 years

Length 190-200 metres

Width 32 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 53,482-61,654 tons

Main cargoes iron ore, coal, grain, cement,  
sugar and fertiliser

Customers Steelworks, mining companies, energy  
companies, grain traders, trading houses,  
producers of cement, sugar and fertiliser

Global fleet – number of vessels 2,608

Average age of the global fleet 9.7 years

Handysize

Number of vessels 37.5

Owned vessels 11

Chartered vessels with purchase option 10

Chartered vessels without purchase option 16.5

Year of construction, core fleet 2010-2012

Average age, core fleet 1.6 years

Length  169-186 metres

Width 27-30 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 28,204-38,204 tons

Main cargoes iron ore, coal, grain, steel, cement,  
sugar and fertiliser

Customers Steelworks, mining companies, energy  
companies, grain traders, trading houses,  
producers of cement, sugar and fertiliser

Global fleet – number of vessels 2,534

Average age of the global fleet 13.5 years

Dry cargo

Handysize

Number of vessels 17.5

Owned vessels 11

Chartered vessels with purchase option 0

Chartered vessels without purchase option 6.5

Year of construction, core fleet 2005-2009

Average age, core fleet 5.4 years

Length 176-183 metres

Width 27-31 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 37,159-40,000 tons

Main cargoes Refined oil products such as fuel oil,  
gas oil, gasoline, naphtha and jet fuel  

Customers Oil majors and oil traders

Global fleet – number of vessels 567

Average age of the global fleet 11.5 years

MR

Numbers of vessels 24.5

Owned vessels 5

Chartered vessels with purchase option 9

Chartered vessels without purchase option 10.5

Year of construction, core fleet 2007-2012

Average age, core fleet 3 years

Length 180-183 metres

Width  32 metres

Cargo carrying capacity (deadweight) 45,997-50,500 tons

Main cargoes Refined oil products such as fuel oil,  
gas oil, gasoline, naphtha and jet fuel 

Customers Oil majors and oil traders

Global fleet – number of vessels 1,026

Average age of the global fleet 7.5 years

tankers

Notes:

•	 The	fleet	list	is	per	31	December	
2012.

•	 Global	fleet	data/Dry	Cargo:	 
R.S. Platou.

•	 Global	fleet	data/Tankers:	SSY.

•	 The	list	does	not	include	vessels	
from the pool partner interorient 
Navigation Company ltd. in the 
common pools within Dry Cargo and 
Tankers – the Post-Panamax Pool, the 
Handysize Pool and Norient Product 
Pool.
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